

NATIONAL TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY OF ATHENS School of Mechanical Engineering Fluids Section Lab. of Thermal Turbomachines Parallel CFD & Optimization Unit

# Defroster Nozzle Shape Optimization Using the Continuous Adjoint Method

Diploma Thesis

# Lefki A. Germanou

Advisor Kyriakos C. GIANNAKOGLOU, Professor NTUA

Athens, February 2016



NATIONAL TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY OF ATHENS School of Mechanical Engineering Fluids Section Lab. of Thermal Turbomachines Parallel CFD & Optimization Unit

## Defroster Nozzle Shape Optimization Using the Continuous Adjoint Method

Diploma Thesis

Lefki Germanou

Advisor: Kyriakos C. GIANNAKOGLOU, Professor NTUA

Athens, February 2016

#### Abstract

This thesis presents the use of the continuous adjoint method, developed by the Parallel CFD & Optimization Unit of NTUA in the OpenFOAM environment, for the shape optimization of a passenger car defroster nozzle, including experimental validation performed at Toyota Motor Europe (TME). The defroster nozzle plays a major role in the demisting–defogging of the windshield, by blowing high velocity hot air jets supplied by the HVAC (heating, ventilation and air conditioning) unit of the vehicle.

Since the basic performance requirements for a defroster nozzle are clear-up speed and clear-up pattern, the time required for dispelling condensation or frost on a windshield must be reasonable and the nozzle must have the capability to perform uniform defrosting from the bottom of the windshield to its top, so that it becomes clear without patches of condensation. In view of the above, an appropriate objective function, to be minimized, is the integral of the difference of the air velocity from a target (desirable) one over a thin control volume appropriately defined close to the windshield, inside the car cabin.

To set up the optimization problem, the shape of an existing defroster nozzle is allowed to vary using a volumetric NURBS tool developed by NTUA; the latter is also used for deforming the computational mesh at each optimization cycle, by adapting it to the changed defroster shape. The CFD analysis is based on RANS, using the k- $\epsilon$  turbulence model. The optimization loop uses the gradient of the objective function with respect to the coordinates of the volumetric NURBS lattice, computed using the continuous adjoint method.

Experimental tests performed to measure the actual velocity pattern on the windshield include velocity measurements with a hot-wire anemometer. A convincing comparison between CFD analysis and measurements is presented. Finally, the improved demisting performance of the geometry resulted from the adjoint optimization is validated experimentally, using rapid prototyping to manufacture the defroster nozzle.

Major part of this diploma thesis was carried our in the premises of Toyota Motor Europe, in Belgium, with Mr. Antoine Delacroix as industrial advisor.

### Acknowledgements

I am deeply grateful to all the people who supported me, not only during my occupation with my diploma thesis, but also throughout my undergraduate studies in NTUA. First of all, I would like to express my very profound gratitude to Prof. K. C. Giannakoglou, for being an inspiration to me since my first academic year, transmitting his knowledge and passion for his field of expertise and trusting me with this very interesting and innovative project. His advice and corrections were valuable.

A big part of this diploma thesis, was realised in the premises of Toyota Motor Europe, in the department of "Vehicle Performance Engineering". Taking this opportunity, I would like to wholeheartedly thank Mr. A. Delacroix, my industrial advisor, for his persistence and guidance throughout this endeavour. All these months, he was always giving me motivation with his enthousiasm and in every chance, he was sharing with me his knowledge and experience concerning the automotive industry. Moreover, I express my warm thanks to Mr. N. Yokoyama, my manager, for his encouraging comments and for having faith in me and in the project. I would also like to express my gratitude to Dr. K. Gkagkas for lending a hand many times in this venture.

In addition, I would like to thank Mr. V. Skaperdas and Mr. G. Fotiadis, engineers of BETA CAE Systems, for their contribution to the project and their valuable advice to me personally.

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to all the members of the Parallel CFD & Optimization Unit of National Technical University of Athens for their help throughout my studies. Particularly, I wish to express my sincere thanks to Dr. E.M. Papoutsis–Kiachagias for his continuous help and for all the time he spent to support me in this project.

This wonderful journey would have been so much harder and full with selfdoubt, if not for the love, support and understanding of my friends and family. I owe many thanks to all of them, but especially to my parents and sister, who endlessly encouraged me to pursue my interests with persistence.

## Acronyms

NTUA	National Technical University of Athens
PCopt	Parallel CFD & Optimization Unit
TME	Toyota Motor Europe
$\operatorname{CFD}$	Computational Fluid Dynamics
CAD	Computer Aided Design
HVAC	Heating Ventilation and Air Conditioning
OpenFOAM	Open Field Operation And Manipulation
PDE	Partial Differential Equation

# Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1	
	1.1	HVAC - Defroster Nozzle	1	
	1.2	CFD-based Optimization $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	3	
		1.2.1 Optimization Methods	3	
		1.2.2 Adjoint Method	5	
		1.2.3 Shape Morphing Methods	7	
	1.3	Target and Structure of the Thesis	8	
<b>2</b>	The	The Continuous Adjoint Method for Incompressible, Steady–State		
	Flo	W	11	
	2.1	Flow Equations	11	
	2.2	Boundary Conditions	12	
	2.3	Objective Function	13	
	2.4	Adjoint Equations	15	
	2.5	Adjoint Boundary Conditions	18	
	2.6	Sensitivity Derivatives	19	
	2.7	Discretisation and Solution of the Equations	20	
		2.7.1 The SIMPLE algorithm	20	
3	Sha	pe Morphing	29	
	3.1	Introduction to the morpher $\ldots$	29	
	3.2	Mathematical background	29	
		3.2.1 B–spline curves	30	
		3.2.2 Volumetric B–splines	31	
	3.3	Optimization Algorithm	33	
4	$\mathbf{Sim}$	plified Study with Validation: Isolated Defroster Nozzle	37	
	4.1	Measurement Setup and Results	37	
	4.2	Meshing and Simulation	39	
	4.3	Comparison between CFD and measurement	41	

<b>5</b>	Full	Model Study with Validation: Defroster Nozzle & Cabin	<b>45</b>
	5.1	Measurement Setup and Results	45
	5.2	Meshing and Simulation	47
	5.3	Validation of the Velocity Pattern	48
6	CFI	D-based Optimization of Defroster Nozzle	57
	6.1	Solution of the Adjoint Equations and Sensitivity Map	57
	6.2	Automated Runs	58
	6.3	Selection and manufacture of the new defroster nozzle using rapid	
		prototyping–Validation with defrost test	61
		6.3.1 Defrost Tests	62
7	Sun	nmary–Conclusions	75
Bi	Bibliography		

# Chapter 1 Introduction

Automatic shape optimization loops for optimal performance, according to fluid dynamics or aerodynamic criteria, have been widely developed for aerospace applications and, nowadays, are also gaining more and more importance in the automotive industry. On the basis of the advanced progress of adjoint-based shape design, automatic optimization loop has been used to solve an interesting problem related to part of the HVAC system of a passenger car. The target was the improvement of the demisting performance of a passenger vehicle by modifying the shape of its defroster nozzle.

#### 1.1 HVAC - Defroster Nozzle

The safety and thermal comfort of automotive passengers are the most important factors in the development of the automotive Heating Ventilation and Air Conditioning (HVAC) system, [11]. HVAC is responsible for the demisting and defrosting of the vehicle's windows and for creating/maintaining a pleasant climate inside the cabin, by controlling cabin air humidity and temperature.

The defroster nozzle, as part of the HVAC system of vehicles, plays a major role in the demisting-defrosting of the windscreen. Demisting refers the function intended to remove mist, a film of condensate on the inside face of the glazed surface of the windscreen, while defrosting refers to the function intended to eliminate frost or ice generally on the outside surface of the windscreen. The HVAC unit provides hot air to the nozzle which is, then, blowing high velocity air jets to the windscreen.

Windshield defrosting performance is an important factor on evaluating automotive HVAC systems but, on the same time, is a compulsory test according to national and international legislation since it has a significant impact on driving safety.

Particularly, the formation of frost on the windshield and front door glasses during cold season can be proved dangerous as it is veiling the driver's view and disturbing driving. Therefore, defroster performance is seriously taken into consideration during the design of HVAC system in order to ensure the safety of the passengers.

In order to achieve an acceptable demisting performance, the HVAC system has to meet some performance requirements [2]. These are mainly the following:

- 1. Clear-up speed performance: The time required for dispelling condensation or frost on the windshield must be reasonable.
- 2. Clear-up pattern performance: The capability to perform uniform defrosting ideally on the whole surface of the windshield so that it becomes clear without being spotty, without any condensation patches.

The clear-up speed performance can be improved, to some extent by increasing the airflow volume of the blower or the heat exchange efficiency of the heater core (i.e. the temperature of the air being aimed at the windshield). At the same time, for improvement of the clear-up pattern performance, it is common that repetitive experiments are carried out with different draft shapes of defroster nozzles (air guide vanes and outlet area are very important parameters) in order to select the one providing an acceptable clear-up patterning. So far, the efficiency of the defroster depends strongly on the technicians' experience [2], [10].

However, irregular shape and complex structure makes the design difficult while experimental design method costs too much time and money. Consequently, time consuming experiments that are generally required to achieve an improved shape with better performance are gradually being replaced by CFD simulations and automatic optimization loops.

On the same time, it is known that clear-up patterning is correlated with the air velocity distribution on the windshield as mentioned in [2], [10]. Lately, distribution of airflow velocity on the surface of windshield has been investigated by numerical calculations and associated with defrosting performance resulting to be judged as adequate to reflect it, to some extent. The defroster nozzle must, therefore, be designed to provide optimal air velocity distribution. Based on this conclusion, we set this later as the optimization target, which in terms of the optimization method is translated into an objective function.

Based on some previous research [4], [10] it was concluded that CFD could be used to carry out the majority of the design process not only of the defroster nozzle, but, also, of other ducts and HVAC components. It presents significant advantages to the engineer, compared to traditional techniques based on trial and error, which depend too much on experience. One of them is that features of the airflow can be studied, resulting to deeper understanding of the flow to help determining the source of the problems. Another benefit is that the vehicle, or any prototype part is no more needed. Therefore, evaluation work can progress in parallel to the design process. CFD can be used during the entire component design and evaluation phase, leaving actual testing for the final homologation test. Defrost testing should be reserved for the final legislative performance test. Last but not least, design space exploration is time-consuming and the improvement in shape is difficult to reach its full potential. For these reasons, in order to produce a new defroster that gives an improved velocity pattern on the windshield, a CFD-based optimization is preferred and, in this diploma thesis, this relies upon the continuous adjoint method to compute the gradient of the objective function with respect to the design variables determining the shape of the defroster duct.

## 1.2 CFD-based Optimization

The constituents needed for running an automated shape optimization loop include the flow (CFD) solver, the geometry parameterization (the parameters of which act as the design variables), an optimization method capable of computing the optimal values of the design variables and a way to adapt (or regenerate) the computational mesh for each candidate solution.

During the CFD-based optimization loop, the shape of the geometry under consideration is controlled by a number of design variables. For instance, these can be the coefficients of the Bezier–Bernstein polynomials parameterizing the shape of the body to be designed. The quality of the new shape produced is evaluated by computing a quantity (usually an integral), known as the objective or cost function of the optimization problem. For example, in the case of the aerodynamic design of an airfoil (which is the standard problem used to validate all relevant methods), this could be either the drag or lift coefficient of the airfoil. The objective function value depends on the values of the flow variables, obtained through the solution of the flow equations used to simulate the flow inside (internal aerodynamics) or around (external aerodynamics) the shape under consideration. The flow equations can also be considered as the flow constraints of the optimization problem and may include the solution of the incompressible or compressible, steady or unsteady, inviscid or viscous flow equations. Each optimization problem aims at the minimization of the objective function with respect to (w.r.t.) the design variables. Maximization problems can easily be reformulated to minimization ones and can be solved using the same tools.

#### **1.2.1** Optimization Methods

CFD-based optimization methods can be classified into two main categories, i.e. deterministic and stochastic optimization methods. Deterministic methods, known also as gradient-based, require the calculation of the derivatives of the objective function. To get the new values of the design variables, a steepest–descent algorithm (or Newton or quasi–Newton methods) must be used, based on the computed gradient. On the other hand, stochastic methods do not require any further information than the value of the objective function.

Stochastic optimization algorithms, [30], [31], [32], a representative example of which is an evolutionary algorithm (EA), have the significant advantage that it is almost unlikely for them to trapped into local minima, due to the fact that candidate solutions are being searched in a randomized way. However, a great number of evaluations, CFD simulations in our case, are usually necessary, provided that the optimization runs for a adequately high number of generations, before obtaining the optimal one. That increases the computational cost.

Deterministic algorithms are quite vulnerable to entrapment to local minima as the solution can be erroneously considered as the optimum, while in this is nothing more than a local extremum. However, as the direction of updating the design variables is dictated by the sensitivity derivatives, rather than a random, or even randomised choice, each cycle of the algorithm produces an improved result, formulating in general an automatic process that requires much less evaluations than those required by EAs.

Though ideally the target would be to acquire optimal solutions, especially in an industrial environment,, improved (compared to the configuration which is currently in use) solutions are highly welcome too. Thus, in this application, gradient–based optimization methods are preferred.

The efficiency of gradient-based methods mainly depends on the technique that is used to compute the sensitivity derivatives. Common techniques for that are the finite differences method (FD), the complex variable method (CV) and the direct differentiation method (DD) [33].

The gradient can be computed, in a straightforward manner, using finite differences. For a second order FD scheme, the derivatives of an objective function Fw.r.t. to the design variables  $\overrightarrow{b}$  are given by

\_\_\_\_

$$\frac{\delta F(\overline{b}')}{\delta b_n} = \frac{F(b_1, b_2, \dots, b_n + \epsilon, \dots, b_{N-1}, b_N) - F(b_1, b_2, \dots, b_n - \epsilon, \dots, b_{N-1}, b_N)}{2\epsilon}$$
(1.1)

Even though it is straightforward to implement, since it only requires the recomputation of the value of the objective function, the cost of FD scales with the number of the design variables, N ( $b_n, n \in [1, N]$ ), making its use unfeasible in large scale optimization problems. Moreover, the choice of the infinitesimally small quantity  $\epsilon$  can affect the result and round-off errors are very common, as the two Fvalues are too close due to the small  $\epsilon$ . Consequently, a trial and error process must be employed in order to ensure that  $\epsilon$ -independent derivatives have been computed.

This last disadvantage of the FD method can be circumvented by using the

complex variable method where the sensitivities are computed as

$$\frac{\delta F(\overrightarrow{b})}{\delta b_n} = \frac{Im[F(b_1, b_2, \dots, b_n + i\epsilon, \dots, b_{N-1}, b_N)]}{\epsilon}$$
(1.2)

where  $i = \sqrt{-1}$ . Since the sensitivity derivatives are no longer computed as a function of the difference of two very close values of F, round-off errors cease to exist, providing with an non  $\epsilon$ -dependent result. Nevertheless, the cost of CV is still scaled linearly with N. An added problem is the fact that the use of complex variables requires an intervention into the source code of the flow solver, so that it can handle complex variables.

The next alternative is direct differentiation, according to which the flow equations are differentiated w.r.t. to  $\overrightarrow{b}$  and the resulting N linear systems are solved for the derivatives of the flow variables w.r.t. the design ones. The sensitivity derivatives are expressed as a function of these fields. DD does not only scale with N but it is also harder to implement than FD. However, this method is indispensable part of algorithms used to compute high-order sensitivity derivatives.

These methods can be really accurate or indispensable in some cases as explained above, however they share the same important drawback. Their cost scales linearly with the number of the design variables, N, making them impractical for large scale optimization problems. Thankfully, there is a fourth alternative, the adjoint method,[34], [35], which is overcoming this issue due to the fact that practically, the cost of computing the necessary sensitivity derivatives independent from the number of the design variables. This is making the adjoint method the most appropriate method to compute gradients.

#### 1.2.2 Adjoint Method

The adjoint method is a mathematical tool that computes the gradient of the objective function w.r.t. the design variables by also taking into consideration that each solution of the optimization problem has to satisfy the Navier–Stokes equations.

Let F be the objective function which is generally expressed as

$$F = F(\overrightarrow{U}(\overrightarrow{b}), \overrightarrow{b})$$
(1.3)

where  $\overrightarrow{U}$  is the vector of the flow variables and  $\overrightarrow{b}$  the vector of the design variables, which in the case of shape optimization define, for example, the shape of an airfoil. Practically, any change of the values of the design variables  $\overrightarrow{b}$ , modifies the shape of the airfoil, resulting to a new flow field  $\overrightarrow{U}$  around it and to a new value

of the objective function. Consequently, the variation of F w.r.t.  $\overrightarrow{b}$  is

$$\frac{dF}{d\overrightarrow{b}} = \frac{\partial F}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}} + \frac{\partial F}{\partial \overrightarrow{U}} \frac{dU'}{d\overrightarrow{b}}$$
(1.4)

The augmented objective function is introduced

$$F_{aug} = F + \overrightarrow{\psi}^T \overrightarrow{R} \tag{1.5}$$

where  $\overrightarrow{\psi}$  is the vector of Lagrange multipliers or the so-called adjoint variables. The system of equations that describe the physical problem are noted as  $\overrightarrow{R} = \overrightarrow{R}(\overrightarrow{U}, \overrightarrow{b})$ . Since  $\overrightarrow{R} = 0$ , then  $F = F_{aug}$ . As a consequence, minimizing F is equivalent to minimizing  $F_{aug}$ ;

$$\frac{dF_{aug}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} = \frac{dF}{d\overrightarrow{b}} + \overrightarrow{\psi}^T \frac{d\overrightarrow{R}}{d\overrightarrow{b}}$$
(1.6)

$$\frac{d\overrightarrow{R}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} = \frac{\partial R}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}} + \frac{\partial R}{\partial \overrightarrow{U}}\frac{d\overrightarrow{U}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} = 0$$
(1.7)

Equation 1.6, using 1.4 and 1.7, turns into

$$\frac{dF_{aug}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} = \frac{\partial F}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}} + \frac{\partial F}{\partial \overrightarrow{U}} \frac{d\overrightarrow{U}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} + \overrightarrow{\psi}^{T} \left( \frac{\partial R}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}} + \frac{\partial R}{\partial \overrightarrow{U}} \frac{d\overrightarrow{U}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} \right)$$

$$= \left( \frac{\partial F}{\partial \overrightarrow{U}} + \overrightarrow{\psi}^{T} \frac{\partial R}{\partial \overrightarrow{U}} \right) \frac{d\overrightarrow{U}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} + \left( \frac{\partial F}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}} + \overrightarrow{\psi}^{T} \frac{\partial R}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}} \right)$$
(1.8)

Matrix  $\frac{d\vec{U}}{d\vec{b}}$  has high computational cost so it is desirable to avoid computing it. Consequently, the multipliers  $\vec{\psi}$  are computed instead so as to set to zero the multiplier of this matrix on the equation 1.8. After having computed  $\vec{\psi}$  the Lagrange multipliers are used on the computation of the sensitivities according to

$$\frac{dF}{d\overrightarrow{b}} = \frac{dF_{aug}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} = \frac{\partial F}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}} + \overrightarrow{\psi}^T \frac{\partial \overrightarrow{R}}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}}$$
(1.9)

The computation of the sensitivity derivatives through equation 1.9 demands the solution of only one linear system for the computation of  $\vec{\psi}$  while the computation through 1.4 demands the solution of N systems  $\frac{d\vec{R}}{d\vec{b}}$  for the computation of the matrix  $\frac{d\vec{U}}{d\vec{b}}$  (the latter refers to the aforementioned DD method in sec. 1.2.1).

The adjoint method appears in two, substantially different, variants:: the discrete [36], [37], [38] and the continuous, [34], [35], [39] adjoint method. Discrete adjoint includes the discretization of the equations of  $\vec{R} = 0$  and, then, their integration in equations 1.8 and 1.9, [26]. The Lagrange multipliers are also in discrete form. On the contrary, according to the continuous adjoint method, the flow equations in

continuous form are firstly differentiated and the adjoint PDEs are derived as closed form expressions. The latter are, then, discretized and numerically solved.

In other words, the discrete adjoint approach works with the algebraic equations that come from the discretisation of the fluid dynamic equations while, in the continuous adjoint approach, the adjoint PDEs are formulated and then discretised and solved. The adjoint solver developed by PCOpt/NTUA on the OpenFOAM software is using the continuous adjoint method and this software is used in this diploma thesis.

The above equations that described the formulation of the adjoint problem in general, actually refer to the discrete adjoint method. This approach is preferred at this point as it is considered easier for the reader to become familiar with the adjoint method and its advantages. The continuous adjoint method will be analyzed in chapter 2.

#### 1.2.3 Shape Morphing Methods

The computed sensitivity derivatives from the adjoint solver are translated into displacements of the control points using algorithms such as steepest descent, BFGS, Newton, quasi–Newton and others [24], [29], [13]. In CFD shape optimization, the design variables can be the nodes of the surface mesh or more usually, control points that parameterize the desired geometry. So the optimization loop uses the gradient of the objective function w.r.t. the coordinates of control points, computed using the continuous adjoint method; then, after translating the derivatives into displacements of the control points, a morphing tool changes the surface according to the changed control points.

In general, shape parameterization techniques can be divided into the following eight categories [7]: basis vector, domain element, discrete, analytical, free–form deformation (FFD), partial differential equation (PDE), polynomial and spline, and Computer Aided Design (CAD). Among them, only CAD–based and FFD techniques seem to be efficient and suitable enough for complex geometries.

As far as the former technique is concerned, the need to differentiate the code of the commercial CAD software appears; this, however, is most of the times not available to users. Assuming that the source code of the CAD software can be accessed, another issue is that the differentiation of large codes is not a trivial task as, even the use of automatic differentiation tools, cannor replace the necessity of complex coding. Furthermore, the result is a code that requires a lot of computer memory to perform the necessary calculations. Therefore, the calculation of the analytical sensitivity derivatives of the geometry w.r.t. the design variables could prove to be difficult within a commercial CAD environment. Nevertheless, there is ongoing academic research in this field.

The latter technique, FFD, has the advantage of parameterizing and deforming

both the surface and volume mesh. This is positive since that it eliminates the need of using a different tool to deform the volume mesh after updating the surface. Moreover the topology of the mesh is preserved and thus, remeshing is avoided and at the same time this allows the initialization of the flow from solutions obtained in the previous cycle. As a result, significant reduction in the computational cost is achieved. Examples of this method are volumetric B–splines or NURBS, Radial Basis Functions (RBFs), the harmonic coordinates method, etc. In the current application, the PCOpt/NTUA morpher that parameterizes the desired 3D space using volumetric B–splines is used.

### **1.3** Target and Structure of the Thesis

The target of this diploma thesis is the application of shape optimization methods, using the continuous adjoint method, to the defroster nozzle of a Toyota vehicle. The objective of this optimization procedure was to achieve an improved defrosting performance. To do so, a suitable objective function is, firstly, formulated to describe the engineering goal. The adjoint method provides the corresponding sensitivity derivatives that gave qualitative information about the suggested shape deformation of the defroster. Then, the coupled shape morpher translates this information appropriately to produce a new defroster nozzle geometry, giving better defrosting performance than the initial one. The whole procedure is carried out iteratively until a convergence criterion is met.

The structure of this thesis is organised in the following chapters:

- In chapter 2, the flow equations, as well as the continuous adjoint method for incompressible, steady-state flow is presented. The objective function, the adjoint equations and their boundary conditions and sensitivity derivatives are formulated. The procedures of discretising and, then, solving the equations are explained in detail.
- In chapter 3, the shape morpher is presented along with the optimization algorithm.
- In chapter 4, a test for pressure measurement and the simulation of the equivalent CFD model are presented. CFD–based results are validated through comparison with experimental measurements.
- In chapter 5, the performed velocity pattern test and the computed flow in the cabin are presented. The test and CFD correlation is validated.
- In chapter 6, results of the automated optimization process are presented. Several cases are studied since there are manufacturing and topology constraints

which are not included in the optimization loop. Those are taken into consideration only at the end of each optimization project. The most suitable new defroster nozzle is, then, manufactured using rapid prototyping techniques and its improved performance is evaluated and compared to the one of the initial shape through the presented defrost shape.

• In chapter 7, results and conclusions are summarized.

## Chapter 2

# The Continuous Adjoint Method for Incompressible, Steady–State Flow

As mentioned before, the target for this optimization problem, is the improvement of the demisting and defogging performance of a car. According to [4], CFD can be used with confidence to simulate defrost performance. The realistic case would be to simulate the transient, thermal, phase changing conditions that happen during the procedure of defogging the windshield. However, the engineer can evaluate the defrost performance from an interpretation of the velocity distribution close to the windshield [2], [4]. As a consequence, it is also acceptable to run isothermal steady state simulations and, in this way, simplify the problem complexity and decrease the computational cost.

The automotive cases solved in this thesis are governed by the Reynolds Averaged Navier–Stokes equations for steady–state, incompressible flow, coupled with the turbulence model equations. The k– $\epsilon$  turbulence model is applied. The mean flow and turbulence model PDEs along with their boundary conditions are referred to as the primal (or state) equations of the optimization problem.

### 2.1 Flow Equations

The mean flow equations [21], [6], [28], the continuity equation and the momentum equations are, respectively, written as

$$R^p = -\frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_j} = 0 \tag{2.1}$$

$$R_i^{\nu} = v_j \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_j} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left[ \left( \nu + \nu_t \right) \left( \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_i} \right) \right] + \frac{\partial p}{\partial x_i} = 0 \qquad i = 1, 2, 3$$
(2.2)

where  $v_i$  are the velocity components, p stands for static pressured divided by the constant density  $\rho$ ,  $\nu$  is the constant bulk viscosity and  $\nu_t$  is the turbulent viscosity. Turbulence viscosity results from by the solution of the turbulence model PDEs.

Repeated indices denote summation over the spatial dimensions of the problem (Einstein convention). Equation 2.1, is therefore, a shorthand representation of:  $\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial x_1} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial x_2} + \frac{\partial v_3}{\partial x_3} = 0.$ 

The turbulence model k- $\epsilon$  equations [23],[21],[28] are given by

$$R^{k} = v_{i} \frac{\partial k}{\partial x_{i}} - \left(\nu + \frac{\nu_{t}}{P_{r_{k}}}\right) \frac{\partial^{2} k}{\partial x_{i}^{2}} - P + \epsilon = 0$$
(2.3)

$$R^{\epsilon} = v_i \frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial x_i} - \left(\nu + \frac{\nu_t}{P_{r_{\epsilon}}}\right) \frac{\partial^2 \epsilon}{\partial x_i^2} - C_1 \frac{\epsilon}{k} P + C_2 \frac{\epsilon^2}{k} = 0$$
(2.4)

$$\nu_t = C_\mu \frac{k^2}{\epsilon} \tag{2.5}$$

where k is the turbulent kinetic energy,  $\epsilon$  the turbulence energy dissipation term and P stands for the turbulence production term

$$P = \nu_t \left(\frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_i}\right) \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_i}$$
(2.6)

The constant coefficients of the model are:  $C_1 = 1.44, C_2 = 1.92, C_{\mu} = 0.09$  and the turbulent Prandtl numbers  $P_{r_{\epsilon}} = 1.3, P_{r_k} = 1.0$ 

#### 2.2 Boundary Conditions

The boundary conditions that "close" the primal problem are:

- Dirichlet boundary condition for  $v_i$  and the turbulence model variables  $(k,\epsilon)$ and zero Neumann boundary condition for p, at the inlet  $S_I$ .
- Zero Neumann boundary condition for  $v_i$  and the turbulence model variables  $(k,\epsilon)$  and zero Dirichlet boundary condition for p, at the outlet  $S_O$ .
- Zero Dirichlet boundary condition for v<sub>i</sub> (no-slip condition). Empirical relations based on the friction velocity (wall functions) for the turbulence model variables (k,ε) and zero Neumann boundary condition for p at the walls S<sub>W</sub>. Empirical information using the wall function technique was used to approximate viscous stresses at the wall [23], [21].

The boundaries in the main case of interest are shown in fig. 2.1. The details of the computational model are later explained in chapter 5.

#### 2.3 Objective Function

Usually, in aerodynamic problems, the objective function is a scalar quantity like the lift or drag force exerted on an aerodynamic body. In case there are more than one objective functions that happen to be convex, the Multi Objective Optimization (MOO) problem can be turned into a Single Objective Optimization (SOO) problem by simply adding the objectives and multiplying them with a different weight decided by the engineer.

As previously mentioned, in our case, it is desirable that the velocity pattern of the air close to the windshield (and not exactly on it, as the no–slip condition implies zero velocity on the walls) meets some criteria (as listed in 1.1) and on the same time it improves the demisting and defogging performance. In other words, the aim is to achieve more uniform distribution of the velocity and increase its magnitude on the weakest areas which is most of the times the upper part of the windshield. This target is mathematically expressed as

$$F_{obj} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega_{tar}} \left( v_i^2 - v_{tar}^2 \right)^2 d\Omega_{tar}$$
(2.7)

The above objective function describes the wish to force the magnitude of velocity over a thin volume close to the windshield,  $\Omega_{tar}$ , fig. 6.1 to reach a certain value or to have a pre-defined distribution.  $\Omega_{tar}$  is often referred as target volume, in the scope of this thesis.

The starting point of the adjoint problem is the use of the convenient augmented function  $F_{aug}$  and its use, instead of using F directly, see sec. 1.2.2 and [6]. So,  $F_{aug}$  is defined as

$$F_{aug} = F + \int_{\Omega} u_i R_i^v d\Omega + \int_{\Omega} q R^p d\Omega$$
(2.8)

where  $\Omega$  is the computational domain, fig. 2.1a,  $u_i$  are the adjoint velocity components,  $v_i$  the primal velocity components, q is the adjoint pressure and p is the primal pressure. Since the residuals of the primal equations 2.1, 2.2 are zero, F and  $F_{aug}$  are identical.

At this point, it is important to mention that within the scope of this thesis, in the analysis of the equations following, the effect of the solution to the equations of the turbulence model is neglected, for reasons of simplicity. Consequently, the commonly known as "frozen turbulence" assumption is made. Readers interested in the differentiation of turbulence can refer to [6], [13], [15], [14], [16], [18], [17], [19].

Differentiating the augmented objective function we get

$$\frac{\delta F_{aug}}{\delta b_n} = \frac{\delta F}{\delta b_n} + \frac{\delta}{\delta b_n} \int_{\Omega} u_i R_i^v d\Omega + \frac{\delta}{\delta b_n} \int_{\Omega} q R^p d\Omega$$
(2.9)

Then, the Leibniz theorem, which is used for the differentiation of the volume inte-

grals with variable boundaries, is applied

$$\frac{\delta F_{aug}}{\delta b_n} = \frac{\delta F}{\delta b_n} + \int_{\Omega} u_i \frac{\partial R_i^v}{\partial b_n} d\Omega + \int_{\Omega} q \frac{\partial R^p}{\partial b_n} d\Omega + \int_{S} (u_i R_i^v + q R^p) \frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n} n_k dS \qquad (2.10)$$

where S is the boundary of the computational domain which is actually  $S = S_I \cup S_O \cup S_W \cup S_{W_P}$ . The boundaries  $S_I, S_O, S_W$  and  $S_{W_P}$  refer to the inlet, outlet, fixed and parameterized (varying or controlable) boundaries of the domain, respectively. However, only the parameterized boundaries may change  $(\frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n} n_k$  corresponds to the deformation velocity of the surface in the normal direction) so we have

$$\frac{\delta F_{aug}}{\delta b_n} = \frac{\delta F}{\delta b_n} + \int_{\Omega} u_i \frac{\partial R_i^v}{\partial b_n} d\Omega + \int_{\Omega} q \frac{\partial R^p}{\partial b_n} d\Omega + \int_{S_{W_P}} (u_i R_i^v + q R^p) \frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n} n_k dS \quad (2.11)$$

As already mentioned,  $F = F_{aug}$  and consequently  $\frac{\delta F}{\delta b_n} = \frac{\delta F_{aug}}{\delta b_n}$ .

At this point, it is necessary to make a clear distinction between the meaning of the partial and total derivative, as used from eq. 2.11 and below.  $\frac{\delta\Phi}{\delta b_n}$  is used to indicate the total derivative of an arbitrary quantity  $\Phi$ , which can be any of the flow variables or even the residual of the state equations and represents the total change in  $\Phi$  by varying  $b_n$ . The partial derivative  $\frac{\partial\Phi}{\partial b_n}$  denotes the variation in  $\Phi$  due to changes in the flow variables (that are caused by geometry deformation) excluding contributions from the space deformation itself. In other words, the partial derivative represents the variation in  $\Phi$  if the internal nodes of the computational domain remain unchanged. The expression that links the total and partial derivatives is

$$\frac{\delta\Phi}{\delta b_n} = \frac{\partial\Phi}{\partial b_n} + \frac{\partial\Phi}{\partial x_k} \frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n} \tag{2.12}$$

However, if  $\Phi$  is a quantity computed on the surface, like pressure, eq 2.12 slighty changes. As any small surface deformation can be seen as a normal displacement, only the normal surface deformation velocity  $\frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n}$  contributes in the change of  $\Phi$  so its tangential component can be neglected resulting in

$$\frac{\delta\Phi}{\delta b_n} = \frac{\partial\Phi}{\partial b_n} + \frac{\partial\Phi}{\partial x_k} n_k \frac{\delta x_m}{\delta b_n} n_m \tag{2.13}$$

In order to express  $\frac{\delta F}{\delta b_n}$  and to formulate the adjoint equations and their boundary conditions, the objective function is expressed in general form as a sum of both surface and volume integrals, following [6].

$$F = \int_{S} F_{S} dS + \int_{\Omega_{tar}} F_{\Omega_{tar}} d\Omega_{tar}$$
(2.14)

However, the objective function used 2.7 has the form of a field integral on a pres-

elected part of the flow domain and it does not include any surface integral. So, in our case,

$$F = \int_{\Omega_{tar}} F_{\Omega_{tar}} d\Omega_{tar}$$
(2.15)

The differentiation of F w.r.t. the design variables gives

$$\frac{\delta F}{\delta b_n} = \frac{\delta}{\delta b_n} \int_{\Omega_{tar}} F_{\Omega_{tar}} d\Omega_{tar}$$
(2.16)

The application of the Leibniz theorem yields

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta b_n} \int_{\Omega_{tar}} F_{\Omega_{tar}} d\Omega_{tar} = \int_{\Omega_{tar}} \frac{\partial F_{\Omega_{tar}}}{\partial b_n} d\Omega_{tar} + \int_S F_{\Omega_{tar}} n_k \frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n} dS \tag{2.17}$$

In our case, the velocity of the boundary  $\frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n}$  is zero as the boundaries of the target volume in this application  $\Omega_{tar}$  are fixed. Consequently, we have

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta b_n} \int_{\Omega_{tar}} F_{\Omega_{tar}} d\Omega_{tar} = \int_{\Omega_{tar}} \frac{\partial F_{\Omega_{tar}}}{\partial b_n} d\Omega_{tar}$$
(2.18)

Since the objective function, equation 2.7 is exclusively expressed in terms of velocity, the use of the chain rule for  $\int_{\Omega_{tar}} \frac{\partial F_{\Omega_{tar}}}{\partial b_n} d\Omega_{tar}$  w.r.t.  $v_i$  gives

$$\int_{\Omega_{tar}} \frac{\partial F_{\Omega_{tar}}}{\partial b_n} d\Omega_{tar} = \int_{\Omega_{tar}} \dot{F}^v_{\Omega_{tar},i} \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} d\Omega_{tar}$$
(2.19)

where  $\dot{F}_{\Omega_{tar,i}}^v$  is equal to  $\frac{\partial F}{\partial v_i}$  which, for the objective function of equation 2.7 is

$$\dot{F}^{v}_{\Omega_{tar},i} = \frac{\partial F}{\partial v_i} = 2\left(v_k^2 - v_{tar}^2\right)v_i$$
(2.20)

According to 2.19 the derivative of our objective function is

$$\frac{\delta F_{obj}}{\delta b_n} = 2 \int_{\Omega_{tar}} \left( v_k^2 - v_{tar}^2 \right) v_i \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} d\Omega_{tar}$$
(2.21)

and, in general form using, eqs. 2.16, 2.18 and 2.19, we have

$$\frac{\delta F}{\delta b_n} = \int_{\Omega_{tar}} \acute{F}^v_{\Omega_{tar},i} \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} d\Omega_{tar}$$
(2.22)

## 2.4 Adjoint Equations

The terms of eq. 2.11 that include the partial derivatives of the mean flow equations w.r.t. the design variables can be developed by applying the operator  $\frac{\partial()}{\partial b_n}$  to eqs.

2.1 and 2.2. According to the comments made in sec. 2.3, the partial derivative reflects the changes in the flow variables over the initial domain without taking into account changes in its shape. Hence, the following permutation is allowed [6]

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial b_n} \left( \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial x_j} \right) = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left( \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial b_n} \right)$$
(2.23)

Using eq. 2.23 in the differentiation of eqs. 2.1 and 2.2, we get

$$\frac{\partial R^p}{\partial b_n} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left( \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial b_n} \right) \tag{2.24}$$

$$\frac{\partial R_i^v}{\partial b_n} = \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial b_n} \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_j} + v_j \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left( \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} \right) - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left[ \left( \nu + \nu_t \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial b_n} \left( \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_i} \right) \right] + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial p}{\partial b_n} \quad (2.25)$$

Applying the Green–Gauss theorem<sup>1</sup> [6] to eq.2.11 using 2.24, the  $\int_{\Omega} q \frac{\partial R^p}{\partial b_n} d\Omega$  volume integral becomes

$$\int_{\Omega} -q \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left( \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial b_n} \right) d\Omega = -\int_{S} q \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial b_n} n_j dS + \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial q}{\partial x_j} \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial b_n} d\Omega$$
(2.26)

In a similar way, using eq.2.25 the inviscid terms of the volume integral  $\int_{\Omega} u_i \frac{\partial R_i^v}{\partial b_n} d\Omega$  can be written as

$$\int_{\Omega} u_i \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_j} \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial b_n} d\Omega + \int_{\Omega} u_i v_j \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left(\frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n}\right) d\Omega =$$

$$\int_{\Omega} u_j \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} d\Omega + \int_{S} u_i v_j n_j \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} dS - \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} (u_i v_j) \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} d\Omega$$

$$\int_{\Omega} u_i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial p}{\partial b_n} d\Omega = \int_{S} u_i n_i \frac{\partial p}{\partial b_n} dS - \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial p}{\partial b_n} d\Omega \qquad (2.28)$$

The viscous terms of the same volume integral (using also eq. 2.23) can be written as

$$-\int_{\Omega} u_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}} \left[ \left(\nu + \nu_{t}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial b_{n}} \left( \frac{\partial v_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} + \frac{\partial v_{j}}{\partial x_{i}} \right) \right] d\Omega =$$

$$= -\int_{S} u_{i} \left(\nu + \nu_{t}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial b_{n}} \left( \frac{\partial v_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} + \frac{\partial v_{j}}{\partial x_{i}} \right) n_{j} dS + \int_{\Omega} \left(\nu + \nu_{t}\right) \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} \frac{\partial}{\partial b_{n}} \left( \frac{\partial v_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} + \frac{\partial v_{j}}{\partial x_{i}} \right) d\Omega$$

$$= -\int_{S} u_{i} \left(\nu + \nu_{t}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial b_{n}} \left( \frac{\partial v_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} + \frac{\partial v_{j}}{\partial x_{i}} \right) n_{j} dS + \int_{\Omega} \left(\nu + \nu_{t}\right) \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}} \left( \frac{\partial v_{i}}{\partial b_{n}} \right) d\Omega$$

$$+ \int_{\Omega} \left(\nu + \nu_{t}\right) \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \left( \frac{\partial v_{j}}{\partial b_{n}} \right) d\Omega$$

$$(2.29)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Green–Gauss or Divergence theorem:  $\int_V (\nabla \cdot \mathbf{F}) dV = \oint_S (\mathbf{F} \cdot n) dS$  where *n* is the normal vector

The two volume integrals in the last expression of eq. 2.29 become

$$\int_{\Omega} (\nu + \nu_{t}) \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}} \left( \frac{\partial v_{i}}{\partial b_{n}} \right) d\Omega = \int_{S} (\nu + \nu_{t}) \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} n_{j} \frac{\partial v_{i}}{\partial b_{n}} dS - \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}} \left( (\nu + \nu_{t}) \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} \right) \frac{\partial v_{i}}{\partial b_{n}} d\Omega$$

$$(2.30)$$

$$\int_{\Omega} (\nu + \nu_{t}) \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \left( \frac{\partial v_{j}}{\partial b_{n}} \right) d\Omega = \int_{S} (\nu + \nu_{t}) \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} n_{i} \frac{\partial v_{j}}{\partial b_{n}} dS - \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \left( (\nu + \nu_{t}) \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} \right) \frac{\partial v_{j}}{\partial b_{n}} d\Omega$$

$$= \int_{S} (\nu + \nu_{t}) \frac{\partial u_{j}}{\partial x_{i}} n_{j} \frac{\partial v_{i}}{\partial b_{n}} dS - \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}} \left( (\nu + \nu_{t}) \frac{\partial u_{j}}{\partial x_{i}} \right) \frac{\partial v_{i}}{\partial b_{n}} d\Omega$$

$$(2.31)$$

By substituting eqs. 2.27 to 2.4 and also using 2.22 into the expression of the differentiated arbitrary objective function  $F_{aug}$  2.11 we get

$$\frac{\delta F_{aug}}{\delta b_n} = \int_S \left[ u_i v_j n_j + (\nu + \nu_t) \left( \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i} \right) n_j - q n_i \right] \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} dS + \int_S (u_j n_j) \frac{\partial p}{\partial b_n} dS + \int_S (-u_i n_j) \frac{\partial \tau_{ij}}{\partial b_n} dS + \int_{S_{W_P}} (u_i R_i^v + q R^p) \frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n} n_k dS + \int_\Omega \left\{ u_j \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_i} - \frac{\partial (v_j u_i)}{\partial x_j} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left[ (\nu + \nu_t) \left( \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i} \right) \right] + \frac{\partial q}{\partial x_i} + \dot{F}_{\Omega,i}^v \right\} \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} d\Omega + \int_\Omega \left( - \frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_j} \right) \frac{\partial p}{\partial b_n} d\Omega$$
(2.32)

It is necessary to avoid the computation of the partial derivatives  $\frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n}$  and  $\frac{\partial p}{\partial b_n}$  as they require the solution of N systems of equations. To do so, their multipliers in the volume integrals of eq. 2.32 are set to zero, resulting in the so called adjoint mean flow equations

$$R^q = -\frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_j} = 0 \tag{2.33}$$

$$R_{i}^{u} = u_{j}\frac{\partial v_{j}}{\partial x_{i}} - \frac{\partial (v_{j}u_{i})}{\partial x_{j}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}}\left[\left(\nu + \nu_{t}\right)\left(\frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} + \frac{\partial u_{j}}{\partial x_{i}}\right)\right] + \frac{\partial q}{\partial x_{i}} + \acute{F}_{\Omega_{tar},i}^{v} = 0 \qquad i = 1, 2, 3$$

$$(2.34)$$

where  $u_i$  is adjoint velocity and q is adjoint pressure. As a result, the remaining terms of the expression of 2.32 that will give the adjoint boundary conditions and the final expression of the sensitivity derivatives are

$$\frac{\delta F_{aug}}{\delta b_n} = \int_S \left[ u_i v_j n_j + \left( \nu + \nu_t \right) \left( \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i} \right) n_j - q n_i \right] \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} dS + \int_S (u_j n_j) \frac{\partial p}{\partial b_n} dS + \int_S (-u_i n_j) \frac{\partial \tau_{ij}}{\partial b_n} dS + \int_{S_{W_P}} (u_i R_i^v + q R^p) \frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n} n_k dS$$

$$(2.35)$$

#### 2.5 Adjoint Boundary Conditions

The adjoint boundary conditions derive from the expression 2.35 by setting to zero the first three integrals, see [6].

**Inlet Boundaries** As discussed in sec. 2.2, at the inlet boundaries  $S_I$ , the Dirichlet boundary condition on velocity implies that  $\frac{\delta v_i}{\delta b_n} = 0$ . As this boundary is fixed, we have  $\frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n} = 0$  so, according to 2.13, also  $\frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} = 0$ . Eliminating the rest second and third integrals of 2.35 we get

$$u_j n_j = u_{\langle n \rangle} = 0 \tag{2.36}$$

$$u_i n_j = u_i t_i^l = u_{\langle t \rangle}^l = 0 \tag{2.37}$$

but, since no boundary condition for q can be derived from the previous expression, a zero Neumann boundary condition is used.

**Outlet Boundaries** Having a zero Dirichlet condition for p on the fixed outlet boundaries  $S_O$ , it is  $\frac{\delta p}{\delta b_n} = \frac{\partial p}{\partial b_n} = 0$ . Due to the distance of the outlet boundary from the parameterized area, see fig. 2.1 (where the parameterized area is a part of the defroster nozzle), an almost uniform velocity profile can be assumed along  $S_O$ leading to eliminating the third term of 2.35. However, so as to eliminate the first term of the equation, it should

$$u_i v_j n_j + \left(\nu + \nu_t\right) \left(\frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i}\right) n_j - q n_i = 0$$
(2.38)

By multiplying 2.38 with the normal surface vector  $n_i$ , results namely a Dirichlet boundary condition for q

$$q = u_{\langle n \rangle} v_{\langle n \rangle} + 2 \left( \nu + \nu_t \right) \frac{\partial u_{\langle n \rangle}}{\partial n} = 0$$
(2.39)

The tangential adjoint velocity components can be obtained by multiplying eq. 2.38 with the tangent to the surface vectors  $t_i^l$ , l = 1, 2, resulting to a Robin type boundary condition

$$v_{\langle n \rangle} u_{\langle t \rangle}^{l} + \left(\nu + \nu_{t}\right) \left(\frac{\partial u_{\langle t \rangle}^{l}}{\partial n} + \frac{\partial u_{\langle n \rangle}}{\partial t^{l}}\right) = 0$$
(2.40)

while for the normal adjoint velocity components zero Neumann boundary condition is applied.

**Fixed Wall Boundaries** Similar to the inlet boundaries  $S_I$ , at the fixed walls of the domain  $S_W$ , the boundary condition for  $u_i$  is Dirichlet resulting to

$$u_j n_j = u_{\langle n \rangle} = 0 \tag{2.41}$$

$$u_i n_j = u_i t_i^l = u_{(t)}^l = 0 (2.42)$$

and zero Neumann boundary condition for q is imposed.

**Parameterized Wall Boundaries** The main difference between fixed and parameterized walls is that the boundaries of the latter may change during optimization, hence  $\frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n} \neq 0$ . Consequently, since  $v_i = 0$ , its total variation is zero  $\frac{\delta v_i}{\delta b_n} = 0$  resulting in

$$\frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} = -\frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_k} n_k \frac{\delta x_m}{\delta b_n} n_m \tag{2.43}$$

which makes the remaining first term of 2.35 along  $S_{W_P}$  to turn into

$$\int_{S_{W_P}} \left[ u_i v_j n_j + \left(\nu + \nu_t\right) \left( \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_i} \right) n_j - q n_i \right] \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} dS = -\int_{S_{W_P}} \left[ u_i v_j n_j + \left(\nu + \nu_t\right) \left( \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_i} \right) n_j - q n_i \right] \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_k} n_k \frac{\delta x_m}{\delta b_n} n_m dS$$

$$(2.44)$$

Since the integral on the r.h.s. of eq. 2.44 includes only the surface variation and primal and adjoint fields, its value can be computed and added to the final expression of the sensitivity derivatives.

To summarize, according to [6], for the objective function of eq. 2.7 that is only dependent on  $v_i$ , the adjoint boundary conditions are the following:

- Zero Dirichlet boundary condition on  $u_i$  and zero Neumann boundary condition on q at the inlet.
- Robin type boundary condition on the tangential adjoint velocity components, zero Neumann boundary condition on normal adjoint velocity components and Dirichlet boundary condition on q, at the outlet.
- Zero Dirichlet boundary condition on  $u_i$  and zero Neumann boundary condition on q at the fixed and parameterized walls.

### 2.6 Sensitivity Derivatives

After satisfying the adjoint mean flow equations and their boundary conditions, the adjoint variables are given by the adjoint solver. Then, it is possible to compute the sensitivity derivatives by the expression

$$\frac{\delta F_{aug}}{\delta b_n} = -\int_{S_{W_P}} \left[ \left( \nu + \nu_t \right) \left( \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i} \right) n_j - q n_i \right] \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_k} n_k \frac{\delta x_m}{\delta b_n} n_m dS + \int_{S_{W_P}} (u_i R_i^v + q R^p) \frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n} n_k dS$$

$$(2.45)$$

where, in the first term, inside the brackets there are only primal and adjoint variables while the outside part comes from the differentiation of the geometry, that is produced by the morpher.

#### 2.7 Discretisation and Solution of the Equations

The systems of the Partial Differential Equations (PDEs) of the primal (eq. 2.1, 2.2) and adjoint problem (eq. 2.33, 2.34) should be discretised in order to be transformed into a corresponding system of algebraic equations and, then, numerically solved [6].

The steady state, mean flow equations for incompressible, turbulent flows are given by eqs. 2.1, 2.2. In order to complete the system of primal equations, the turbulence model, used to compute  $\nu_t$ , should also be taken into account. In the SIMPLE algorithm presented the turbulence model equations are solved in a segregated manner from the mean flow ones.

The primal (already existed in the OpenFOAM CFD toolbox) and adjoint (developed by PCopt/NTUA) solvers are programmed in the OpenFOAM environment; they solve the equations using the SIMPLE (Semi-Implicit Method for Pressure-Linked Equations) algorithm and a cell-centered finite-volume discretization scheme, on unstructured grids. For the convection terms, second-order upwind (primal) and downwind (adjoint) schemes were used. For the computation of spatial gradients, the Green–Gauss theorem is used and the involved quantities are interpolated using a linear scheme. For more information about the discretization schemes, readers can refer to [25], [28].

#### 2.7.1 The SIMPLE algorithm

In what follows, the variant of the SIMPLE algorithm, already programmed in OpenFOAM, for the solution of the primal equations is presented, [6].

The momentum equations, 2.2, can be written in a semi-discretized form as

$$a_P v_{P,i} = \sum_{N=1}^{NB(P)} a_N v_{N,i} - \frac{\partial p}{\partial x_i}$$
(2.46)

where P is used to denote both the cell index and its centroid in which the momentum equations are discretized and NB(P) are its adjacent cells, fig. 2.3. The coefficients  $a_P$  and  $a_N$  result from the discretization of the convection and diffusion terms in 2.2. It should be noted that the coefficient  $a_P$  is the same for all the components of the momentum equations. The iterative solution of 2.46, using the pressure field  $p^*$ , obtained through the previous iteration, results in a velocity field,  $v_i^*$ , which does not satisfy the continuity equation. Moreover, there is no equation from which the pressure field can be updated (the continuity equation includes only the velocity components). For that reason, it appears the need to derive an equation for the computation of p and correct the velocity field to also satisfy the continuity equation.

Let the velocity and pressure fields that satisfy the momentum and continuity equations be denoted by  $v_i$  and p. As already discussed,  $v_i^*$  stand for the velocity components resulting from the iterative solution of the momentum equations (which do not, however, satisfy the continuity equation) based on the pressure field  $p^*$ , made available from the previous step of the solution algorithm. Based on the two abovementioned sets of fields, the semi-discretized momentum equations, 2.46, can be written as

$$a_P v_{P,i} = \sum_{N=1}^{NB(P)} a_N v_{N,i} - \frac{\partial p}{\partial x_i}$$
(2.47)

$$a_P v_{P,i}^* = \sum_{N=1}^{NB(P)} a_N v_{N,i}^* - \frac{\partial p^*}{\partial x_i}$$
(2.48)

Once 2.48 have been numerically solved in the current iteration of the solution algorithm, a prediction of the velocity components is given by

$$v_{P,j}^{*} = \hat{v}_{P,j} \frac{1}{a_p} \frac{\partial p^{*}}{\partial x_j}$$
(2.49)

where

$$\hat{v}_{P,j} = \frac{1}{a_P} H_{P,j}(\mathbf{v}^\star) \tag{2.50}$$

$$H_{P,j}(\mathbf{v}^{\star}) = \sum_{N=1}^{NB(P)} a_N v_{N,j}^{\star}$$
(2.51)

Let  $v'_i$  and p' correspond to the velocity and pressure corrections that need to be added to  $v^*_i$  and  $p^*$  in order to also satisfy the continuity equation, i.e.,

$$v_i = v_i^* + v_i^{'} \tag{2.52}$$

$$p = p^* + p^{'} \tag{2.53}$$

Subtracting 2.48 from 2.47 and assuming that the discretization coefficients  $(a_P, a_N)$  are (approximately) the same in eq.2.47 and eq.2.48, the following relation between  $v'_i$  and p', holds

$$a_{P}v_{P,i}^{'} = \sum_{N=1}^{NB(P)} a_{N}v_{N,i}^{'} - \frac{\partial p^{'}}{\partial x_{i}}$$
(2.54)

After additionally assuming that the first term on the r.h.s. of eq. 2.54 is negligible

compared to the gradient of the pressure correction, eq. 2.54 is simplified to

$$v'_{P,i} = -\frac{1}{a_P} \frac{\partial p'}{\partial x_i} \tag{2.55}$$

Then, by taking 2.52 into account, the continuity equation, 2.1, is written as

$$\frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_j} = 0 \Rightarrow \frac{\partial v'_j}{\partial x_j} = \frac{\partial v^*_j}{\partial x_j}$$
(2.56)

Substituting 2.55 into 2.56 yields

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left( \frac{1}{a_p} \frac{\partial p'}{\partial x_j} \right) = \frac{\partial v_j^*}{\partial x_j} \tag{2.57}$$

Eq.2.57 can be further processed after taking 2.49 into account,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left( \frac{1}{a_p} \frac{\partial p'}{\partial x_j} \right) = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left( \hat{v}_{P,j} - \frac{1}{a_P} \frac{\partial p^*}{\partial x_j} \right) \Rightarrow$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left( \frac{1}{a_p} \frac{\partial p}{\partial x_j} \right) = \frac{\partial \hat{v}_{P,j}}{\partial x_j}$$
(2.58)

giving rise to the pressure equation. It should be noted that the presented algorithm utilized by OpenFOAM to solve the primal equations, formulates eq.2.58, from which the pressure field, rather than the pressure correction one (usually computed through more traditional variants of SIMPLE, [25], [28], [40]), is obtained. The integration of eq.2.58 over a cell P with nb(P) faces yields

$$\sum_{f=1}^{nb(P)} \overline{\hat{v}_{f,j}} S_{f,j} = \sum_{f=1}^{nb(P)} \frac{1}{\overline{a_f}} \left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial x_j} S_j\right)_f$$
(2.59)

In eq.2.59,  $S_{f,j}$  are the components of the (dimensional) face normal vector, the norm of which is equal to the face area. Overlines indicate a linear interpolation of the variable under consideration to face f, using the values computed at the neighbouring cells P and N. For an arbitrary variable  $\phi$ , the linear interpolation is written as

$$\phi_f = w_P \phi_P + (1 - w_P) \phi_N + \underbrace{\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x_j}}_{\text{skew correction}} m_j \qquad (2.60)$$

where

$$w_P = \frac{d_2}{d_1 + d_2} \qquad d_1 = \overrightarrow{Pf} \cdot \overrightarrow{S_f} \qquad d_2 = \overrightarrow{fN} \cdot \overrightarrow{S_f} \qquad \overrightarrow{m} = \overrightarrow{f'f} \qquad (2.61)$$

Symbols in eqs. 2.60 and 2.61 are explained in fig.2.4. For the sake of simplicity,

it will be assumed that vector  $\mathbf{m}$  has a negligible length compared to the vector connecting points P and N (low skewness values) and the last term on the r.h.s. of eq. 2.60 will be neglected hereafter. After numerically solving eq. 2.59, the new pressure field is acquired. The velocity field, computed at the mesh cell centres, is corrected based on the newly acquired pressure field

$$v_{P,i} = v_{P,i}^* + v_{P,i}' \Rightarrow$$

$$v_{P,i} = \hat{v}_{P,i} - \frac{1}{a_p} \frac{\partial p^*}{\partial x_j} - \frac{1}{a_P} \frac{\partial p'}{\partial x_j}$$

$$= \hat{v}_{P,i} - \frac{1}{a_P} \frac{\partial p}{\partial x_j}$$
(2.62)

Finally, the fluid volume flux at the mesh faces is updated through

$$m_f = v_{f,j} S_{f,j} = \overline{\hat{v}_{f,j}} S_{f,j} - \frac{1}{\overline{a_f}} \left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial x_j} S_j\right)_f$$
(2.63)

The normal pressure derivative at each face is evaluated as

$$\left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial x_j}S_j\right)_f = (p_N - p_P)\frac{n_{f,k}S_{f,k}}{n_{f,m}d_{PN,m}} + \overline{\frac{\partial p}{\partial x_j}}\Big|_f \left(S_{f,j} - \frac{n_{f,k}S_{f,k}}{n_{f,m}d_{PN,m}}d_{PN,j}\right)$$
(2.64)

where **n** is a unit vector, normal to face f and the rest of the symbols in eq. 2.65 are explained in 2.5. The normal pressure gradient at each face is evaluated as

$$\left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial x_j}S_j\right)_f = (p_N - p_P)\frac{n_{f,k}S_{f,k}}{n_{f,m}d_{PN,m}} + \overline{\frac{\partial p}{\partial x_j}}\Big|_f \left(S_{f,j} - \frac{n_{f,k}S_{f,k}}{n_{f,m}d_{PN,m}}d_{PN,j}\right)$$
(2.65)

where **n** is a unit vector, normal to face f and the rest of the symbols in eq. 2.65 are explained in fig. 2.5. To sum up, the steps of the SIMPLE algorithm used to solve the primal equations are:

- 1. Solve eq. 2.48 in order to acquire a velocity field,  $v_i^*$ . The computation of  $v_i^*$  is based on the pressure field  $p^*$  and the volume flux  $m_f$  (required for the computation of  $a_P$  and  $a_N$ ) of the previous iteration of the algorithm (or the initialization).
- 2. Compute  $\hat{v}_{P,i}$  through eq. 2.50 and interpolate its values to the cell faces using a linear interpolation scheme.
- 3. Solve eq. 2.59 to compute the pressure field p.
- 4. Update the volume flux  $m_f$  through eq. 2.63. The volume flux will be used in the solution of the momentum equations in the next iteration of the algorithm.

5. Explicitly relax the pressure field, i.e.,

$$p_{new} = \alpha p + (1 - \alpha)p^*$$

where  $\alpha$  is a user-defined relaxation factor. The new pressure field  $p_{new}$  will be used as  $p^*$  in step 1 of the next iteration of the algorithm.

- 6. Update the velocity fields  $v_i$  at the cell centres using the new pressure field  $p_{new}$ , eq. 2.62.
- 7. Solve the turbulence model equations, segregated from the mean flow ones.
- 8. If the desired level of convergence is met for all equations, terminate the run. Otherwise, go to step 1.



(a) The computational domain  $\Omega$  in the main case of interest. Side view.



(b) Bottom view of the computational domain. The inlet  $S_I$  is marked with a blue color and it is the inlet of the defroster nozzle. The outlet  $S_O$  is marked with red and it is an area close to the trunk of the car. The walls  $S_W$  are the remaining surfaces of the cabin.

**Figure 2.1:** Computational domain of the main model simulated. Definition of the inlet and outlet areas.



(a) Computational domain  $\Omega$  and target volume  $\Omega_{tar}$  in side view.



(b) Computational domain  $\Omega$  and target volume  $\Omega_{tar}$  in top view.

**Figure 2.2:** The thin target volume  $\Omega_{tar}$  where the objective function is computed is marked with red color.


**Figure 2.3:** Mesh cell, centered at P and one of its adjacent mesh cells centered at N. The two cells share a single face f [6]



**Figure 2.4:** Linear interpolation of the face value based on the adjacent cell values. Point f' is the intersection of the virtual segment  $\mathbf{d_{PN}}$  with the face centered at f. Vector  $\mathbf{m}$  connects points f' and f. The ratio  $|\mathbf{m}| / |\mathbf{d_{PN}}|$  is defined as the face skewness. The linearly interpolated value of a variable  $\phi$  at f is approximated by computing the value at f' and, then, correcting for face skewness using the last term on the r.h.s. of eq. 2.60. If the face skewness is small, points f' and f practically coincide and the skewness correction can be omitted [6].



Figure 2.5: Each internal mesh face belongs to two cells. The cell with the lower cell number is characterized as the "owner" of the face (P) and the other cell (N) becomes its "neighbour". The normal vector  $\mathbf{S}$ , dimensioned with the face area, points from P to N [6].

## Chapter 3

## Shape Morphing

### **3.1** Introduction to the morpher

As mentioned in chapter 1, a mesh parameterization and movement strategy is needed to perform an automated shape optimization loop. In our case, the shape morpher used is based on volumetric B–splines, which can be seen as a Free Form Deformation (FFD) method. The morpher is coupled with the adjoint solver of PCOpt/NTUA, [20].

Some of its main characteristics are the following:

- A box (3D space) is defined, where a structured grid of control points for volumetric B–splines is generated.
- The CFD mesh points included into the box are parameterized with these control points which are, finally, our design variables.
- The displacement of the control points in each optimization cycle, corresponds to a displacement of the surface and volume nodes of the CFD mesh.

### 3.2 Mathematical background

The FFD tool as presented in [20] makes use of B–splines defined in 3D space, the so–called volumetric B–splines. So as to understand its properties that give so many advantages to the morpher, a few mathematical details are explained, [22], [12], [20].

A B–spline is a generalization of the Bezier curve. It turns out that by adjusting the construction of Bézier curves slightly, we can produce pieces of polynomial curves that automatically tie together smoothly. These piecewise polynomial curves are called spline curves. In their simplest forms, both methods produce polynomial curves that can be expressed as

$$g(u) = \sum_{i=0}^{d} F_i(u)a_i$$
 (3.1)

where d is the polynomial degree,  $a_i$  are the coefficients and  $F_i(t)$  are the basis polynomials.

The difference between the two methods lies in the choice of basis polynomials, or equivalently, how given points relate to the final curve. For Bezier and spline curves, the coefficients are control points with the property that the curve itself lies inside the convex hull of the control points, while the basis polynomials are the Bernstein polynomials and B–splines, respectively. Although both methods are capable of generating any polynomial curve, their differences lead to different polynomial representations.

A Bezier curve or spline curve can conveniently be manipulated interactively by manipulating the curve's control points. It is also quite simple to link several Bezier curves smoothly together. Nevertheless, the disadvantage of Bezier curves is that the smoothness between neighbouring polynomial pieces can only be controlled by choosing the control points appropriately. In other words, the advantage of spline curves over Bezier curves is that smoothness between neighbouring polynomial pieces is built into the basis functions (B–splines) instead of being controlled by constraining control points according to specific rules.

#### 3.2.1 B–spline curves

A B-spline is a parameterized curve x(u) that is defined as a linear combination of  $b_i \in [0, n]$  control points and B-spline basis functions  $U_{i,p}(u)$  with a degree of p [22]. The curve is described as

$$x(u) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} U_{i,p}(u)b_i$$
(3.2)

Equation 3.2 can also be used to obtain the y(z) coordinates of a monoparametric curve in 2D(3D). A B-spline is a piecewise polynomial function of degree p. In order to define the basis function  $U_{i,p}$ , a set of knots which is a non decreasing sequence, known as the knot vector,  $\xi_i, i \in [0, m], m = n + p + 1$  must first be defined. The knots  $\xi_{p+1}, \ldots, \xi_{m-p-1}$  are called internal knots. A B-spline with no internal knots is a Bezier curve. The uniform knot vector is given as

$$\xi = [\underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{p+1}, \frac{1}{N}, \dots, \frac{N-1}{N}, \underbrace{1, \dots, 1}_{p+1}]$$
(3.3)

where N = n - p + 1. This knot vector results to closed curves, this means that we get curves that pass through the first and last control points. The number of control points has to exceed the curve degree by at least one, i.e.  $n \ge p$ . The basis function is given by

$$U_{i,0}(u) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \xi_i \le u < \xi_{i+1} \\ 0 & \text{elsewhere} \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

$$U_{i,p}(u) = \frac{u - \xi_i}{\xi_{i+p} - \xi_i} U_{i,p-1}(u) + \frac{\xi_{i+p+1} - u}{\xi_{i+p+1} - \xi_{i+p}} U_{i+1,p-1}(u)$$
(3.5)

During the computation of the basis functions values, the quotient  $\frac{0}{0}$  may appear and its value is defined to be 0. Two consecutive knots define a knot span.

The degree p determines the extent of the effect of control points. In other words, each basis function (and in consequence, each control point) is affecting only points with a parametric coordinate residing in the p + 1 knot spans defined by  $[\xi, \xi_{i+p+1})$ . This gives B–splines curves the desirable property of local support, i.e. a certain part of the curve can be altered by keeping the rest of the curve intact. The range of locality can be controlled by changing the curve degree p, where smaller p values correspond to more localized support. So, control points have a stronger attraction to the curve corresponding to the lower degree basis functions, as it can also be seen in fig. 3.1.

Knots can have a multiplicity greater than one [22], i.e. the representation 3.2 is therefore valid even if some of the knots occur several times. Since B-splines curves are piecewise polynomial functions, they are continuously differentiable in the interior of each knot span. The curve continuity is finite only at the knots. A curve is p - k times differentiable at a point where k duplicate knot values occur. This means that if the knots are all distinct, then a linear spline will be continuous, a quadratic spline will also have a continuous first derivative, while for a cubic spline even the second derivative will be continuous. Predetermining the curve (or surface in 3D) continuity is a very desirable property for a mesh movement algorithm as well, since the deformed shapes are guaranteed to have a user-defined level of surface continuity, facilitating the manufacturing process.

#### 3.2.2 Volumetric B–splines

The volumes in B–spline form based on B–spline basic functions are now analyzed. It is defined with all attributes as B–spline curve, however, here there are three parameters u, v, w and the definition is similar to the case of curves. The properties of B–spline volumes are similar to the properties of B–spline curves.

The cartesian coordinates  $\mathbf{x} = [x_1, x_2, x_3]^T = [x, y, z]^T$  of a CFD mesh point that is chosen to be parameterized, which means that it is residing inside the boundaries defined by the control grid, are given by

$$x_m(u, v, w) = \sum_{i=0}^{I} \sum_{j=0}^{J} \sum_{k=0}^{K} U_{i,pu}(u) V_{j,pv}(v) W_{k,pw}(w) b_m^{ijk}$$
(3.6)

where  $\mathbf{u} = [u_1, u_2, u_3]^T = [u, v, w]^T$  are the mesh point parametric coordinates, U, V, Ware the B-splines basis functions and pu, pv, pw their respective degrees. $b_m^{ijk}, m \in [1, 3], i \in [0, I], j \in [0, J], k \in [0, K]$ , signifies the cartesian coordinates of the ijk-th control point of the 3D structured control grid, where I, J and K are the number of control points per control grid direction.

As long as the parametric coordinates **u** of any parameterized point are known, the computation of its cartesian coordinates is straightforward, at a negligible computational cost. Mesh parametric coordinates can be computed with accuracy, since a mapping from  $\Re^3(x, y, z) \to \Re^3(u, v, w)$  is required. This means that volumetric B-splines can reproduce any geometry to machine accuracy. This is not, for instance, the case when using surface NURBS fitting, where an approximate mapping  $\Re^3(x, y, z) \to \Re^2(u, v)$  is performed.

Given the control points position, the knot vectors and the basis functions degrees, the parametric coordinates (u, v, w) of a point with cartesian coordinates  $\mathbf{r} = [x_r, y_r, z_r]^T$  can be computed by solving the system of equations

$$\mathbf{R}(u, v, w) = \begin{bmatrix} x(u, v, w) - x_r = 0\\ y(u, v, w) - y_r = 0\\ z(u, v, w) - z_r = 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.7)

where  $x_m(u, v, w)$  are computed through eq.3.6 based on the given **b** values. The  $3 \times 3$  system of eq.3.7 can be solved independently for each parameterized mesh point numerically, using the Newton-Raphson method, for which is necessary to compute and invert the Jacobian  $\frac{\partial x_m}{\partial u_j}$ ,  $m, j \in [1,3]$ . The Jacobian matrix is computed analytically through a closed form expression resulting by differentiating eq. 3.6 with respect to the components of **u**. Since the evaluation of the parametric coordinates of each point is independent from any other mesh point, this phase may run in parallel.

The aforementioned process has to be done only once and can be seen as the "training phase" of the method. Then, after moving the control points, the cartesian coordinates of each (internal of boundary) mesh point that resides within the control grid can easily be computed through eq. 3.6 at a very low cost. In addition, since  $x_m$  depends only on (u, v, w) (which remain unchanged whatever the change in **b** might be) and **b**, the deformed meshes are step-independent. This means that, for a given final control points position, the same mesh quality will be obtained independent of the number of steps taken to reach that position. This is not, for instance, the case

for RBF-based or Laplacian-based mesh movement algorithms.

### 3.3 Optimization Algorithm

To perform an automated CFD shape optimization loop for the defroster nozzle, as it is mentioned before, the in-house adjoint solver coupled with the in-house morpher was used,[20]. The steps of the shape optimization algorithm are listed below:

- 1. Define the 3D space (box) to enclose the part of the geometry to be optimized. Moreover, define the control points number and the basis functions degree according the logic explained above. A structured control grid is created.
- 2. Find the CFD mesh points residing within the control grid. These points are to be parameterized and then displaced, according to the control points displacement.
- 3. Compute the parametric coordinates for each of the points found in step 2. The computational cost of this step increases with the number of control points and the number of the mesh points to be parameterized.
- 4. Solve the flow equations.
- 5. Compute the objective function value and apply the termination criterion.
- 6. Solve the adjoint equations.
- 7. Compute the objective function gradient w.r.t. the boundary CFD mesh nodes to be displaced, i.e.  $\frac{\delta F}{\delta x_m}$  (surface sensitivities).
- 8. Project the surface sensitivities to control points in order to compute the control points sensitivities,

$$\frac{\delta F}{\delta b_i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n_p} \sum_{m=1}^3 \frac{\delta F}{\delta x_m^j} \frac{\delta x_m^j}{\delta b_i}$$
(3.8)

where  $n_p$  is the number of boundary mesh points to be displaced. In the general case, the control points are allowed to move on all the three directions, however it is possible to confine the displacement in one, or even two directions. As it was previously mentioned, one of the beneficial properties of B-splines is that smoothing is included in the nature of the basis functions. Consequently, no smoothing of the computed sensitivities is required. The quantity  $\frac{\delta x_m^j}{\delta b_i}$  is computed analytically by differentiating the linear eq. 3.6 w.r.t.  $b_i$ .

9. Update the control point coordinates. In this thesis, the steepest descent formula is used,

$$b_i^l = b_i^{l-1} - \eta \frac{\delta F}{\delta b_i} \Big|_{l-1} \tag{3.9}$$

where  $\eta$  is a positive number that defines the step of the descent and l is the current iteration. Apart from the steepest descent method, there are also other algorithms based on the gradient of the objective function or even on the Hessian matrix, such as quasi–Newton methods like BFGS, Newton method, conjugate gradient, etc [24], [29], [13]. The boundary points of the control grid are kept fixed in order to prevent an overlapping between the parameterized and non–parameterized areas of the CFD mesh.

- 10. Compute the new surface and volume mesh points positions, using the already computed parametric coordinates associated with each one of them.
- 11. Move to step 4.



(c) *B*-splines curves generated by the top row basis functions for the given set of control points

**Figure 3.1:** On the top row graphs, for each u, the sum of the basis functions values equals unity. On the third graph, two *B*-splines curves generated by multiplying the basis functions in the top graphs with the control points depicted by the control polyline. The cartesian coordinates of the curve are given by eq. 3.2, for  $b^i = [b^i_x, b^i_y]^T$ , 2D vector of control points. The curve corresponding to lower degree basis functions is more strongly attracted by the control points.

### Chapter 4

# Simplified Study with Validation: Isolated Defroster Nozzle

Simulation methods have become more prominent at different stages of vehicle development programs. One of the major concerns with simulations is the accuracy of the results. Experimental validation data is required to build confidence in the simulation results, [9].

The main challenges one has to tackle in order to achieve reliable CFD results is to have a good quality of mesh that suits the physics of the fluid problem and an appropriate flow solver. In order to get validate CFD on a simple case with low computational cost before heading to the main target of the adjoint based optimization of the defroster nozzle, an intermediate step was necessary. For that reason, a pressure measurement of the duct was performed and the equivalent CFD model and simulation were realized. The results were compared and the CFD process was successfully validated.

At this point, it is essential to keep in mind that a steady flow solver is used though, in some parts of the domain, unsteadiness may appear. This can be observed looking at the fluctuations of the residuals of equations. However, the study of an unsteady flow has high computational cost and it is decided herein to stick only with steady flow simulations. The convergence using the steady–state solvers for both the primal and the adjoint problem is more than satisfactory, as shown in the following sections.

#### 4.1 Measurement Setup and Results

The pressure measurement of the duct was performed according to the method described below. The measurement setup is based on the use of a pressurized mini chamber. A mini chamber with dimensions of  $1 \times 1 \times 1$  m is made. A smaller box  $(0.15 \times 0.2 \times 0.4)$  m is attached to it so as to help the positioning (connection) of

the defroster nozzle, and also facilitate the transition of the flow to the nozzle. The static pressure measurement location is the center point of the upper face of the chamber. This point was chosen as no intense flow phenomena happen there. The static pressure is almost equal to the total pressure at this point of measurement, since very little low velocity air is expected to reach the upper and lower sides of the pressurized chamber<sup>1</sup>. This hypothesis will later be confirmed by CFD. During the measurement, four different airflow volumes have been applied (using a throttle valve to adjust the airflow), and the resulting pressure was measured. The airflow was provided by a fan, connected to a callibrated bellmouth (conical inlet nozzle) so as to have an accurate control of the airflow. The air is trasferred from the fan outlet to the chamber by means of a flexible hose. The airflow is computed using the pressure drop across the setup, from the inlet (atmospheric pressure) to the point of measurement, measured with a manometer. This pressure indicated by the manometer is the pressure used for the comparison of results. The setup can be seen in fig 4.1.

In order to validate the pressure for different conditions, two cases were measured, see fig.4.1. In the first case, the outlets of the duct where all open. In the second one, the side outlets were taped.



**Figure 4.1:** Setup of the pressure measurement. It includes a mini chamber with dimensions of  $1 \times 1 \times 1$  m. A smaller box  $(0.15 \times 0.2 \times 0.4)$  m is attached to it, on its right side, in order to facilitate the transition of the flow towards the nozzle itself. The static pressure measurement location is the center point of the upper face of the chamber.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Bernoulli's principle:  $p_t = p_{st} + \frac{1}{2}\rho u^2 + \rho gz \approx p_{st}$  for this case.

	Pressure Measurement Cases	
	$1^{st}$ case: all outlets open	$2^{nd}$ case: side outlets closed
Airflow volume $(m^3/h)$	100	100
	150	150
	200	200
	250	250

 Table 4.1: Cases for which static pressure was measured.

### 4.2 Meshing and Simulation

So as to validate the CFD method an accurate mesh model of the measurement process had to be produced. For that reason, a mesh that included the chamber, the transition mini box and the inner skin (inside walls of the CAD) of the defroster nozzle was developed. The inlet patch was determined as the circular disk that corresponded to the area of connection between the tube of the fan and the mini chamber. The outlet patches for the first case were the main outlets of defroster nozzle that guide the air to the windshield and its side outlets that guide the air to the side defrosters. The outlet patches for the second case were only the main outlets of the defroster.

In each simulation, the inlet Dirichlet boundary condition for velocity was calculated according to the corresponding value of the airflow volume. Wall boundary conditions were provided by the standard high–Re wall functions of the OpenFOAM CFD toolbox, for k and  $\epsilon$ .

As the aforementioned geometry of the model is symmetrical, to reduce the computational cost only half of the flow system is modeled, by applying symmetry conditions. The resulting mesh which is stretched in the areas of the most intense flow phenomena, for the first case shown in fig.4.2 has 2539325 cells, of which 552602 are prisms, 1574 are pyramids and the rest 1985149 are tetrahedra. For the second case, that is slightly different due to the layers along the former side outlets that are now considered to be wall patches, the mesh has 2363873 cells of which 554092 are prisms, 1598 are pyramids and 1808183 are tetrahedra. The mesh was provided by BETA CAE Systems to TME.

The simulation was run until the convergence criteria were satisfied, namely for about 20000 iterations. A solution is considered to be converged when the flow vector and scalar fields are no longer changing, but usually this is not the case for unsteady flows. Most flows in nature and industrial applications are highly unsteady. A good practice to check the convergence is to monitor the residuals. The residual measures how much the approximate solution fails to satisfy the governing differential equation and boundary conditions. However, as in some cases it is possible that the residuals cannot reach full convergence, it is advisable to also monitor a physical quantity



**Figure 4.2:** Views of the mesh model used to simulate the pressure measurement. The inlet is at the bottom, a circular half disk (with the same diameter as the flexible hose of the test) which is providing the airflow corresponding to each measurement, that flows through the chamber and exits through the outlets of the defroster nozzle. The outlets for the  $1^{st}$  case are all the outlets of the duct, while for the  $2^{nd}$  the side outlets are sealed.

representative of the case. If this physical quantity does not significantly change in time (in the case of a steady-state problem) we may say that the solution is converged. In these CFD runs the pressure at the point of the measurements during the tests seems the most appropriate quantity to monitor. The convergence graphs for one of the above mentioned simulations that were run (two cases of four airflows each) are shown in fig. 4.3. The convergence of the physical quantities in this thesis are focused on the last thousands of iterations only, in order to show the small changes that happen as steady-state is approached. Also, the scale is normalized. The physical quantity value is divided by the maximum value monitored along the run and the percentage is presented.

For visualization of the simulations run in OpenFOAM, the ParaView software was used. The post–processing figures in fig. 4.4, show the velocity and pressure distributions for one of the above cases.

#### 4.3 Comparison between CFD and measurement

Comparing the CFD results with the measurement the result is a very good agreement as can be seen in tab. 4.2. In the first case, the comparison shows almost identical results, however, in the second case where the side outlets of the nozzle are closed, the pressure measured is constantly smaller than the CFD pressure at the same point. This can easily be justified because the use of tape to seal the outlets does not assure the closure to be watertight, so leakage is highly possible. The higher the airflow, the more the tape is vulnerable resulting to bigger leakage. That is the reason why the deviation percentage is continuously increasing with airflow. As a consequence, the correlation results are considered as very accurate and justifiable. Another way to visualize the good correspondance between CFD and measurement can be seen in fig. 4.5 where the errors of the performed test due to the measuring tools accuracy, are also taken into account.

Airflow	Deviation	Deviation
volume	(%) for	(%) for
$(m^3/h)$	$1^{st}$ case	$2^{nd}$ case
100	+1	+5
150	+0	+7
200	+0	+8
250	+1	+9

**Table 4.2:** Deviation of CFD and measurement for static pressure. The point of measurement is the center of the upper side of the chamber. In all the cases the pressure from the CFD simulation was slighly higher than the corresponding pressure measured. The  $1^{st}$  case refers to the measurements taken while having all the outlets of the nozzle open, while the  $2^{nd}$  case refers to the measurements taken while having only the main outlets open and the side outlets closed with tape.



(a) Non-dimensional residuals are reduced by more than 4 orders of magnitude



(b) Convergence of pressure at the point of measurement. The graph is focused on the last thousands of iterations where, the point of interest has reached the steady-state solution. The pressure in the y – axis is normalised, by being divided by its maximum value that appeared during the run.

**Figure 4.3:** The convergence graphs shown are specifically for the first case where all outlets were open and for the first airflow volume of  $100m^3/h$ . The graphs concerning the other cases were similar to these.



**Figure 4.4:** The above figures refer to the first simulation run, that of the  $1^{st}$  case, for airflow volume of  $100m^3/h$ . Blue corresponds to lower values while red corresponds to higher. In the first two figures, pressure and velocity distributions accross a plane of the CFD model are shown. The third figure shows the streamlines emitted from seed points at the inlet of the domain to the outlet. There is a recirculation of low velocity air close to the side–walls the pressurized box, though the main airflow is directed towards the nozzle.



**Figure 4.5:** Correlation of CFD and measurement results. Pressure is normalized to the highest pressure measured by CFD. The CFD results on the  $1^{st}$  case (all outlets open) are not only within the range of the errors of the test but they almost coincide with the measured static pressure. On the  $2^{nd}$  case (side outlets closed), the CFD results are not within the accepted range. The CFD pressure was found to be constantly a bit higher than the measured one. This can be justified due to small leakage from the taped outlets. However, even in this case, the correlation is considered as quite good.

### Chapter 5

# Full Model Study with Validation: Defroster Nozzle & Cabin

The main target of this diploma thesis is to improve the demisting and defogging performance of a car. To be able to proceed to the optimization process, it is firstly necessary to solve the primal problem so to simulate the flow under consideration. The blower of the HVAC unit provides the defroster nozzle with an airflow which directs hot and high velocity air jets towards the windshield. Afterwards, the air flows to the whole cabin of the car and exits through a flap, located in the rear of the passenger compartment, to the outside. This case will undergo CFD–based simulation.

### 5.1 Measurement Setup and Results

To begin with, it is important to somehow verify the validity of the CFD results also in the main case of interest. The target is to achieve good accuracy of the computation of the velocity pattern on the windshield. For that reason, a measurement using hot–wire anemometer has been performed, so as to experimentally measure the velocity field in the vicinity of the defroster nozzle jet flow and windshield interior surface [8], [9]. Hot–wire anemometry provides quantitative velocity measurements that are useful for determining defroster and windshield air flow and validating the numerical simulations, according to [9],[5]. To setup the test, a grid with 100mm spacing is drawn on the windshield,[8], fig. 5.1a. The HVAC blower is controlled by constant voltage with external power supply so that the defroster nozzle is provided with constant airflow during the experiment. Velocity is measured at each point of the grid using the hot wire anemometer, fig. 5.1b. The velocity cannot be measured on the exact surface of the windshield, since this is zero due to the no–slip condition It will be measured at a number of points located on a surface 7mm away. This distance comes from the fact that the hot–wire anemometer is laid on the inner surface of the windshield and this results having the tip of the measuring tool 7mm away from the windshield. It happens, also, that this is the standard depth where the hot–wire measurements are carried out according to [8].



(a) Measurement grid from the outside.



(b) Measurement with hot-wire anemometer.



(c) Measurement grid from the inside.

Figure 5.1: Setup of the velocity pattern measurement.

The measured velocity pattern shown in fig 5.8b is not symmetrical because the instrument panel is asymmetrical. On the driver's side, the meter close to the steering wheel is creating this asymmetry that is affecting the flow exiting from the defroster nozzle, towards the windshield. Moreover, on our simulation we consider the HVAC blower to provide uniform flow, which is the ideal case, but this does not happen in reality. To be more accurate, the whole HVAC unit should have been included in the simulation [27] however this would have big computational and timing cost. Futhermore, another reason why the two compared patterns are not identical is that the possible error of the hot–wire anemometer and the flow disturbance effects caused by it, see fig. 5.1b, also affect the flow. Also, during the measurement, the side outlets of the defroster that provide with hot air the passengers (face outlets) through the side ducts, were taped so leakage is highly possible. Last but not least, in a real car, there is air leakage through the doors and other parts, so the mass flow finally available to the windshield through the defroster is significantly lower than the one provided from the blower. For all these reasons, we expect the velocity pattern provided by the CFD run to be different with the measured one, to have bigger range of velocities and be more symmetrical. However, in general it should give a similar pattern qualitatively.

### 5.2 Meshing and Simulation

To obtain sufficiently accurate CFD results, it is vital to create a good quality mesh. A good mesh means that it has a good description of the surface of the important, at least, geometries included. Furthermore, it means that it should comply with some quality criteria that vary according to the CFD solver used.

In the current case, to speed up building the model, CAD data was only used for parts where high accuracy was needed (defroster nozzle, windshield, instrument pannel on the outlet of the nozzle, mirror) fig. 5.2. Already available laser scanned surface data is used for the rest of interior. This procedure was followed, because the process of gathering and handling the dozens of the CAD parts included in the cabin of the car can be very time consuming. Furthermore, dealing with the CAD data demands to isolate the inner skin of the parts, before meshing, which is not a trivial task. Last but not least, since according to [4] interior vehicle surface geometry can be simplified to reduce simulation time while keeping acceptable accuracy, the aforementioned procedure is justified.

After geometry clean–up, CAD data was precisely stitched to STL data. Mesh refinement boxes are defined to achieve high accuracy where needed while balancing overall computational cost, [27]. In that way, multiple mesh regions are created in order to accomodate different mesh size in the front cabin, where finer mesh was applied for better accuracy, while in the rear part coarser mesh was chosen. In this model, the inlet patch of the defroster nozzle was set as the inlet patch of the whole cabin flow and as outlet, a rectangular patch at the trunk of the car was created. The resulting mesh has 8399341 cells of which 2435602 are prisms, 7958 are pyramids and the rest 5955781 are tetrahedra fig. 5.3b. The surface mesh consists of 624470 cells. The mesh was provided by BETA CAE Systems to TME.



**Figure 5.2:** CAD data of the important parts of the model: defroster nozzle, instrument panel outlet, windshield, mirror.

The boundary condition for velocity imposed at the inlet is dictated by the corresponding airflow applied during the measurement. The Reynolds number of the flow is approximately 20000, based on inlet hydraulic diameter. Wall boundary conditions were provided by the standard high–Re wall functions of the OpenFOAM CFD toolbox for k and  $\epsilon$ .

The solution was converged after 40000 iterations when the convergence criteria were satisfied. Apart from the convergence of the residuals, the corresponding mesh node of one point of the grid that was created at the test (shown in fig. 5.1c) was tracked and its velocity magnitude was monitored during the run. The corresponding graphs are presented in fig. 5.4.

The results where post-processed in order to visualize the flow in the cabin and especially close to the area of interest, i.e. the windshield. The streamlines near the windshield can be seen in fig. 5.5 The flow fields on a cross section can be seen in fig. 5.6. The highest magnitude of velocity and the highest absolute pressure are inside the defroster duct and, then, close to the windshield. In the rest of the cabin there are no intense flow phenomena, as expected.

The velocity pattern close to the windshield was also visualised in order to be able to evaluate it and decide the optimization target (objective function) in a way to improve it. As it can be seen in fig. 5.7, the current pattern has low velocity air reaching its upper part, delaying the defrosting process.

### 5.3 Validation of the Velocity Pattern

The results of the CFD simulation are then post-processed to extract the value of the magnitude of velocity at the grid points that we created during the test, [27]. The two resulting 2D velocity distributions shown in fig. 5.8 are then, compared



(b) Computational mesh of the model with almost 9 million cells. The darkest areas correspond to more dense surface and volume mesh, where high accuracy is needed. This was achieved using refinement boxes.

**Figure 5.3:** CFD model and mesh. The inlet to the computational domain is the inlet to the defroster nozzle, while the outlet is a rectangular patch at the rear of the cabin.

and the comparison between the CFD and test results is judged as good enough, given the above mentioned problems of non–symmetry, the leakage, the errors of the measurement and the flow disturbance effects that come from the holding of the measuring tool by hand. CFD analysis results and measured results are in good agreement and similar pattern can be observed visually. Consequently, the CFD simulation provided a quite accurate solution of the flow and that allows to proceed to the next step, the solution of the adjoint equations.



(a) Non-dimensional residuals are reduced by more than 5 orders of magnitude. The fluctuations of the residuals are due to the use of a steady state solver (for reasons of reducing the computational cost), even though slight unsteadiness appears in the flow.



(b) Velocity magnitude at one corresponding point of the grid created during the measurement, close to the windshield. The graph is focused on the last thousands of iterations where, even though the residuals are fluctuating, the area of interest (close to the windshield) has reached the steady-state solution. The velocity magnitude in the y – axis is normalised, by being divided by its maximum value that appeared during the run.

**Figure 5.4:** Convergence of the primal problem. The residuals and the convergence of the velocity magnitude close to the windshield are satisfactory.



(b) Streamlines near the windshield.

(c) Streamlines on the windshield.

**Figure 5.5:** Streamlines emitted from seed points at the defroster inlet, indicate the presence of small vortices of low velocity air at the bottom of the windshield, below the level where the jet flow starts to be attached to the windshield. The jet flow stays attached almost up to the level of the rear view mirror where it starts again to recirculate.



(a) Pressure distribution accross the symmetry plane. Inside the cabin, pressure is almost zero while in the duct, pressure takes "big negative" values in some areas and "big positive" in some others.



(b) Velocity distribution accross the symmetry plane. Inside the cabin, the magnitude of velocity is almost zero while in the duct and close to the windshield, it reaches quite high values.

**Figure 5.6:** Flow fields distributions across the symmetry plane. The color scale used, indicates low values with blue color, medium with green and high with red.



**Figure 5.7:** Velocity pattern close to the windshield provided by the CFD run. The velocity magnitude contours shown are on a plane 7mm away from the inner surface of the windshield. The air velocity distribution is colored indicating the low velocity areas with blue color and the high velocity areas with red. It is obvious that the coverage is considerably weak at the upper part of the windshield where low velocity air reaches, while in the lower part, close to the defroster nozzle outlets, the velocity is quite high.



(a) 2D velocity pattern from CFD, extracting only the velocity magnitude on the same points used in the experimental measurements,



**Figure 5.8:** Comparison between CFD and measurement for the velocity pattern close to the windshield. The axes are indicating the position on the 2D grid created during the measurement (see fig. 5.1). The values collected for each figure, from both CFD and measurement, are interpolated for better visualization. The two figures have a few differences, however, qualitatively they give the same velocity distribution. In both experimental and CFD study, higher flow velocity is observed on the driver side of the windshield rather than the passenger side, as expected. In general CFD analysis showed the same trend with test data, using visual observation.

### Chapter 6

## CFD-based Optimization of Defroster Nozzle

### 6.1 Solution of the Adjoint Equations and Sensitivity Map

The velocity patten acquired from both the CFD simulation and measurement, as mentioned in the previous chapter, reflects the weaknesses of the current defrost pattern. It is logical and also suggested by papers such as [10] that ideally the airflow velocity distribution close to the surface of the windshield should be homogenous in order to facilitate defrosting performance. Also, spottiness is not desirable from the driver point of view. For these reasons the value of the target velocity is selected to be constant all over the windshield in order to boost uniformity of the optimized velocity pattern. Moreover, the fact that the upper part of the windshield has currently low velocity air reaching it, it is a drawback for defogging performance which has to be tackled through the optimization process.

Consequently, in order to force the pattern to improve, tackling these weaknesses, we first set as target velocity a constant velocity  $v_{tar}$  and as the target volume (the volume in which the objective function is computed), an offset windshield 7mm away of the inner surface of the real one, that has a thickness of 20mm. The cells that happen to reside inside the defined target volume are those where the objective function is finally computed. The target volume can be seen in fig. 6.1.

After defining our target velocity and target volume we are ready to proceed with the solution of the adjoint equations and the acquisition of the sensitivity map. The adjoint solver is let to run for a few thousands of iterations until the residuals become quite low (below  $10^{-7}$ ) and the adjoint fields are stabilized, see fig.6.3. The maximum values of adjoint velocity and adjoint pressure can also indicate convergence, so they are monitored during the run. The sensitivity derivatives are then calculated for the defroster nozzle, that is the area which will be morphed.



(a) Target volume side view.

(b) Target volume top view.

Figure 6.1: Target volume is an offset windshield 7mm away from the the real one, with thickness of 20mm, and it is the volume where the objective function is computed. It includes 660104 cells of the computational domain. The target velocity  $v_{tar}$  is defined as a constant velocity magnitude for all the target volume.

The resulting sensitivity map can be seen in fig. 6.2. Blue color indicates areas (cells) that should be pulled outwards while red indicates areas to be pushed inwards in order to achieve a better velocity distribution on the windshield.

A sensitivity map illustrates the derivatives of the objective function w.r.t. the normal displacement of the wall boundary nodes of the selected shape. Sensitivity maps, in general, are used to highlight the areas where aerodynamic improvement has the greatest potential and are a valuable tool for the designer, even if automatic optimization is not applied.

Consequently, the sensitivity map is used to indicate the areas where a shape change can have great impact in the flow. However, morphing the geometry using raw information given to the sensitivity map is impractical, since it is quite noisy. In order to compute the exact displacement of each point of the mesh (or each control point, in our case) the steepest descent algorithm is used. Moreover, the parameterization of the area to be morphed is performed using B-splines that have the property to also smooth the computed sensitivities.

#### Automated Runs 6.2

For the automated optimization process, a tool developed by PCOpt/NTUA is again used. The in-house adjoint solver developed in OpenFOAM is coupled with a mesh parameterization and movement strategy based on volumetric B-splines, as analyzed in chapter 3. After setting up the optimization and solver parameters, the loop is running until the termination criteria are met (for example maximum number of iterations) or until a non–acceptable mesh (in terms of quality) is produced.

Several optimization runs were performed until the most suitable new shape of the defroster nozzle was produced. The runs differed in their parameterization, the parameterized area and the target volume. The need to perform several optimization



(b) Shape sensitivities on the back side of the duct.

**Figure 6.2:** Shape sensitivities indicate the change of the objective function F due to normal discplacement of cells on the design boundary, in this case of the inside walls of the defroster duct  $(\frac{\delta F}{\delta n_i})$ . Here, blue highlights areas to be pulled outwards while red areas to be pushed inwards so as to decrease the value of F, in other words to come closer to the target.

runs, instead of only one, derives from the necessity of selecting the appropriate parameterization setup that gives more optimization potential, but most importantly it is due to the fact that the manufacturing and the topology constraints are not included in the optimization. At the end of each automated run, those are taken into consideration, as the new candidate shape for the defroster nozzle has to be manufacturable and fit inside the assembly of its neighbouring parts.

**Run 1** The first run was a first attempt to get familiar with the setup of the automated chain process and to get some initial results. The selection box that includes the area to be parameterized and to be morphed, includes the defroster duct only, excluding the areas of its inlet and outlet. A control grid of  $3 \times 7 \times 9$  control points with degrees of  $p_u = 2, p_v = 3, p_w = 3$  respectively was used, fig. 6.5.

Only the red control points are allowed to move. The rest are defined as frozen, so as to prevent overlapping between the parameterized and non-parameterized points of the duct and, also, to preserve fixed the inlet and outlet areas. The structured grid (control box) included 497521 mesh points. The displacement of the control points is confined in the Z direction so as to prevent overlapping of the mesh points.

Convergence is seen in fig 6.6. The mesh displacement in the final  $(14^{th})$  shape leads to 55% decrease in the objective function, fig. 6.6. The comparison of the two new shapes, along with the comparison of the  $v - v_{tar}$  fields on the target volume are shown in fig. 6.7.

**Run 2** The parameterization setup was exactly as in Run 1, fig. 6.8. However, in this loop, it was first tried to change the target volume. In some previous trial loops it happened that the objective function was decreasing during the optimization cycles, however the resulting pattern showed that this was achieved by decreasing the high velocities at the bottom of the volume only, instead of also increasing the low velocities at its top. So one of the two targets, which are uniformity and higher velocities at the top, was not achieved. To strengthen the second and more important target and make it more clear to the optimization, only the upper part of the previous target volume was used.

The convergence of the optimization loop as well as the 17% decrease in the objective function that is given by the  $10^{th}$  shape produced can be seen in fig 6.9. Moreover, the comparison of the two new shapes, along with the comparison of the  $v - v_{tar}$  fields on the target volume are shown in the following fig. 6.10.

Compared to the previous run, the objective function drop is less, even though the setup of the control points remains the same. That is due to the fact that using only the upper half of the windshield as target volume, we strictly express the necessity to increase the velocity magnitude there, rather than over the whole windshield, which is more difficult to accomplish.

**Run 3** This run is applied by putting an extra restriction to the displacement of the control points. Their allowed displacement is defined by averaging the displacement of all the control points residing in an iso-x, iso-y and iso-z plane. In other words, for example, all the control points laying in an iso-x plane are displaced in the x-direction using the averaged x-component of their sensitivity derivatives. That contributes in producing smoother shapes.

The selection box and the control grid of  $3 \times 7 \times 9$  control points with basis function order set to  $p_u = 2, p_v = 3, p_w = 3$  respectively can be seen in fig. 6.11. The control grid encloses 526157 mesh points. The displacement of the control points is confined in the Z direction.

The loop convergence graph is shown on fig. 6.12 according to which the last

produced shape, the  $12^{th}$  geometry, achieves 46% drop of the objective function. The produced new shape compared to the initial one, as well as their  $v - v_{tar}$  fields on the target volume can be seen in fig. 6.13

Compared to the previous run, the objective function has decreased significantly (even though the averaging of the displacements could imply less optimization potential) due to the fact that the back row of the control points is now active, giving the ability to deform bigger part of the initial geometry. The back row was previously frozen to prevent overlapping of the mesh there. However, in this run, with this setup, this problem does not appear.

**Run 4** In this run, averaging is of the displacements per iso-plane is applied too, however compared to the previous run, the differences are that the displacement of the control points is also confined in the Y direction, and that only the very top row of control points is frozen, instead of the two top rows that are frozen in the previous run. The parameterization setup was exactly as in Run 3, fig. 6.14.

The last produced shape, the  $2^{nd}$  geometry, achieves 43% drop of the objective function. The produced new shape compared to the initial one, as well as their  $v - v_{tar}$  fields on the target volume can be seen in fig. 6.15.

This optimization run produces only one new shape as the  $3^{rd}$  mesh overlapps. Consequently, the quality check fails and the run is terminated. Nevertheless, even in one optimization cycle, the objective function achieves an impressive drop, due to the fact that only the top row of control points is frozen, letting more nodes close to the outlet of the nozzle to move. This displacement appears to have great impact on the flow near the windshield.

### 6.3 Selection and manufacture of the new defroster nozzle using rapid prototyping–Validation with defrost test

From the above automated runs and the final new geometries produced, the most suitable new shape, improving significantly the velocity distribution on the windshield, is the one resulting from the  $4^{th}$  run. Its surfaces are very smooth, so it is appropriate for manufacturing, and also the corresponding STL when placed in the position of the initial defroster nozzle, in the assembly of its neighbouring CAD parts, it fits. Consequently, this geometry is appropriate to be manufactured using rapid propotyping and, then, placed in the vehicle to be validated with a defrost test.

Rapid prototyping techniques are common for quickly fabricating models of parts, appropriate for many uses, including testing. In this case, 3D printing is

used to fabricate the candidate new defroster nozzle shape, provided in STL format. The accuracy of the process is sufficiently high, giving a prototype suitable for our purpose. The prototype is properly placed in the test vehicle, replacing the initial defroster nozzle.

#### 6.3.1 Defrost Tests

Windshield defrost patterns are obtained from cold room testing [9], [4]. To validate the improved defrosting and demisting efficiency of the new defroster nozzle shape, compared to the initial one, defrost tests for each defroster nozzle are performed.

To reproduce cold start condition, the vehicle is soaked for 6 hours at a temperature of  $-20^{\circ}C$ , in TME's climatic chamber. Following the soak, a humiditity generator of capacity 360g/h was used to form a frost layer on the windshield for another 30min. Then, the vehicle's engine is started, the defrost option is turned on and the defrost test commenced. The pattern is recorded every few minutes and the windshield is marked from the inside to indicate clearance areas.

The melting pattern for the original and the improved defrosters, for two different time milestones are shown in fig. 6.16. In every instant recorded, the new defroster nozzle geometry gives a bigger clearance zone compared to the initial one. At the end, the new geometry results in clearing the windshield completely, in 15% less time than the initial defroster nozzle.


(a) Non-dimensional residuals are reduced by more than 7 orders of magnitude.



(b) Adjoint velocity magnitude at one point of the grid created during the measurement, close to the windshield. The graph is focused on the last thousands of iterations where, the area of interest (close to the windshield) has reached the steady-state solution. The adjoint velocity magnitude in the y-axis is normalised, by being divided by its maximum value that appeared during the run.

**Figure 6.3:** Convergence of the adjoint problem. The residuals and the convergence of the velocity magnitude close to the windshield are satisfactory.



(a) Adjoint pressure distribution accross the symmetry plane.



(b) Adjoint velocity distribution accross the symmetry plane.

**Figure 6.4:** Flow fields distributions accross the symmetry plane. The scale color used, indicates low values with blue color, medium with green and high with red. The adjoint variables are almost zero inside the cabin, but close to the the duct and the windshield they take greater values as these areas have an impact on the flow in the target volume.



**Figure 6.5:** *Run 1:* The boundaries of the control box as well as the active (red) and the frozen (blue) control points define the mesh points to be parameterized and displaced. The frozen control points help to avoid overlapping of the mesh between the parameterized and the non-parameterized areas. In this case, the back row, the two top rows and the two bottom rows of control points remain frozen.



Figure 6.6: Run 1: Evolution of the objective function during the optimization.



(f) Final pattern.

**Figure 6.7:** Run 1: In the first row, the control grid nodes are colored based on the v coordinate while in the second row, based on the u. The final shape has many bumps and undercuts so it is not suitable for mass production. However, some of the previous shapes, of previous optimization cycles, could be manifactured as they have smaller displacement compared to the initial shape. The field shown on the target volume is  $v - v_{tar}$  in which green areas correspond to areas where the target velocity magnitude  $v_{tar}$  was reached, blue to areas with lower air velocity and red to areas with greater air velocity than the target. Consequently, looking at the last row, the comparison between the two patterns shows improvement in the coverage of the upper part of the windshield, as well as increased uniformity.



**Figure 6.8:** *Run 2:* The boundaries of the control box as well as the active (red) and the frozen (blue) control points define the mesh points to be parameterized and displaced. The frozen control points help to avoid overlapping of the mesh between the parameterized and the non-parameterized areas. In this case, the back row, the two top rows and the two bottom rows of control points remain frozen.



Figure 6.9: Run 2: Evolution of the objective function during the optimization.



(f) Final pattern.

Figure 6.10: Run 2: In the first row, the control grid nodes are colored based on the v coordinate while in the second row, based on the u. The final shape produced has many intense curves and undercuts so it seems inappropriate for mass production. The features created could not be molded using a single pull mold so the suggested shape could not be easily manfactured. The field shown on the target volume is  $v - v_{tar}$ in which green areas correspond to areas where the target velocity magnitude  $v_{tar}$  was reached, blue to areas with lower air velocity and red to areas with greater air velocity than the target. The objective function is not much reduced and this is reflected on the result on the target volume. The coverage on the upper part of the windshield is slighly improved, however there is more potential.



Figure 6.11: Run 3: The boundaries of the control box as well as the active (red) and the frozen (blue) control points define the mesh points to be parameterized and displaced. The frozen control points help to avoid overlapping of the mesh between the parameterized and the non-parameterized areas. In this case, the side rows, the two top rows and the two bottom rows of control points remain frozen.



Figure 6.12: Run 3: Evolution of the objective function during the optimization.



(f) Final pattern.

**Figure 6.13:** Run 3: In the first row, the control grid nodes are colored based on the v coordinate while in the second row, based on the u. The final control points position indicates the fact that their displacement per iso-plane is averaged. In other words, the right figures show that the active control points that belong to the same iso-plane have the same displacement in that direction, that resulted from the averaging of the component of the sensitivity derivatives on that plane, producing a smoother shape. The field shown on the target volume is  $v - v_{tar}$  in which green areas correspond to areas where the target velocity magnitude  $v_{tar}$  was reached, blue to areas with lower air velocity and red to areas with greater air velocity than the target. The resulting pattern is much improved as the target velocity reaches almost the top of the windshield (target volume).



Figure 6.14: Run 4: The boundaries of the control box as well as the active (red) and the frozen (blue) control points define the mesh points to be parameterized and displaced. The frozen control points help to avoid overlapping of the mesh between the parameterized and the non-parameterized areas. In this case, the side rows, two top row and the two bottom rows of control points remain frozen.



(f) Final pattern.

**Figure 6.15:** Run 4: In the first row, the control grid nodes are colored based on the v coordinate while in the second row, based on the u. The final shape is very smooth , due to the averaging per iso-plane of the displacements of the control points and it seems to be suitable for mass production. The field shown on the target volume is  $v - v_{tar}$  in which green areas correspond to areas where the target velocity magnitude  $v_{tar}$  was reached, blue to areas with lower air velocity and red to areas with greater air velocity than the target. Consequently, looking at the last row, the comparison between the two patterns shows improvement in the coverage of the upper part of the windshield, as well as increased uniformity. The target is reached on the majority of the cells of the target volume.



(c) Original duct, second time milestone.

(d) Final duct, second time milestone.

**Figure 6.16:** Defrost test of the original and the improved defroster nozzle shapes. The melting pattern is recorded and marked on the inside surface of the windshield every few minutes. The patterns in the above figures are compared for the same time milestones, proving the improved defrosting efficiency of the optimized shape. Finally, the windshield, with the new defroster nozzle shape, is completely clear in 15% less time compared to the original shape.

## Chapter 7

## Summary–Conclusions

In this diploma thesis, shape optimization using the continuous adjoint method, developed by the PCOpt Unit of NTUA, was applied to the defroster nozzle, part of the HVAC unit, of a Toyota passenger car. The high importance of the geometry of this nozzle, as far as the demisting and defogging of the windshield is concerned, led to the investigation of its shape optimization potential, improving the efficiency of this vital function of the vehicle.

To begin with, the performance requirements of the HVAC system to dispel condensation or frost on the windshield within a reasonable time and perform uniform defrosting all over its surface, was appropriately expressed in the form of a suitable objective function. This objective function, to be minimized, is the integral of the difference of the air velocity from a target one over a thin control volume, defined close to the windshield inside the car cabin. Moreover, the continuous adjoint method for incompressible, steady–state flow, was mathematically presented in detail, along with the parameterization and shape morhing tool used (developed by PCopt/NTUA), based on volumetric B–splines.

As a first comparison between a measurement and the simulation of the equivalent CFD model, a pressure measurement including the defroster nozzle was performed. The measurement setup included a pressurized cubic chamber, a small box attached to it in order to facilitate the transition of the flow and the defroster nozzle connected to the latter. Four different airflows were applied to the one side of the chamber, with the air exiting from all the outlets in the first case tested, while in the second one, the side outlets are sealed. During the above  $2 \times 4$  cases performed, static pressure was measured at the center of the top side of the chamber. This setup was modeled with a 2.5 million cells mesh and solved using RANS in conjuction with the k– $\epsilon$  turbulence model, in OpenFOAM. The pressure measured and the pressure derived from the CFD analysis on the point of measurement were very close, validating the CFD simulation used.

The main target of this thesis, the shape optimization of the defroster nozzle,

requires to simulate the flow coming from the defroster nozzle towards the interior of the cabin and exiting from its back. For that reason, as a second step, a mesh model of the defroster nozzle connected to the cabin, of almost 8.4 million cells was created. The CFD simulation provided the flow fields necessary for the solution of the adjoint problem but, also, a clear image of the current velocity distribution close to the windshield. This velocity distribution was compared with the one acquired through hot–wire anemometer measurement performed on a 10cm spaced grid, 7mm away from the windshield. The results presented indicate similar velocity patterns, validating the CFD simulation was in good agreement with the experimental study.

The third step was the solution of the adjoint equations and the use of the automated shape optimization process to produce new candidate geometries for the defroster nozzle. Firstly, the use of the adjoint solver developed by PCopt/NTUA in the OpenFOAM environment, gave the sensitivity map, a valuable tool for the designer, indicating how the shape of interest should be morphed to reach the target (minimize the objective function). Afterwards, several automated runs were performed, with their main differences being in the parameterization setup or/and on the volume where the objective function is computed. The need for mass production of the final shape requires more smooth/manufacturable surfaces, which become possible with the technique of averaging the displacements of the control points per iso-plane. This helpful feature was included in the in-house morpher.

The above process resulted in one final geometry, chosen to be the most appropriate for being manufactured using rapid prototyping so as to be tested, to validate its improved defrosting capability, compared to the initial defroster nozzle geometry. The defrost tests performed using the initial and the improved shapes showed significant improvement in the melting pattern on the windshield and decrease in the total time required for the complete clearance of its surface.

More drastic improvement could be accomplished, by modifying the outlet shape, or by applying a different approach, topology optimization using adjoint method, instead of shape morphing optimization. In that case, the study would not begin from the current defroster nozzle shape but from a 3D space or, even better, from a draft shape.

## Bibliography

- M. B. Giles, N. A. Pierce, An Introduction to the Adjoint Approach to Design., 1999.
- [2] T. Kohnotou, Y. Iwamoto, K. Hoshiawa, M. Nagataki, Optimum Design of Defroster Nozzle., SAE Technical Paper, 1992.
- [3] C. Othmer, CFD Topology and Shape Optimization with Adjoint Methods., 2006.
- [4] A. F. Skea, R. D. Harrison, A. J. Baxendale, D. Fletcher, Comparison of CFD Simulation Methods and Thermal Imaging with Windscreen Defrost Pattern. Fluids Group, MIRA, SAE Technical Paper, 2001-01-1720, 2001.
- [5] K. J. Nasr, B. S. AbdulNour, G. C. Wiklund, State of Knowledge and Current Challenges in Defrosting Automotive Windshields. SAE Technical Paper, 980293, 1998.
- [6] E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, Adjoint Methods for Turbulent Flows, Applied to Shape or Topology Optimization and Robust Design. PhD Thesis, NTUA, 2013.
- [7] J. A. Samareh, Aerodynamic Shape Optimization Based on Free-Form Deformation. Multidisciplinary Optimization Branch, NASA Langley Research Center, Hampton, VA, 2004.
- [8] B. S. AbdulNour, Hot-Wire Velocity Measurements of Defroster and Windshield Flow. Ford Motor Company, SAE Technical Paper, 970109, 1997.
- B. S. AbdulNour, CFD Prediction of Automotive Windshield Defrost Pattern. Ford Motor Company, SAE Technical Paper, 1999-01-1203, 1999.
- [10] W. Yang, W. Shi, F. Guo, W. Yang, Flow Field Simulation and Performance Analysis of HVAC Defrosting Duct. 2nd International Conference on Electronic & Mechanical Engineering and Information Technology (EMEIT-2012), China, 2012.
- [11] J. Park and C. Kim, Parametric Study on Automotive Windshield Defrost Pattern using CFD. Hyundai MOBIS, SAE Technical Paper, 2003-01-1078, 2003.

- [12] M. Samuelčík Bézier and B-spline volumes Project of Dissertation. Comenius University, Bratislava, 2005.
- [13] K.C. Giannakoglou, D.I. Papadimitriou, E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, C. Othmer, Adjoint methods in CFD-based optimization - Gradient computation & beyond. ECCOMAS 2012-European Congress on Computational Methods in Applied Sciences and Engineering, pp. 8523-8539, 2012.
- [14] E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, K.C. Giannakoglou, C. Othmer, Adjoint wall functions: Validation and application to vehicle aerodynamics Authors of Document.. 11th World Congress on Computational Mechanics, WCCM 2014, 5th European Conference on Computational Mechanics, ECCM 2014 and 6th European Conference on Computational Fluid Dynamics, ECFD 2014, pp. 7593-7604, 2014.
- [15] Giannakoglou, K.C., Papadimitriou, D.I., Papoutsis-Kiachagias, E.M., Kavvadias, I.S., Adjoint methods for shape optimization and robust design in fluid mechanics. OPT-i 2014 - 1st International Conference on Engineering and Applied Sciences Optimization, Proceedings, pp. 2252-2265, 2014.
- [16] E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, K.C. Giannakoglou, Continuous Adjoint Methods for Turbulent Flows, Applied to Shape and Topology Optimization: Industrial Applications. Archives of Computational Methods in Engineering, 2014.
- [17] E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, A.S. Zymaris, I.S. Kavvadias, D.I. Papadimitriou, , K.C. Giannakoglou The continuous adjoint approach to the k-ϵ Turbulence model for shape optimization and optimal active control of turbulent flows. Engineering Optimization, 47 (3), pp. 370-389, 2015.
- [18] I.S. Kavvadias, E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, G. Dimitrakopoulos, K.C. Giannakoglou, The continuous adjoint approach to the k-ω SST turbulence model with applications in shape optimization. Engineering Optimization, 47 (11), pp. 1523-1542, 2015.
- [19] E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, N. Magoulas, J. Mueller, C. Othmer, K.C. Giannakoglou, Noise reduction in car aerodynamics using a surrogate objective function and the continuous adjoint method with wall functions. Computers and Fluids, 122, pp. 223-232, 2015.
- [20] E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, K.C. Giannakoglou, A parameterization and mesh movement strategy based on volumetric B-splines. Applications to shape optimization. NTUA/PCOpt/2015/01 REPORT, Athens, Greece, 2015.
- [21] J. R. Bull, Turbulence Models with Adaptive Meshing for Industrial CFD. PhD Thesis, Imperial College London, 2013.

- [22] L. Piegl, W. Tiller, The NURBS book. Springer, 1997.
- [23] B.E. Launder, D.B. Spalding, The numerical computation of turbulent flows. Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering 3 (2): 269-289, 1974.
- [24] S.G. Nash, J. Nocedal, A Numerical Study of the Limited Memory BFGS Method and the truncated-Newton Method for Large Scale Optimization. SIAM Journal on Optimization, 1(3):358–372, 1991.
- [25] J. H. Ferziger, M. Peric, Computational Methods for Fluid Dynamics. 3rd Edition. Springer, 2001.
- [26] Giles, MB., MC. Duta, JD. Muller, and NA. Pierce, Algorithm developments for discrete adjoint methods. AIAA Journal, 41(2), 2003.
- [27] I. Goldasteh, S. Chang, S. Maaita, G. Mathur, Numerical Simulation of Airflow Distribution on the Automobile Windshield in Defrost Mode. SAE Technical Paper 2015-01-0330, doi:10.4271/2015-01-0330, 2015.
- [28] H. K. Versteeg, W. Malalasekera, An introduction to computational fluid dynamics. The finite volume method. 1995.
- [29] J. Nocedal, S. J. Wright, Numerical Optimization., Springer, 1999.
- [30] N. Marco, S. Lanteri, A two-level parallelization strategy for Genetic Algorithms applied to optimum shape design. Parallel Computing 26 377-397, 2000.
- [31] K.C. Giannakoglou, Design of optimal aerodynamic shapes using stochastic optimization methods and computational intelligence. Progress in Aerospace Sciences 38 43–76, 2002.
- [32] K.C. Giannakoglou, D.I. Papadimitriou, I.C. Kampolis, Aerodynamic shape design using evolutionary algorithms and new gradient-assisted metamodels. Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg. 195 6312–6329, 2006.
- [33] B. Mohammadi, O. Pironneau, Applied Shape Optimization for Fluids., Oxford University Press, 2001.
- [34] O. Pironneau, Optimal Shape Design for Elliptic Systems., Springer-Verlag, New York, 1984.
- [35] A. Jameson, Aerodynamic design via control theory., J. Scientific Computing 3 233–260, 1988.
- [36] G. Burgreen, O. Baysal, Three-dimensional aerodynamic shape optimization using discrete sensitivity analysis., AIAA J. 34 (9) 1761–1770, 1996.

- [37] J. Elliot, J. Peraire, Aerodynamic design using unstructured meshes., AIAA Paper 19 (41), 1996.
- [38] M. Giles, N. Pierce, Adjoint equations in CFD: duality, boundary conditions and solution behaviour., AIAA Paper 18 (50), 1997.
- [39] W. Anderson, V. Venkatakrishnan, Aerodynamic design optimization on unstructured grids with a continuous adjoint formulation., AIAA Paper 06 (43), 1997.
- [40] S.Patankar, D.Spalding, Calculation procedure for heat, mass and momentum transfer in three-dimensional parabolic flows., Int.J.Heat Mass Transfer 15 1787–1806, 1972.



ΕθΝΙΚΟ ΜΕΤΣΟΒΙΟ ΠΟΛΥΤΕΧΝΕΙΟ Σχολή Μηχανολόγων Μηχανικών Τομέας Ρευστών Εργαστήριο Θερμικών Στροβιλομηχανών Μονάδα Παράλληλης Υπολογιστικής Ρευστοδυναμικής & Βελτιστοποίησης

## Βελτιστοποίηση Μορφής Αγωγού Κλιματισμού Αυτοκινήτου με Χρήση της Συνεχούς Συζυγούς Μεθόδου

Εκτενής Περίληψη Διπλωματικής Εργασίας

## Λεγκή Α. Γερμανού

Επιβλέπων Κυριάχος Χ. ΓΙΑΝΝΑΚΟΓΛΟΥ, Καθηγητής ΕΜΠ

Αθήνα, Φεβρουάριος 2016



ΕθΝΙΚΟ ΜΕΤΣΟΒΙΟ ΠΟΛΥΤΕΧΝΕΙΟ Σχολή Μηχανολόγων Μηχανικών Τομέας Ρευστών Εργαστήριο Θερμικών Στροβιλομηχανών Μονάδα Παράλληλης Υπολογιστικής Ρευστοδυναμικής & Βελτιστοποίησης

## Βελτιστοποίηση Μορφής Αγωγού Κλιματισμού Αυτοχινήτου με Χρήση της Συνεχούς Συζυγούς Μεθόδου

Εκτενής Περίληψη Διπλωματικής Εργασίας

Λεγκή Γερμανογ

Επιβλέπων: Κυριάχος Χ. ΓΙΑΝΝΑΚΟΓΛΟΥ, Καθηγητής ΕΜΠ

Αθήνα, Φεβρουάριος 2016

### Περίληψη

Η παρούσα διπλωματική εργασία παρουσιάζει τη χρήση της συνεχούς συζυγούς μεθόδου, που αναπτύχθηκε από τη Μονάδα Παράλληλης Υπολογιστικής Ρευστοδυναμικής & Βελτιστοποίησης του Τομέα Ρευστών του ΕΜΠ, στο περιβάλλον του λογισμικού OpenFOAM, για την βελτιστοποίηση μορφής ενός αγωγού κλιματισμού, ενός επιβατικού οχήματος, συμπεριλαμβανομένων πειραματικών δοκιμών που πραγματοποιήθηκαν στην Toyota Motor Europe (TME). Ο συγκεκριμένος αγωγός κλιματισμού (αγωγός αποπαγοποίησης) διαδραματίζει σημαντικό ρόλο στη λειτουργία αποπαγοποίησης– αποθάμβωσης του ανεμοθώρακα (παρμπρίζ), φυσώντας προς αυτόν δεσμίδες θερμού αέρα υψηλής ταχύτητας, ο οποίος παρέχεται από την μονάδα κλιματισμού ΗVAC – heating, ventilation and air conditioning του οχήματος.

Εφόσον οι βασικές απαιτήσεις απόδοσης, με κριτήρια αποπαγοποίησης–αποθάμβωσης, για έναν αγωγό κλιματισμού είναι η ικανοποιητική ταχύτητα και η ομοιομορφία του μοτίβου καθαρισμού του παρμπρίζ, ο χρόνος που απαιτείται για την εξάλειψη συμπυκνώματος ή πάγου στην εσωτερική και εξωτερική του επιφάνεια αντίστοιχα πρέπει να είναι σε λογικά πλαίσια και ο αγωγός να έχει την ικανότητα ομοιόμορφης αποπαγοποίησης σε όλη την επιφάνεια του παρμπρίζ, ώστε να καθαρίζει χωρίς να αφήνει 'κοιλίδες' συμπυκνώματος. Με βάση τα παραπάνω, μία ενδεδειγμένη αντικειμενική συνάρτηση προς ελαχιστοποίηση είναι το ολοκλήρωμα της διαφοράς της ταχύτητας του αέρα από μία ταχύτητα στόχο (την επιθυμητή) σε έναν λεπτό όγκο που έχει οριστεί κατάλληλα κοντά στο παμπρίζ, εσωτερικά της καμπίνας του αυτοκινήτου.

Για την επίλυση του προβλήματος βελτιστοποίησης, η γεωμετρία του υπάρχοντος αγωγού κλιματισμού μορφοποιείται χρησιμοποιώντας λογισμικό που βασίζεται τις ογκικές NURBS και έχει αναπτυχθεί από το ΕΜΠ. Το εργαλείο αυτό παραμετροποιεί τόσο το επιφανειακό όσο και το χωρικό κομμάτι του πλέγματος και τα παραμορφώνει ταυτόχρονα, σε κάθε κύκλο βελτιστοποίησης. Η ρευστοδυναμική ανάλυση υλοποιείται μέσω της αριθμητικής επίλυσης των RANS εξισώσεων μαζί με το k-ε μοντέλο τύρβης. Κατά την βελτιστοποίηση χρησιμοποιείται η κλίση της αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης ως προς τις συντεταγμένες των σημείων ελέγχου των ογκικών NURBS, που υπολογίζεται με χρήση της συνεχούς συζυγούς μεθόδου.

Οι πειραματικές δοκιμές που πραγματοποιήθηκαν με σκοπό την μέτρηση της κατανομής της ταχύτητας του αέρα στην εσωτερική πλευρά του ανεμοθώρακα περιλαμβάνουν μετρήσεις της ταχύτητας μέσω ενός ανεμομέτρου hot-wire. Παρουσιάζεται μία πειστική σύγκριση μεταξύ της ανάλυσης μέσω CFD και των μετρήσεων. Τελικά, η βελτιωμένη απόδοση κατά τη διαδικασία αποπαγοποίησης, της νέας γεωμετρίας, που προέκυψε από τη βελτιστοποίηση με τη συζυγή μέθοδο, επιβεβαιώνεται και πειραματικά μετά από κατασκευή του σχεδιασθέντος αγωγού κλιματισμού με διαδικασία ταχείας προτυποποίησης (rapid prototyping), με χρήση 3D εκτυπωτή.

Μεγάλο τμήμα της διπλωματική εργασίας εκπονήθηκε στις εγκαταστάσεις της Toyota Motor Europe, στο Βέλγιο, υπό την εκεί επίβλεψη του μηχανικού κ. A. Delacroix.

### Ευχαριστίες

Στο σημείο αυτό θα ήθελα να εκφράσω τις θερμές ευχαριστίες μου στους ανθρώπους που με στήριξαν, όχι μόνο κατά τη διάρκεια της ενασχόλησής μου με την διπλωματική μου εργασία, αλλά και καθόλη τη διάρκεια των σπουδών μου στο ΕΜΠ. Αρχικά, θέλω να ευχαριστήσω τον καθηγητή μου, κ. Κ. Γιαννάκογλου, για την ευκαιρία που μου έδωσε να ασχοληθώ με αυτό το πρωτότυπο, ενδιαφέρον και σύγχρονο θέμα. Επίσης, τον ευχαριστώ ολόψυχα για τις πολύτιμες συμβουλές και διορθώσεις του, αλλά και για τις γνώσεις που μου μετέδωσε όλα τα χρόνια των σπουδών μου.

Ένα μεγάλο τμήμα της παρούσας διπλωματικής εργασίας, εκπονήθηκε στις εγκαταστάσεις της Toyota Motor Europe, στο τμήμα 'Vehicle Performance Engineering'. Με την ευκαιρία αυτή, θα ήθελα να ευχαριστήσω τον κ. Α. Delacroix για την καθοδήγησή και την επιμονή του κατά τη διάρκεια αυτής της προσπάθειας. Όλους αυτούς τους μήνες, μου έδινε κίνητρο με τον ενθουσιασμό του και σε κάθε ευκαιρία, μοιραζόταν μαζί μου τις γνώσεις και την εμπειρία του σχετικά με την αυτοκινητοβιομηχανία. Επιπλέον, θέλω να εκφράσω την ευγνωμοσύνη μου στον κ. Ν. Yokoyama για τα ενθαρρυντικά του σχόλια αλλά κυρίως για την πίστη του σε μένα και στο θέμα που ερευνήθηκε. Δεν θα μπορούσα να παραλείψω τις ευχαριστίες μου στον Δρ. Κ. Γκάγκα, για την προθυμία του να προσφέρει την βοήθειά του όποτε την χρειαζόμουν.

Επιπλέον, ευχαριστώ θερμά τον κ. Β. Σκαπέρδα και τον κ. Γ. Φωτιάδη, μηχανικούς της BETA CAE Systems για την συμβολή τους και τις πολύτιμες συμβουλές τους.

Θα ήθελα επίσης να ευχαριστήσω όλα τα μέλη της ερευνητικής ομάδας της Μονάδας Παράλληλης Υπολογιστικής Ρευστοδυναμικής & Βελτιστοποίησης για την προθυμία τους να επιλύσουν οποιαδήποτε απορία. Ιδιαιτέρως ευχαριστώ τον Δρ. Ε. Παπουτσή– Κιαχαγιά, για τον χρόνο που μου διέθεσε, την άμεση ανταπόκρισή του και τη βοήθεια που μου προσέφερε απλόχερα κατά την εκπόνηση της διπλωματικής μου εργασίας.

Τέλος, θέλω να ευχαριστήσω τους φίλους μου και την οικογένειά μου, για την στήριξη και την υπομονή τους όλα τα χρόνια της φοίτησής μου.

## Ακρωνύμια

ЕМП	Εθνικό Μετσόβιο Πολυτεχνείο
ΕΘΣ	Εργαστήριο Θερμικών Στροβιλομηχανών
МПΥР&В	Μονάδα Παράλληλης Υπολογιστικής Ρευστοδυναμικής & Βελτιστοποίησης
$\Upsilon P\Delta$	Υπολογιστική Ρευστοδυναμική
$M\Delta E$	Μερικές Διαφορικές Εξισώσεις
NTUA	National Technical University of Athens
PCopt	Parallel CFD & Optimization Unit
TME	Toyota Motor Europe
CFD	Computational Fluid Dynamics
CAD	Computer Aided Design
HVAC	Heating Ventilation and Air Conditioning
OpenFOAM	Open Field Operation And Manipulation

## Περιεχόμενα

1	Εισαγωγή			
	1.1	Η Α Αγωγός Αποπαγοποίησης	1	
	1.2	Βελτιστοποίηση μέσω CFD	3	
		1.2.1 Μέθοδοι Βελτιστοποίησης	4	
		1.2.2 Η Συζυγής Μέθοδος	5	
		1.2.3 Μέθοδοι Μορφοποίησης Γεωμετρίας	6	
	1.3	Στόχος και Δομή της Διπλωματικής Εργασίας	7	
<b>2</b>	2 Η Συνεχής Συζυγής Μέθοδος για Ασυμπίεστη, Μόνιμη Ροή			
	2.1	Εξισώσεις της Ροής	9	
	2.2	Οριακές Συνθήκες	10	
	2.3	Αντικειμενική Συνάρτηση	10	
	2.4	Συζυγείς Εξισώσεις	13	
	2.5	Συζυγείς Οριαχές Συνθήχες	13	
	2.6	Παράγωγοι Ευαισθησίας	14	
	2.7	Διακριτοποίηση και Επίλυση των Εξισώσεων	14	
3	Mo	ρφοποίηση της Γεωμετρίας	17	
	3.1	Εισαγωγή στον Μορφοποιητή Πλέγματος	17	
	3.2	Μαθηματικό Υπόβαθρο	17	
		3.2.1 Καμπύλες B-splines	18	
		3.2.2 Ογχιχές B–splines	19	
	3.3	Αλγόριθμος Βελτιστοποίησης	19	
4	4 Μελέτη και Πειραματική Πιστοποίηση του Πλήρους Μοντέλο			
	Aγ	ωγός Αποπαγοποίησης & Καμπίνα	<b>23</b>	
	4.1	$\Delta$ ιαδικασία της Μέτρησης και Αποτελέσματα	23	
	4.2	Πλεγματοποίηση και Υπολογισμός	24	
	4.3	Σύγκριση των Κατανομών Ταχύτητας μέσω Μέτρησης και CFD	26	
<b>5</b>	5 Βελτιστοποίηση του Αγωγού Αποπαγοποίησης		35	
	5.1	Επίλυση των Συζυγών Εξισώσεων και Χάρτης Ευαισθησίας	35	

	5.2	Βελτιστοποίηση–Επιλογή Τελικής Γεωμετρίας	36
6	Ανα	xχεφαλαίωση–Συμπεράσματα	43

## Κεφάλαιο 1

# Εισαγωγή

Η βελτιστοποίση μορφής, με βάση ρευστοδυναμικά ή αεροδυναμικά κριτήρια, χρησιμοποιείται ευρέως για αεροναυπηγικές εφαρμογές και, σταδιακά όλο και περισσότερο, και σε εφαρμογές της αυτοκινητοβιομηχανίας. Δεδομένης της σημαντικής προόδου της βελτιστοποίησης μορφής με χρήση της συζυγούς μεθόδου, επιλέγεται η χρήση της για την επίλυση ενός ενδιαφέροντος προβλήματος σχετικού με το σύστημα κλιματισμού ενός επιβατικού οχήματος. Στόχος είναι η βελτίωση των επιδόσεων αποπαγοποίησης– αποθάμβωσης του ανεμοθώρακα (παρμπρίζ) ενός επιβατικού αυτοκινήτου, μορφοποιώντας τη γεωμετρία του υπεύθυνου αγωγού κλιματισμού, του αγωγού αποπαγοποίησης (defroster nozzle).

### 1.1 Η VAC-Αγωγός Αποπαγοποίησης

Η ασφάλεια και η αίσθηση άνεσης των επιβατών λόγω της κατάλληλης θερμοκρασίας αέρα της καμπίνας του αυτοκινήτου είναι οι πιο σημαντικοί παράγοντες για τον σχεδιασμό του συστήματος κλιματισμού των οχημάτων Heating Ventilation and Air Conditioning (HVAC) system, [11]. Το σύστημα κλιματισμού, είναι υπεύθυνο για την αποθάμβωση (demisting) και την αποπαγοποίηση (defrosting) των τζαμιών του αυτοκινήτου αλλά και τη δημιουργία και διατήρηση ευχάριστου κλίματος στο εσωτερικό της καμπίνας, μέσω του ελέγχου της υγρασίας και της θερμοκρασίας του αέρα.

Ο αγωγός αποπαγοποίησης, defroster nozzle, ως τμήμα του συστήματος κλιματισμού οχημάτων, διαδραματίζει σημαντικό ρόλο στην αποπαγοποίηση/αποθάμβωση του παρμπρίζ. Η αποθάμβωση αναφέρεται στη λειτουργία της αφαίρεσης του θολώματος, ενός λεπτού στρώματος συμπυκνώματος νερού στην εσωτερική πλευρά του ανεμοθώρακα (παρμπρίζ), ενώ η αποπαγοποίηση αναφέρεται στην εξάλειψη του πάγου στην εξωτερική του πλευρά. Η μονάδα HVAC παρέχει θερμό αέρα στον αγωγό αποπαγοποίησης ο οποίος, με τη σειρά του, παρέχει αυτόν τον αέρα με αυξημένη ταχύτητα στο παρμπρίζ.

Η απόδοση της λειτουργίας αποπαγοποίησης και αποθάμβωσης του παρμπρίζ ε-

ίναι πολύ σημαντικός παράγοντας αξιολόγησης του συστήματος κλιματισμού, αλλά και ταυτόχρονα είναι και υποχρεωτικός έλεγχος σύμφωνα με την εθνική και παγκόσμια νομοθεσία, λόγω της σημασίας της με την ασφάλεια κατά την οδήγηση.

Συγκεκριμένα, ο σχηματισμός πάγου στο παρμπρίζ και στα μπροστινά παράθυρα κατά τη χειμερινή περιόδο μπορεί να αποδειχτεί επικίνδυνος, μιας και εμποδίζει την ορατότητα του οδηγού και ενοχλεί κατά την οδήγηση. Συνεπώς, η απόδοση αποπαγοποίησης λαμβάνεται σοβαρά υπόψη κατά τον σχεδιασμό του συστήματος κλιματισμού για να διασφαλιστεί η ασφάλεια των επιβατών.

Για την επίτευξη λοιπόν αποδεκτής απόδοσης αποπαγοποίησης σε ένα όχημα, το σύστημα κλιματισμού πρέπει να πληροί κάποια κριτήρια [2]. Αυτά είναι κυρίως τα εξης ακόλουθα:

- Ταχεία απόδοση καθαρισμού: Ο χρόνος που απαιτείται για τη διάλυση του συμπυκνώματος ή του πάγου στο παρμπρίζ να είναι μέσα σε 'λογικά' πλαίσια.
- Απόδοση μοτίβου καθαρισμού: Η ικανότητα ομοιόμορφης αποπαγοποίησης, ιδανικά σε όλην την επιφάνεια του παρμπρίζ, αποφεύγοντας τον τμηματικό του καθαρισμό, αφήνοντας θαμπά τμήματα.

Η ταχεία απόδοση καθαρισμού μπορεί να βελτιωθεί ως ένα βαθμό με την αύξηση της παροχής αέρα του ανεμιστήρα ή της δυνατότητας συναλλαγής θερμότητας του εναλλάκτη (και κατά συνέπεια, της θερμοκρασίας του αέρα που στοχεύει το παμπρίζ). Για τη βελτίωση της απόδοσης μοτίβου καθαρισμού συνηθίζεται η εκτέλεση πολλών πειραμάτων με διαφορετικές πρόχειρες γεωμετρίες αγωγών αποπαγοποίησης (δίνοντας ιδιαίτερη έμφαση στις σημαντικές περιοχές των εσωτερικών οδηγών πτερυγίων και της περιοχής της εξόδου) για την επιλογή αυτής που έχει αποδεκτή απόδοση. Έως τώρα, η απόδοση του αγωγού εξαρτιόταν κυρίως από την εμπειρία των τεχνικών [2], [10].

Ωστόσο, η περίπλοχη δομή του αγωγού χαθιστά δύσχολο τον σχεδιασμό, ενώ η πραγματοποίηση πολλών πειραματιχών δοχιμών χοστίζει πολύ σε χρόνο χαι χρήμα. Ως αποτέλεσμα, τα χρονοβόρα πειράματα που γενιχά απαιτούνται για την επίτευξη βελτιωμένης γεωμετρίας με χαλύτερη απόδοση σταδιαχά αντιχαθιστούνται από υπολογιστιχές προσομοιώσεις και αυτόματες διαδιχασίες βελτιστοποίσης.

Ταυτόχρονα, είναι γνωστό πως το μοτίβο χαθαρισμού συνδέεται με την κατανομή της ταχύτητας του αέρα στον ανεμοθώρακα, όπως αναφέρεται στα [2], [10]. Τελευταία, η κατανομή της ταχύτητας στην επιφάνεια του παμπρίζ έχει ερευνηθεί με ποικίλες προσωμοιώσεις και έχει συσχετισθεί με την απόδοση αποπαγοποίησης, καταλήγοντας στο ότι η πρώτη αρκεί για να προσδιορίσει τη δεύτερη ως έναν βαθμό. Ο αγωγός αποπαγοποίησης πρέπει λοιπόν, να σχεδιαστεί με τρόπο ώστε να αποδίδει τη βέλτιστη κατανομή ταχύτητας του αέρα σε μια περιοχή κοντά στο παρμπρίζ. Με βάση αυτό το συμπέρασμα, ορίζεται αυτή ως στόχος της βελτιστοποίησης, με άλλα λόγια μεταφράζεται κατάλληλα για να εκφρασθεί ως συνάρτηση στόχος.

Με βάση προηγούμενες έρευνες [4], [10] συμπεραίνεται ότι το CFD μπορεί να διεκπεραιώσει την πλειονότητα της σχεδιαστικής διαδικασίας, όχι μόνο για τον αγωγό αποπαγοποίησης αλλά και για άλλους αγωγούς ή τμήματα του συστήματος κλιματισμού. Παρουσιάζει σημαντικά πλεονεκτήματα για τον μηχανικό σε σύγκριση με τις παραδοσιαχές τεχνιχές, βασισμένες στη μέθοδο δοχιμής–σφάλματος (trial and error) οι οποίες βασίζονται κατά πολύ στην εμπειρία. Ένα από αυτά είναι το ότι δίνεται η δυνατότητα να μελετηθούν τα χαραχτηριστικά της ροής, οδηγώντας στη βαθύτερη κατανόησή της, με αποτέλεσμα να ευνοείται ο χαθορισμός της πηγής διαφόρων προβλημάτων. Ένα άλλο όφελος είναι το ότι δεν απαιτείται η χρήση του πραγματικού οχήματος ή τμημάτων του σε πρωτότυπη μορφή. Κατά συνέπεια, η διαδικασία της αξιολόγησης μπορεί να εξελιχθεί παράλληλα με τον σχεδιασμό. Το CFD μπορεί να χρησιμοποιηθεί καθόλη τη διάρκεια του χύχλου σχεδιασμού και της αξιολόγησης, αφήνοντας τις πειραματιχές δοχιμές για το τέλος, πριν το στάδιο της έγχρισης του αγωγού. Έτσι η δοχιμή αποπαγοποίησης πραγματοποιείται στο τελευταίο τεστ έχοντας ως στόχο την αξιολόγηση απόδοσης με βάση τη νομοθεσία. Για τους παραπάνω λόγους, ούτως ώστε να σχεδιαστεί ένας νέος αγωγός που να αποδίδει βελτιωμένη κατανομή ταχύτητας στο παμπρίζ, προτιμάται η βελτιστοποίησή του με βάση το CFD. Στο πλαίσιο αυτής της διπλωματικής εργασίας, γίνεται χρήση της συνεχούς συζυγούς μεθόδου (continuous adjoint method) για τον απαιτούμενο υπολογισμό της κλίσης της αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης ως προς τις μεταβλητές σχεδιασμού, οι οποίες ορίζουν την μορφή του αγωγού αποπαγοποίησης.

### 1.2 Βελτιστοποίηση μέσω CFD

Τα συστατικά που απαιτούνται για την εκτέλεση μίας αυτόματης διαδικασίας βελτιστοποίσης μορφής περιλαμβάνουν τον επιλύτη της ροής (CFD solver), την παραμετροποίηση της γεωμετρίας (της οποίας οι παράμετροι επιδρούν ως μεταβλητές σχεδιασμού), μία μέθοδο βελτιστοποίσης ικανή να υπολογίσει τις βέλτιστες τιμές των μεταβλητών σχεδιασμού και έναν τρόπο προσαρμογής (η επαναγένεσης) του υπολογιστικού πλέγματος σε κάθε υποψήφια λύση.

Κατά τη βελτιστοποίηση με CFD, το σχήμα της γεωμετρίας υπό εξέταση ελέγχεται από έναν αριθμό μεταβλητών σχεδιασμού. Για παράδειγμα, αυτές μπορεί να είναι οι συντέλεστες των πολυωνύμων Bezier-Bernstein που παραμετροποιούν το σώμα υπό σχεδιασμό. Η ποιότητα (καταλληλότητα) του παραχθέντος σχήματος αξιολογείται υπολογίζοντας μία ποσότητα (συνήθως ένα ολοκλήρωμα), γνωστό και ως συνάρτηση στόχος ή συνάρτηση κόστους του προβλήματος βελτιστοποίησης. Παραδείγματος χάρην, στην περίπτωση αεροδυναμικού σχεδιασμού μίας αεροτομής (το οποίο είναι και το συνήθες πρόβλημα που χρησιμοποιείται για την επικύρωση των σχετικών μεθόδων) αυτή θα μπορούσε να είναι ο συντελεστής οπισθέλκουσας ή άνωσης της αεροτομής. Η τιμή της αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης εξαρτάται από τις τιμές των μεταβλητών ροής, αποκτηθείσες από την επίλυση των εξισώσεων ροής που προσομοιώνουν τη ροή εσωτερικά (εσωτερική αεροδυναμική) ή γύρω (εξωτερική αεροδυναμική) από το υπό εξέταση σχήμα. Οι εξισώσεις της ροής μπορούν επίσης να θεωρηθούν ως οι περιορισμοί του προβλήματος βελτιστοποίσης και μπορεί να περιλαμβάνουν την επίλυση των εξισώσεων για συμπιεστή ή ασυμπίεστη, μόνιμη ή μη-μόνιμη ροή, με μικρό ή μεγάλο ιξώδες. Κάθε πρόβλημα βελτιστοποίσης στοχεύει στην ελαχιστοποίηση της αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης (objective function) υπολογίζοντας τις βέλτιστες τιμές των μεταβλητών σχεδιασμού. Τα προβλήματα μεγιστοποίησης μπορούν εύκολα να μετασχηματιστούν σε ελαχιστοποίησης και, συνεπώς, να αντιμετωπιστούν με τη χρήση των προτεινόμενων μεθόδων.

#### 1.2.1 Μέθοδοι Βελτιστοποίησης

Οι μέθοδοι βελτιστοποίησης μπορούν να χωριστούν στις εξης δύο κατηγορίες: τις αιτιοκρατικές και τις στοχαστικές μεθόδους. Οι αιτιοκρατικές μέθοδοι απαιτούν τον υπολογισμό των πρώτων (συχνά και δεύτερων) παραγώγων της αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης. Για την εύρεση των νέων τιμών των μεταβλητών σχεδιασμού, χρησιμοποιείται ο αλγόριθμος της απότομης καθόδου βασιζόμενος στις υπολογισθείσες παραγώγους. Από την άλλη μεριά, οι στοχαστικές μέθοδοι δεν απαιτούν επιπλέον πληροφορία πέραν της τιμής της αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης.

Οι στοχαστικοί αλγόριθμοι, [30], [31], [32], αντιπροσωπευτικό παράδειγμα των οποίων είναι οι εξελικτικοί αλγόριθμοι (EA), έχουν το πλεονέκτημα του ότι είναι μάλλον απίθανο να παγιδευτούν σε τοπικό ελάχιστο λόγω του τυχηματικού τρόπου εύρεσης υποψηφίων λύσεων. Ωστόσο, πολλές φορές στα προβλήματα υπολογιστικής ρευστοδυναμικής, απαιτείται μεγάλος αριθμός αξιολογήσεων πριν ο αλγόριθμος εντοπίσει τη βέλτιστη λύση, αυξάνοντας έτσι κατά πολύ το υπολογιστικό κόστος.

Οι αιτιοχρατιχοί αλγόριθμοι είναι πολύ ευάλωτοι στην πιθανότητα παγίδευσής τους σε τοπικό ελάχιστο, καθώς η λύση αυτή μπορεί να θεωρηθεί λανθασμένα ως η βέλτιστη, ενώ είναι μόνο βελτιωμένη σε σύγχριση με τις γειτονιχές της. Παρόλα αυτά, εφόσον η κατεύθυνση ανανέωσης της τιμής των μεταβλητών σχεδιασμού εντοπίζεται με βάση τις παραγώγους ευαισθησίας και όχι με έναν τυχαίο ή έστω τυχηματικό τρόπο, σε κάθε κύκλο ο αλγόριθμος αποδίδει ένα βελτιωμένο αποτέλεσμα, σχηματίζοντας εν γένει μία αυτοματοποιημένη διαδικασία που απαιτεί πολύ λιγότερους κύκλους από αυτούς που απαιτούν οι ΕΑ.

Αν και στόχος, ιδανικά, είναι η απόκτηση της βέλτιστης λύσης, ειδικά στις βιομηχανικές εφαρμογές, βελτιωμένες (σε σύγκριση με την εν χρήσει διάταξη) λύσεις είναι εξίσου ευπρόσδεκτες. Για αυτούς τους λόγους, σε αυτήν την εφαρμογή, προτιμούνται οι αιτιοκρατικές μέθοδοι, αρκεί ασφαλώς το συνολικό κόστος υπολογισμού τους να είναι αποδεκτό.

#### 1.2.2 Η Συζυγής Μέθοδος

Η συζυγής μέθοδος είναι ένα μαθηματικό εργαλείο υπολογισμού της κλίσης της αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης ως προς τις μεταβλητές σχεδιασμού που λαμβάνει υπόψη (στην προκειμένη περίπτωση) το ότι κάθε λύση του προβλήματος βελτιστοποίησης πρέπει να ικανοποιεί τις εξισώσεις ροής (Navier–Stokes).

Έστω F η αντιχειμενιχή συνάρτηση που γενιχά εχφράζεται ως

$$F = F(\overrightarrow{U}(\overrightarrow{b}), \overrightarrow{b}) \tag{1.1}$$

όπου  $\overrightarrow{U}$  είναι το διάνυσμα των μεταβλητών της ροής και  $\overrightarrow{b}$  το διάνυσμα των μεταβλητών σχεδιασμού, οι οποίες στην περίπτωση της βελτιστοποίησης μορφής, ορίζουν, για παράδειγμα, το σχήμα μίας αεροτομής. Πρακτικά, κάθε αλλαγή στις τιμές των μεταβλητών σχεδιασμού  $\overrightarrow{b}$ , τροποποιεί το σχήμα της αεροτομής, δίνοντας έτσι ένα νέο πεδίο ροής  $\overrightarrow{U}$  γύρω της. Αυτό έχει ως αποτέλεσμα μία νέα τιμή της αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης.

Συνεπώς, η μεταβολή της Fως προς το  $\overrightarrow{b}$ είναι

$$\frac{dF}{d\overrightarrow{b}} = \frac{\partial F}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}} + \frac{\partial F}{\partial \overrightarrow{U}} \frac{d\overrightarrow{U}}{d\overrightarrow{b}}$$
(1.2)

Εισάγεται η επαυξημένη αντικειμενική συνάρτηση

$$F_{aug} = F + \overrightarrow{\psi}^T \overrightarrow{R} \tag{1.3}$$

όπου  $\vec{\psi}$  είναι το διάνυσμα των πολλαπλασιαστών Lagrange που συχνά αποχαλούνται ως συζυγείς μεταβλητές. Το σύστημα των εξισώσεων που περιγράφουν το φυσιχό πρόβλημα γράφονται με συμβολιχή χρήση του τελεστή  $\vec{R} = \vec{R}(\vec{U}, \vec{b})$ . Εφόσον  $\vec{R} = 0$ , τότε  $F = F_{aug}$ . Κατά συνέπεια, η ελαχιστοποίηση της F ισοδυναμεί με ελαχιστοποίηση της  $F_{aug}$ .

$$\frac{dF_{aug}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} = \frac{dF}{d\overrightarrow{b}} + \overrightarrow{\psi}^T \frac{d\overrightarrow{R}}{d\overrightarrow{b}}$$
(1.4)

$$\frac{d\overrightarrow{R}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} = \frac{\partial R}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}} + \frac{\partial R}{\partial \overrightarrow{U}}\frac{d\overrightarrow{U}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} = 0$$
(1.5)

Η εξίσωση 1.4, χρησιμοποιώντας την 1.2 και 1.5 μετατρέπεται σε

$$\frac{dF_{aug}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} = \frac{\partial F}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}} + \frac{\partial F}{\partial \overrightarrow{U}} \frac{d\overrightarrow{U}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} + \overrightarrow{\psi}^{T} \left( \frac{\partial R}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}} + \frac{\partial R}{\partial \overrightarrow{U}} \frac{d\overrightarrow{U}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} \right)$$

$$= \left( \frac{\partial F}{\partial \overrightarrow{U}} + \overrightarrow{\psi}^{T} \frac{\partial R}{\partial \overrightarrow{U}} \right) \frac{d\overrightarrow{U}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} + \left( \frac{\partial F}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}} + \overrightarrow{\psi}^{T} \frac{\partial R}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}} \right)$$
(1.6)

Το μητρώο  $\frac{d\vec{U}}{d\vec{b}}$  έχει υψηλό υπολογιστικό κόστος και είναι επιθυμητό να αποφευχθεί ο υπολογισμός του. Συνεπώς, οι πολλαπλασιαστές  $\vec{\psi}$  υπολογίζονται αντί αυτού, με τρόπο ώστε να μηδενιστεί ο συντελεστής του μητρώου αυτού στην εξίσωση 1.6. Μετά τον υπολογισμό του  $\vec{\psi}$  οι πολλαπλασιαστές Lagrange χρησιμοποιούνται για τον υπολογισμό των παραγώγων ευαισθησίας σύμφωνα με

$$\frac{dF}{d\overrightarrow{b}} = \frac{dF_{aug}}{d\overrightarrow{b}} = \frac{\partial F}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}} + \overrightarrow{\psi}^T \frac{\partial \overrightarrow{R}}{\partial \overrightarrow{b}}$$
(1.7)

Ο υπολογισμός των παραγώγων ευαισθησίας μέσω της εξίσωσης 1.7 απαιτεί την επίλυση μόνο ενός γραμμιχού συστήματος για τον υπολογισμό του  $\vec{\psi}$  ενώ ο υπολογισμός μέσω της 1.2 απαιτεί την επίλυση N συστημάτων (N ο αριθμός των μεταβλητών σχεδιασμού αφού ( $b_n, n \in [1, N]$ )),  $\frac{d\vec{R}}{d\vec{b}}$  για τον υπολογισμό του μητρώου  $\frac{d\vec{U}}{d\vec{b}}$ .

Η συζυγής μέθοδος έχει δύο υποκατηγορίες: τη διακριτή [36], [37], [38] και τη συνεχή, [34], [35], [39]. Η διακριτή συζυγής μέθοδος περιλαμβάνει τη διακριτοποίηση των εξισώσεων του διανύσματος  $\vec{R} = 0$  και, έπειτα, την ενσωμάτωσή τους στις εξισώσεις 1.6 και 1.7, [26]. Οι συζυγείς μεταβλητές είναι επίσης σε διακριτή μορφή. Αντιθέτως, σύμφωνα με τη συνεχή συζυγή μέθοδο, οι εξισώσεις της ροής πρώτα διαφορίζονται και οι συζυγείς ΜΔΕ προκύπτουν ως κλειστό σύστημα. Αυτές έπειτα διακριτοποιούνται και επιλύονται αριθμητικά.

Με άλλα λόγια, η διαχριτή συζυγής μέθοδος λειτουργεί με αλγεβριχές εξισώσεις που προχύπτουν από την διαχριτοποίηση των αρχιχών εξισώσεων ρευστοδυναμιχής ενώ, στη συνεχή συζυγή μέθοδο, οι συζυγείς ΜΔΕ σχηματίζονται και έπειτα διαχριτοποιούνται και επιλύονται. Σε αυτήν την περίπτωση, ο επιλύτης του συζυγούς προβλήματος που χρησιμοποιείται και αναπτύχθηχε από την ΜΠΥΡ&B/ΕΜΠ στο περιβάλλον του OpenFOAM, χρησιμοποιεί τη συνεχή συζυγή μέθοδο.

Οι παραπάνω εξισώσεις που περιέγραψαν το συζυγές πρόβλημα γενικά, στην πραγματικότητα αναφέρονται στη διακριτή συζυγή μέθοδο. Αυτή η προσέγγιση προτιμάται σε αυτό το σημείο καθώς θεωρείται ως πιο απλή για την εξοικείωση του αναγνώστη με τη συζυγή μέθοδο και τα πλεονεκτήματά της. Αργότερα, η συνεχής συζυγής μέθοδος αναλύεται εκτενώς, προσαρμοζόμενη στο πρόβλημα που εξετάζεται στο κεφάλαιο 2.

### 1.2.3 Μέθοδοι Μορφοποίησης Γεωμετρίας

Οι παράγωγοι ευαισθησίας που έχουν υπολογισθεί από τον επιλύτη του συζυγούς προβλήματος μεταφράζονται σε μετατοπίσεις των σημείων ελέγχου με τη χρήση της απότομης καθόδου. Πέραν της απότομης καθόδου, υπάρχουν και άλλες μέθοδοι βελτιστοποίησης βασισμένες στην κλίση της αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης καθώς και στον υπολογισμό του Εσσιανού πίνακα, όπως οι Μέθοδοι Newton, η μέθοδος των Συζυγών Κλίσεων (Conjugate Gradient), κλπ [24], [29], [13]. Στη βελτιστοποίηση μορφής μέσω CFD, οι μεταβλητές σχεδιασμού μπορεί να είναι οι κόμβοι του επιφανειακού πλέγματος ή συνηθέστερα, σημεία ελέγχου (control points) που παραμετροποιούν την υπό μελέτη γεωμετρία. Συνεπώς, η αυτοματοποιημένη διαδικασία χρησιμοποιεί την κλίση της αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης ως προς τα σημεία ελέγχου, η οποία έχει υπολογισθεί με τη συνεχή συζυγή μέθοδο και ύστερα, αφού μεταφραστούν οι παράγωγοι σε μετατοπίσεις των σημείων ελέγχου, ένα εργαλείο (λογισμικό) μορφοποίησης μεταβάλλει την επιφάνεια σύμφωνα με τις μετακινήσεις των σημείων ελέγχου.

Γενικά, υπάρχουν αρκετές τεχνικές παραμετροποίησης γεωμετρίας [7], ωστόσο μία από τις επικρατέστερες, η μέθοδος ελέυθερης μορφοποίησης ή καλύτερα free-form deformation (FFD) επιλέγεται στην παρούσα διπλωματική εργασία λόγω της ευχρηστίας και της καταλληλότητάς της για την παρούσα εφαρμογή. Η τεχνική FFD έχει το σημαντικό πλεονέκτημα του ότι παραμετροποιεί και παραμορφώνει ταυτόχρονα και το επιφανειακό αλλά και το ογκικό πλέγμα. Με αυτόν τον τρόπο εξαλείφει την ανάγκη χρήσης ενός επιπρόσθετου εργαλείου για την κατάλληλη παραμόρφωση του ογκικού πλέγματος μετά την ανανέωση του επιφανειαχού. Επιπλέον, διατηρεί την τοπολογία του πλέγματος και, έτσι, αποφεύγεται η επαναπλεγματοποίησή του, ενώ ταυτόχρονα, επιτρέπει την αρχικοποίηση της ροής από τις λύσεις που έχουν προκύψει από τον προηγούμενο χύχλο. Ως αποτέλεσμα, επιτυγχάνεται αξιοσημείωτη μείωση του υπολογιστικού κόστους. Η μεθόδος μορφοποίησης πλέγματος γίνεται συνήθως με χρήση ογχιχών B-splines, NURBS ή Radial Basis Functions (RBFs). Στην παρούσα εφαρμογή χρησιμοποιείται ένας μορφοποιητής πλέγματος που παραμετροποιεί τον επιθυμητό 3D χώρο μέσω κυβικών B-splines, ο οποίος έχει αναπτυχθεί από την ερευνητική ομάδα της ΜΠΥΡ&Β/ΕΜΠ..

### Στόχος και Δομή της Διπλωματικής Εργασίας

Στόχος της παρούσας διπλωματικής εργασίας είναι η εφαρμογή μεθόδων βελτιστοποίησης μορφής, με χρήση της συνεχούς συζυγούς μεθόδου, στον αγωγό αποπαγοποίησης ενός αυτοκινήτου Toyota. Σκοπός της διαδικασίας βελτιστοποίησης είναι η επίτευξη βελτιωμένης απόδοσης αποπαγοποίησης για το όχημα. Για τον λόγο αυτό, πρωτίστως, σχηματίζεται μία κατάλληλη αντικειμενική συνάρτηση που περιγράφει ικανοποιητικά τον προαναφερθέντα στόχο. Η συζυγής μέθοδος παρέχει τις παραγώγους ευαισθησίας που δίνουν ποιοτικές οδηγίες/πληροφορίες για την προτεινόμενη μορφοποίηση του αγωγού. Έπειτα, ο συνεργαζόμενος με τον επιλύτη μορφοποιητής μεταφράζει αυτήν την πληροφορία κατάλληλα για να παράξει μία νέα γεωμετρία του αγωγού, δίνοντας έτσι καλύτερο αποτέλεσμα αποπαγοποίησης από το αρχικό. Η όλη διαδικασία πραγματοποιείται επαναληπτικά μέχρι την ικανοποίηση του κριτηρίου τερματισμού.

Η δομή της διπλωματικής εργασίας έχει ως εξής:

• Στο κεφάλαιο 2, παρουσιάζονται οι εξισώσεις της ροής, καθώς και η συνεχής

συζυγής μέθοδος για ασυμπίεστη, μόνιμη ροή. Εκφράζεται η αντικειμενική συνάρτηση, οι συζυγείς εξισώσεις με τις οριακές τους συνθήκες και οι παράγωγοι ευαισθησίας.

- Στο κεφάλαιο 3, παρουσίαζεται ο μορφοποιητής πλέγματος και ο αλγόριθμος βελτιστοποίησης.
- Στο κεφάλαιο 4, παρουσιάζεται το εκτελεσθέν πείραμα για τη μέτρηση της κατανομής της ταχύτητας του αέρα κοντά στο παρμπρίζ καθώς και η υπολογισθείσα ροή αέρα στην καμπίνα. Συγκρίνονται τα αποτελέσματα της μέτρησης και του CFD.
- Στο κεφάλαιο 5, παρουσιάζονται τα αποτελέσματα της αυτοματοποιημένης διαδικασίας βελτιστοποίησης.
- Στο κεφάλαιο 6, γίνεται ανακεφαλαίωση και παρουσιάζονται τα εξαγόμενα συμπεράσματα.
# Κεφάλαιο 2

# Η Συνεχής Συζυγής Μέθοδος για Ασυμπίεστη, Μόνιμη Ροή

Όπως προαναφέρθηκε, στόχος του παρόντος προβλήματος βελτιστοποίησης είναι η βελτίωση της απόδοσης αποπαγοποίησης και αποθάμβωσης, του υπεύθυνου για τη λειτουργία αυτή αγωγού κλιματισμού αυτοκινήτου. Το CFD μπορεί να προσομοιώσει ικανοποιητικά την απόδοση αποπαγοποίησης, και μάλιστα είναι επαρκής η μελέτη της κατανομής της ταχύτητας του αέρα κοντά στο παμπρίζ, αμελώντας τα φαινόμενα μεταφοράς θερμότητας, σύμφωνα με τα [2], [4]. Κατά συνέπεια, το πρόβλημα μπορεί να απλοποιηθεί και να γίνει η μελέτη του με χρήση μόνιμης προσομοίωσης, χωρίς την επίλυση της εξίσωσης ενέργειας, ώστε να μειωθεί η πολυπλοκότητα και το υπολογιστικό κόστος.

Οι περιπτώσεις ροής που επιλύονται στο πλαίσιο αυτής της διπλωματικής εργασίας διέπονται από τις εξισώσεις Reynolds Averaged Navier–Stokes για μόνιμη, ασυμπίεστη ροή, συζευγμένες με το μοντέλο τύρβης k–ε. Οι ΜΔΕ της μέσης ροής, αυτές του μοντέλου τύρβης και οι οριακές του συνθήκες καλούνται ως οι εξισώσεις του πρωτεύοντος (primal) προβλήματος της βελτιστοποίησης.

### 2.1 Εξισώσεις της Ροής

Οι εξισώσεις της μέσης ροής [21],[6],[28], η εξίσωση συνέχειας και οι εξισώσεις ορμής αντίστοιχα, γράφονται ως

$$R^p = -\frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_j} = 0 \tag{2.1}$$

$$R_i^v = v_j \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_j} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left[ \left( \nu + \nu_t \right) \left( \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_i} \right) \right] + \frac{\partial p}{\partial x_i} = 0 \qquad i = 1, 2, 3$$
(2.2)

όπου  $v_i$  είναι οι συνιστώσες της ταχύτητας, p η πίεση διαιρεμένη με τη σταθερή πυκνότητα  $\rho$ ,  $\nu$  η κινηματική συνεκτικότητα και  $\nu_t$  η τυρβώδης κινηματική συνεκτικότητα η οποία προκύπτει από τη λύση των ΜΔΕ του μοντέλου τύρβης Οι εξισώσεις του k-<br/>  $\epsilon$  [23], [21], [28] δίνονται από

$$R^{k} = v_{i} \frac{\partial k}{\partial x_{i}} - \left(\nu + \frac{\nu_{t}}{P_{r_{k}}}\right) \frac{\partial^{2} k}{\partial x_{i}^{2}} - P + \epsilon = 0$$
(2.3)

$$R^{\epsilon} = v_i \frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial x_i} - \left(\nu + \frac{\nu_t}{P_{r_{\epsilon}}}\right) \frac{\partial^2 \epsilon}{\partial x_i^2} - C_1 \frac{\epsilon}{k} P + C_2 \frac{\epsilon^2}{k} = 0$$
(2.4)

$$\nu_t = C_\mu \frac{k^2}{\epsilon} \tag{2.5}$$

όπου k είναι η τυρβώδης κινητική ενέργεια, ε είναι ο όρος καταστροφής αυτής της κινητικής ενέργειας ενώ το P αναφέρεται στην παραγωγή τυρβώδους κινητικής ενέργειας

$$P = \nu_t \left(\frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_i}\right) \frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_i}$$
(2.6)

Οι σταθεροί συντελεστές του μοντέλου δίνονται ως:  $C_1 = 1.44, C_2 = 1.92, C_\mu = 0.09$  και οι τυρβώδεις αριθμοί Prandtl  $P_{r_e} = 1.3, P_{r_k} = 1.0$ 

## 2.2 Οριακές Συνθήκες

Οι οριαχές συνθήχες που 'χλείνουν' το πρωτεύον πρόβλημα είναι:

- Συνθήκη Dirichlet για το v<sub>i</sub> και για τις μεταβλητές του μοντέλου τύρβης (k,ε) και μηδενική συνθήκη Neumann για το p στην είσοδο S<sub>I</sub>.
- Μηδενική συνθήκη Neumann για το v<sub>i</sub> και για τις μεταβλητές του μοντέλου τύρβης (k,ε) και μηδενική συνθήκη Dirichlet για το p στην έξοδο S<sub>0</sub>.
- Μηδενική συνθήκη Dirichlet για το v<sub>i</sub> (συνθήκη μη ολίσθησης στον τοίχο). Εμπειρικές σχέσεις για την εκτίμηση των συνεκτικών τάσεων στον τοίχο (συναρτήσεις τοίχου-wall functions [23], [21]) για τις μεταβλητές του μοντέλου τύρβης (k,ε) και μηδενική συνθήκη Neumann για το p στους τοίχους S<sub>W</sub>.

Το υπολογιστικό χωρίο του μοντέλου που θα μελετηθεί στα επόμενα κεφάλαια παρουσιάζονται στο σχήμα 2.1. Οι λεπτομέρειες του μοντέλου εξηγούνται αναλυτικά στο κεφάλαιο 4.

### 2.3 Αντικειμενική Συνάρτηση

Συνήθως, στα αεροδυναμικά προβλήματα η αντικειμενική συνάρτηση είναι ένα βαθμωτό μέγεθος όπως ο συντελεστής άνωσης ή οπισθέλκουσας. Όπως έχει ήδη αναφερθεί, στην περίπτωσή μας επιθυμείται η κατανομή ταχύτητας του αέρα κοντά στο παρμπίζ (και όχι πάνω σε αυτό λόγω της συνθήκης μη-ολίσθησης) να πληροί κάποια κριτήρια (όπως ειπώθηκαν στην παράγραφο 1.1) τα οποία μεταφράζονται στην ανάγκη επίτευξης ομοιόμορφης κατανομής της ταχύτητας του αέρα αλλά και αύξησής της, κυρίως στο πάνω μέρος του παρμπρίζ που συνήθως η ταχύτητα είναι μικρότερη. Αυτός ο στόχος εκφράζεται μαθηματικά ως

$$F_{obj} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega_{tar}} \left( v_i^2 - v_{tar}^2 \right)^2 d\Omega_{tar}$$
(2.7)

Η παραπάνω αντικειμενική συνάρτηση εκφράζει την επιθυμία εξαναγκασμού του μέτρου της ταχύτητας, σε έναν λεπτό όγκο  $\Omega_{tar}$ , βλ. σχ. 5.1 όπου και υπολογίζεται η αντικειμενική συνάρτηση, να φτάσει μία ορισμένη σταθερή ταχύτητα, ή κατανομή.

Πρωτεύον χαρακτηριστικό του συζυγούς προβλήματος είναι η χρήση της επαυξημένης αντικεμενικής συνάρτησης  $F_{aug}$  αντί απευθείας της F, βλ. παράγραφο 1.2.2 και [6]. Έτσι η  $F_{aug}$  ορίζεται ως

$$F_{aug} = F + \int_{\Omega} u_i R_i^v d\Omega + \int_{\Omega} q R^p d\Omega$$
(2.8)

όπου το  $\Omega$  είναι το υπολογιστικό χωρίο,  $u_i$  οι συνιστώσες της συζυγούς ταχύτητας και q η συζυγής πίεση. Εφόσον οι εξισώσεις του πρωτεύοντος προβλήματος 2.1, 2.2 ικανοποιούνται, οι F και  $F_{aug}$  είναι ισοδύναμες.

Σε αυτό το σημείο να σημειωθεί ότι στο πλαίσιο αυτής της εργασίας, κατά την ακόλουθη ανάλυση των εξισώσεων αμελείται η διαφόριση των εξισώσεων του μοντέλου τύρβης για λόγους απλότητας. Συνεπώς, κατά την εφαρμογή της συνεχούς συζυγούς μεθόδου εφαρμόζεται η προσέγγιση της 'παγωμένης τύρβης'. Οι αναγνώστες που ενδιαφέρονται για τις διαφορές που θα μπορούσαν να προκύψουν με τη διαφόριση της τύρβης μπορούν ανατρέξουν στα κάτωθι: [6], [13], [15], [14], [16], [18], [17], [19].

Διαφορίζοντας την επαυξημένη συνάρτηση προχύπτει

$$\frac{\delta F_{aug}}{\delta b_n} = \frac{\delta F}{\delta b_n} + \frac{\delta}{\delta b_n} \int_{\Omega} u_i R_i^v d\Omega + \frac{\delta}{\delta b_n} \int_{\Omega} q R^p d\Omega$$
(2.9)

Με βάση το θεώρημα Leibniz που χρησιμοποιείται για τη διαφόριση των ογκικών ολοκληρωμάτων με μεταβλητά όρια προκύπτει

$$\frac{\delta F_{aug}}{\delta b_n} = \frac{\delta F}{\delta b_n} + \int_{\Omega} u_i \frac{\partial R_i^v}{\partial b_n} d\Omega + \int_{\Omega} q \frac{\partial R^p}{\partial b_n} d\Omega + \int_S (u_i R_i^v + q R^p) \frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n} n_k dS \qquad (2.10)$$

όπου S το σύνορο του υπολογιστικού χωρίου το οποίο αναλύεται ως  $S = S_I \cup S_O \cup S_W \cup S_{W_P}$ . Τα όρια  $S_I, S_O, S_W$  και  $S_{W_P}$  αφορόυν την είσοδο, την έξοδο, τα σταθερά και τα παραμετροποιημένα σύνορα του χωρίου, αντίστοιχα. Ωστόσο μόνο τα παραμετροποιημένα μετακινούνται ( $\frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n} n_k$  αντιστοιχεί στην ταχύτητα παραμόρφωσης της επιφάνειας

κατά την κάθετη διεύθυνση) οπότε

$$\frac{\delta F_{aug}}{\delta b_n} = \frac{\delta F}{\delta b_n} + \int_{\Omega} u_i \frac{\partial R_i^v}{\partial b_n} d\Omega + \int_{\Omega} q \frac{\partial R^p}{\partial b_n} d\Omega + \int_{S_{W_P}} (u_i R_i^v + q R^p) \frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n} n_k dS \quad (2.11)$$

Όπως έχει προαναφερθεί,  $F = F_{aug}$  και, συνεπώς,  $\frac{\delta F}{\delta b_n} = \frac{\delta F_{aug}}{\delta b_n}$ .

Για να εκφραστεί η  $\frac{\delta F}{\delta b_n}$  και να σχηματιστούν οι συζυγείς εξισώσεις με τις οριακές τους συνθήκες, η αντικειμενική συνάρτηση εκφράζεται σε γενική μορφή ως [6]

$$F = \int_{\Omega_{tar}} F_{\Omega_{tar}} d\Omega_{tar}$$
(2.12)

Η διαφόριση της F ως προς τις μεταβλητές σχεδιασμού δίνει

$$\frac{\delta F}{\delta b_n} = \frac{\delta}{\delta b_n} \int_{\Omega_{tar}} F_{\Omega_{tar}} d\Omega_{tar}$$
(2.13)

Εφαρμόζοντας το θεώρημα Leibniz προκύπτει

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta b_n} \int_{\Omega_{tar}} F_{\Omega_{tar}} d\Omega_{tar} = \int_{\Omega_{tar}} \frac{\partial F_{\Omega_{tar}}}{\partial b_n} d\Omega_{tar}$$
(2.14)

καθώς τα όρια του όγκου  $\Omega_{tar}$  στον οποίο υπολογίζεται η αντικειμενική συνάρτηση δεν μετακινούνται άρα η ταχύτητα του ορίου  $\frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n}$ είναι στην περίπτωση αυτή είναι μηδενική.

Εφόσον η αντικειμενική συνάρτηση από την εξίσωση 2.7 περιλαμβάνει μόνο όρους ταχύτητας, η χρήση του κανόνα της αλυσίδας για το  $\int_{\Omega_{tar}} \frac{\partial F_{\Omega_{tar}}}{\partial b_n} d\Omega_{tar}$  ως προς το  $v_i$ δίνει

$$\int_{\Omega_{tar}} \frac{\partial F_{\Omega_{tar}}}{\partial b_n} d\Omega_{tar} = \int_{\Omega_{tar}} \dot{F}^v_{\Omega_{tar},i} \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} d\Omega_{tar}$$
(2.15)

όπου  $\dot{F}^v_{\Omega_{tar},i}$  είναι ίσο με  $\frac{\partial F}{\partial v_i}$  το οποίο, στη περίπτωση της αντιχειμενιχής συνάρτησης 2.7 είναι

$$\acute{F}^{v}_{\Omega_{tar},i} = \frac{\partial F}{\partial v_i} = 2\left(v_k^2 - v_{tar}^2\right)v_i \tag{2.16}$$

Συνεπώς, η παράγωγος της αντι<br/>κειμενικής συνάρτησης 2.15 είναι

$$\frac{\delta F_{obj}}{\delta b_n} = 2 \int_{\Omega_{tar}} \left( v_k^2 - v_{tar}^2 \right) v_i \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} d\Omega_{tar}$$
(2.17)

και, στη γενική του μορφή, με χρήση των εξισώσεων 2.13, 2.14 και 2.15, τελικά

$$\frac{\delta F}{\delta b_n} = \int_{\Omega_{tar}} \acute{F}^v_{\Omega_{tar},i} \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n} d\Omega_{tar}$$
(2.18)

### 2.4 Συζυγείς Εξισώσεις

Με χρήση της 2.11 και κατάλληλη μαθηματική επεξεργασία που αναλύεται στο [6] προκύπτει η έκφραση της παραγώγου της επαυξημένης συνάρτησης. Είναι επιθυμητή η αποφυγή υπολογισμού των όρων  $\frac{\partial v_i}{\partial b_n}$  και  $\frac{\partial p}{\partial b_n}$  μιας και απαιτούν την επίλυση N συστημάτων. Για να επιτευχθεί αυτό, μηδενίζονται οι συντελεστές τους, καταλήγοντας έτσι στις αποκαλούμενες συζυγείς εξισώσεις μέσης ροής

$$R^q = -\frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_j} = 0 \tag{2.19}$$

$$R_{i}^{u} = u_{j}\frac{\partial v_{j}}{\partial x_{i}} - \frac{\partial (v_{j}u_{i})}{\partial x_{j}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}}\left[\left(\nu + \nu_{t}\right)\left(\frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{j}} + \frac{\partial u_{j}}{\partial x_{i}}\right)\right] + \frac{\partial q}{\partial x_{i}} + \acute{F}_{\Omega_{tar},i}^{v} = 0 \qquad i = 1, 2, 3$$

$$(2.20)$$

## 2.5 Συζυγείς Οριακές Συνθήκες

Οι συζυγείς οριαχές συνθήχες προχύπτουν από τον μηδενισμό χάποιων από τα εναπομείναντα επιφανειαχά ολοχληρώματα της παραγώγου της επαυξημένης συνάρτησης, που δεν μηδενίστηχαν για την παραγωγή των συζυγών εξισώσεων, βλ. [6]. Εφόσον η αντιχειμενιχή συνάρτηση επί του προχειμένου εξαρτάται μόνο από την ταχύτητα  $v_i$ , το αποτέλεσμα συνοπτιχά είναι οι εξης οριαχές συνθήχες:

- Μηδενική συνθήκη Dirichlet για την u<sub>i</sub> και μηδενική Neumann για την q στην είσοδο.
- Συνθήκη Robin για τις εφαπτομενικές συνιστώσες της συζυγούς ταχύτητας, μηδενική Neumann οριακή συνθήκη για την κάθετη συνιστώσα της συζυγούς ταχύτητας και Dirichlet οριακή συνθήκη για την q, στην έξοδο.

Η οριαχή συνθήχη Robin για την εφαπτομενιχές συνιστώσες της συζυγούς ταχύτητας, με τα εφαπτομενιχά στην επιφάνεια μοναδιαία διανύσματα να είναι  $t_i^l, l=1,2$ , εκφράζεται ως

$$v_{\langle n \rangle} u_{\langle t \rangle}^{l} + \left(\nu + \nu_{t}\right) \left(\frac{\partial u_{\langle t \rangle}^{l}}{\partial n} + \frac{\partial u_{\langle n \rangle}}{\partial t^{l}}\right) = 0$$
(2.21)

Η οριαχή συνθήχη Dirichlet για τη<br/>νqδίνεται από

$$q = u_{\langle n \rangle} v_{\langle n \rangle} + 2 \left( \nu + \nu_t \right) \frac{\partial u_{\langle n \rangle}}{\partial n} = 0$$
(2.22)

Μηδενική οριακή συνθήκη Dirichlet για την u<sub>i</sub> και μηδενική Neumann οριακή συνθήκη για την q στα σταθερά και τα παραμετροποιημένα τοιχώματα.

### 2.6 Παράγωγοι Ευαισθησίας

Αφού ικανοποιηθούν οι συζυγείς εξισώσεις και οι οριακές τους συνθήκες, προκύπτουν οι συζυγείς μεταβλητές από τον επιλύτη του συζυγούς προβλήματος. Τότε, είναι δυνατός ο υπολογισμός των παραγώγων ευαισθησίας από την ακόλουθη έκφραση

$$\frac{\delta F_{aug}}{\delta b_n} = -\int_{S_{W_P}} \left[ \left(\nu + \nu_t\right) \left(\frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i}\right) n_j - qn_i \right] \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_k} n_k \frac{\delta x_m}{\delta b_n} n_m dS + \int_{S_{W_P}} (u_i R_i^v + q R^p) \frac{\delta x_k}{\delta b_n} n_k dS \right]$$
(2.23)

όπου στον πρώτο όρο, μέσα στις αγκύλες βρίσκονται μόνο πρωτεύουσες και συζυγείς μεταβλητές, ενώ το εξωτερικό του τμήμα προκύπτει από τη διαφόριση της γεωμετρίας, η οποία προκύπτει από τον μορφοποιητή του πλέγματος.

# 2.7 Διακριτοποίηση και Επίλυση των Εξισώσεων

Τα συστήματα των Μερικών Διαφορικών Εξισώσεων (ΜΔΕ) του πρωτεύοντος (εξ. 2.1, 2.2) και του συζυγούς (εξ. 2.19, 2.20) προβλήματος πρέπει να διακριτοποιηθούν ώστε να μετασχηματιστούν σε αντίστοιχο σύστημα αλγεβρικών εξισώσεων και να επιλυθούν αριθμητικά, [6].

Οι εξισώσεις ασυμπίεστης, μόνιμης και τυρβώδους ροής δίνονται από τις εξ. 2.1, 2.2. Με σκοπό να κλείσει το σύστημα των εξισώσεων πρέπει να ληφθεί υπόψη και το μοντέλο τύρβης για τον υπολογισμό της  $\nu_t$ . Στον αλγόριθμο SIMPLE, που χρησιμοποιείται, οι εξισώσεις του μοντέλου τύρβης επιλύονται απεμπλεγμένα από τις εξισώσεις μέσης ροής.

Ο επιλύτης του πρωτεύοντος (που υπήρχε ήδη στο OpenFOAM CFD toolbox) και του συζυγούς προβλήματος (που αναπτύχθηκε από τη MIIYP&B/EMII) είναι προγραμματισμένοι σε περιβάλλον OpenFOAM και επιλύουν τις εξισώσεις ροής εφαρμόζοντας τον αλγόριθμο SIMPLE (Semi-Implicit Method for Pressure–Linked Equations) χρησιμοποιώντας κεντροκυψελική διατύπωση και διακριτοποίηση πεπερασμένων όγκων, σε μη δομημένα πλέγματα. Για τους όρους μεταφοράς χρησιμοποιήθηκαν σχήματα δεύτερης τάξης ανάντι (πρωτεύον) και κατάντι (συζυγές) διακριτοποίησης. Οι χωρικές παράγωγοι υπολογίζονται με χρήση του θεωρήματος Green–Gauss και χρησιμοποιείται γραμμική παρεμβολή των εμπλεκόμενων ροϊκών μεγεθών. Για περισσότερες πληροφορίες σχετικά με τα σχήματα διακριτοποίησης και τον αλγόριθμο SIMPLE ο αναγνώστης μπορεί να ανατρέξει στα [25], [28] και [6].



(α') Το υπολογιστικό χωρίο Ω του μοντέλου που μελετάται. Πλάγια όψη.



(β') Άνοψη του υπολογιστικού χωρίου. Η είσοδος  $S_I$  σημειώνεται με μπλέ χρώμα και ταυτίζεται με την είσοδο του αγωγού αποπαγοποίησης. Η έξοδος της ροής  $S_O$  σημειώνεται με κοκκινο χρώμα και βρίσκεται στο πίσω μέρος της καμπίνας, κοντά στον χώρο αποσκευών. Ως τοίχος  $S_W$  λαμβάνονται οι υπόλοιπες επιφάνειες της καμπίνας.

Σχήμα 2.1: Υπολογιστικό χωρίο του μοντέλου που εξετάζεται. Ορισμός της εισόδου και της εξόδου της ροής.



(α') Το υπολογιστικό χωρίο Ω και ο όγκος στόχου Ω<sub>tar</sub> σε πλάγια όψη.



(β') Το υπολογιστικό χωρίο Ω και ο όγκος στόχου Ω<sub>tar</sub> σε κάτοψη.

**Σχήμα 2.2:** Ο λεπτός όγκος στόχο Ω<sub>tar</sub> όπου υπολογίζεται η αντικειμενική συνάρτηση σημειώνεται με κόκκινο χρώμα.

# Κεφάλαιο 3

# Μορφοποίηση της Γεωμετρίας

# 3.1 Εισαγωγή στον Μορφοποιητή Πλέγματος

Όπως έχει προαναφερθεί στο κεφάλαιο 1, απαιτείται μία στρατηγική παραμετροποίησης και μετακίνησης του πλέγματος για την εκτέλεση αυτοματοποιημένης διαδικασίας βελτιστοποίησης. Στην προκειμένη περίπτωση θα χρησιμοποιηθεί η προσέγγιση με τη μέθοδο των ογκικών B-splines για την τοπική παραμετροποίηση του πλέγματος. Ο μορφοποιητής πλέγματος έχει αναπτυχθεί από την ΜΠΥΡ&B/ΕΜΠ [20].

Κάποια από τα κύρια χαρακτηριστικά του είναι τα ακόλουθα:

- Ορίζεται ο 3D χώρος που εμπεριέχει το τμήμα της γεωμετρίας προς βελτιστοποίηση. Παράγεται ένα δομημένο πλέγμα σημείων ελέγχου ογκικών καμπυλών B-splines. Τα σημεία ελέγχου θα αποτελέσουν και τις μεταβλητές σχεδιασμού του προβλήματος βελτιστοποίησης.
- Τα σημεία του CFD πλέγματος που περιλαμβάνονται στον παραπάνω χώρο παραπετροποιούνται με βάση τα σημεία ελέγχου.
- Η μετατόπιση των σημείων ελέγχου για κάθε κύκλο βελτιστοποίησης αντιστοιχεί σε μετατόπιση των επιφανειακών αλλά και των ογκικών κόμβων του πλέγματος.

## 3.2 Μαθηματικό Υπόβαθρο

Το λογισμικό, το οποίο εχει αναπτυχθεί από την ερευνητική ομάδα του ΜΠΥΡ&B [20], είναι βασισμένο στη θεωρία των ογκικών καμπυλών B–splines. Το μαθηματικό υπόβαθρο των καμπυλών αυτών παρουσιάζεται λεπτομερώς στα [22], [12], [20].

#### 3.2.1 Καμπύλες B-splines

Μία καμπύλη B-spline x(u) ορίζεται ως γραμμικός συνδιασμός  $b_i \in [0, n]$  σημείων ελέγχου και συναρτήσεων βάσης  $U_{i,p}(u)$  βαθμού p. Η καμπύλη περιγράφεται ως

$$x(u) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} U_{i,p}(u)b_i$$
(3.1)

Η εξίσωση 3.1 μπορεί επίσης να χρησιμοποιηθεί για την εύρεση των y(,z) συντεταγμένων της μονοπαραμετρικής καμπύλης στις 2(,3) διαστάσεις. Η καμπύλη που δίνεται από την εξ. 3.1 είναι μία τμηματικά πολυωνυμική καμπύλη, όπου το κάθε τμήμα είναι το πολύ βαθμού p. Για τον ορισμό των συναρτήσεων βάσης  $U_{i,p}$ , ορίζεται το διάνυσμα κόμβων  $\xi_i, i \in [0, m], m = n + p + 1$  το οποίο περιλαμβάνει κόμβους σε αύξουσα σειρά, καθένας από τους οποίους μπορεί να έχει πολλαπλότητα μεγαλύτερη τους ενός, δηλαδή να εμφανίζονται πολλές φορές στο διάνυσμα. Με σκοπό να προχύψουν καμπύλες που να διέρχονται από το πρώτο και το τελευταίο εκ των σημείων ελέγχου, το διάνυσμα κόμβων παίρνει την ομοιόμορφη μορφή:

$$\xi = [\underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{p+1}, \frac{1}{N}, \dots, \frac{N-1}{N}, \underbrace{1, \dots, 1}_{p+1}]$$
(3.2)

όπου N=n-p+1. Τα σημεία ελέγχου πρέπει να είναι τουλάχιστον κατά ένα περισσότερα του βαθμού της καμπύλης, δηλαδή  $n\geq p.$ 

Η συνάρτηση βάσης μηδενιχής τάξης δίνεται από

$$U_{i,0}(u) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \xi_i \le u < \xi_{i+1} \\ 0 & \text{elsewhere} \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

$$U_{i,p}(u) = \frac{u - \xi_i}{\xi_{i+p} - \xi_i} U_{i,p-1}(u) + \frac{\xi_{i+p+1} - u}{\xi_{i+p+1} - \xi_{i+p}} U_{i+1,p-1}(u)$$
(3.4)

Εάν κατά τον υπολογισμό των τιμών των συναρτήσεων βάσης προκύψει ο λόγος  $\frac{0}{0}$  ορίζεται ότι η τιμή του είναι 0. Ο βαθμός p καθορίζει το εύρος της επιρροής του ελέγχου των σημείων ελέγχου. Με άλλα λόγια, κάθε συνάρτηση βάσης και, άρα, κάθε σημείο ελέγχου, επηρεάζει σημεία με παραμετρικές συντεταγμένες σε εύρος κόμβων p + 1, δηλαδή που βρίσκονται στο διάστημα [ $\xi, \xi_{i+p+1}$ ]. Αυτό δίνει στις καμπύλες B-splines τη δυνατότητα της τοπικής υποστήριξης, δηλαδή μπορεί επιλεκτικά ένα τμήμα της καμπύλης να μεταβληθεί, αφήνοντας την υπόλοιπη ανέγγιχτη. Το εύρος αυτού του τοπικού χαρακτήρα ελέγχεται με το βαθμό p της καμπύλης, όπου όσο πιο μικρός αυτός ο βαθμός, τόσο πιο έντονα έλκεται η καμπύλη από τα σημεία ελέγχου. Αυτό μπορεί να διαπιστωθεί και με τη βοήθεια του σχήματος 3.1.

#### 3.2.2 Ογκικές B-splines

Οι ογκικές B-splines ομοιάζουν ως προς τον ορισμό και τις ιδιότητές τους με τις μονοπαραμετρικές καμπύλες που αναλύθηκαν παραπάνω, ωστόσο εδώ οι παράμετροι είναι τρείς u, v, w.

Οι καρτεσιανές συντεταγμένες  $\mathbf{x} = [x_1, x_2, x_3]^T = [x, y, z]^T$  ενός σημείου του υπολογιστικού πλέγματος που τίθεται υπό παραμετροποίηση, που σημαίνει ότι βρίσκεται εντός του χώρου του πλέγματος των σημείων ελέγχου, δίδονται από

$$x_m(u, v, w) = \sum_{i=0}^{I} \sum_{j=0}^{J} \sum_{k=0}^{K} U_{i,pu}(u) V_{j,pv}(v) W_{k,pw}(w) b_m^{ijk}$$
(3.5)

όπου  $\mathbf{u} = [u_1, u_2, u_3]^T = [u, v, w]^T$  είναι οι παραμετρικές συντεταγμένες του σημείου, U, V, W είναι οι συναρτήσεις βάσης των B-splines και pu, pv, pw οι βαθμοί τους αντίστοιχα.  $b_m^{ijk}, m \in [1, 3], i \in [0, I], j \in [0, J], k \in [0, K]$ , είναι οι καρτεσιανές συντεταγμένες του ijk-οστού σημείου ελέγχου του 3D πλέγματος ελέγχου, όπου I, J και K είναι ο αριθμός των σημείων ελέγχου ανά κατεύθυνση.

Εφόσον οι παραμετρικές συντεταγμένες **u** των σημείων του πλέγματος είναι γνωστές, ο υπολογισμός των καρτεσιανών είναι ευθύς, με πολύ χαμηλό υπολογιστικό κόστος. Αυτές μπορούν να υπολογιστούν με ακρίβεια, με απεικόνιση του  $\Re^3(u, v, w)$ στο  $\Re^3(x, y, z)$ .

Με δεδομένες τις συντεταγμένες των σημείων ελέγχου, των διανυσμάτων κόμβου και των βαθμών των συναρτήσεων βάσης, οι παραμετρικές συντεταγμένες (u, v, w)ενός σημείου με καρτεσιανές συντεταγμένες  $\mathbf{r} = [x_r, y_r, z_r]^T$  μπορούν να υπολογισθούν επιλύοντας το σύστημα

$$\mathbf{R}(u, v, w) = \begin{bmatrix} x(u, v, w) - x_r = 0\\ y(u, v, w) - y_r = 0\\ z(u, v, w) - z_r = 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.6)

όπου  $x_m(u, v, w)$  υπολογίζονται από την εξ. 3.5 με βάση τις τιμές των **b**. Το  $3 \times 3$ σύστημα των εξ. 3.6 λύνεται ανεξάρτητα για κάθε παραμετροποιημένο σημείο το πλέγματος, με την αριθμητική μέθοδο Newton–Raphson, αφού υπολογισθεί και αντιστραφεί το ιακωβιανό μητρώο  $\frac{\partial x_m}{\partial u_j}, m, j \in [1, 3]$ . Το μητρώο αυτό υπολογίζεται αναλυτικά με διαφόριση της εξ. 3.5 ως προς τις συνιστώσες του **u**.

## 3.3 Αλγόριθμος Βελτιστοποίησης

Για την εκτέλεση μίας αυτοματοποιημένης διαδικασίας βελτιστοποίησης μορφής, χρησιμοποιείται ο επιλύτης του συζυγούς προβλήματος μαζί με το λογισμικό μορφοποίησης [20]. Τα βήματα με τα οποία πραγματοποιείται μία τέτοια διαδικασία είναι:

- Ορίζεται ο χώρος που εμπεριέχει τη γεωμετρία υπό βελτιστοποίηση. Ορίζεται το πλήθος των σημείων ελέγχου και ο βαθμός των συναρτήσεων βάσης με βάση τα παραπάνω. Έτσι δημιουργείται το δομημένο πλέγμα των σημείων ελέγχου.
- Βρίσκονται τα σημεία του υπολογιστικού πλέγματος που εμπεριέχονται στο πλέγμα των σημείων ελέγχου. Για αυτά τα σημεία υπολογίζονται οι παραμετρικές συντεταγμένες.
- Υπολογίζονται οι παραμετρικές συντεταγμένες των σημείων που βρέθηκαν κατά το βήμα 2. Το υπολογιστικό κόστος του βήματος αυξάνεται με την αύξηση των σημείων ελέγχου ή των σημείων που παραμετροποιούνται.
- 4. Επίλύονται οι εξισώσεις ροής.
- Υπολογίζεται η τιμή της αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης και εφαρμόζεται το κριτήριο τερματισμού.
- 6. Επιλύονται οι συζυγείς εξισώσεις.
- 7. Υπολογίζεται η κλίση της αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης ως προς τους επιφανειακούς κόμβους τους πλέγματος  $\frac{\delta F}{\delta x_m}$  (surface sensitivities).
- Προβάλλονται αυτές οι παράγωγοι στα σημεία ελέγχου με σκοπό τον υπολογισμό των παραγώγων ευαισθησίας ως προς αυτά

$$\frac{\delta F}{\delta b_i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n_p} \sum_{m=1}^3 \frac{\delta F}{\delta x_m^j} \frac{\delta x_m^j}{\delta b_i}$$
(3.7)

όπου  $n_p$  ο αριθμός των σημείων ελέγχου του πλέγματος που θα μετατοπιστούν. Η ποσότητα  $\frac{\delta x_m^j}{\delta b_i}$  υπολογίζεται αναλυτικά με διαφόριση της εξ. 3.5 ως προς  $b_i$ .

9. Ανανεώνονται οι θέσεις των σημείων ελέγχου. Στην με τη μέθοδο της απότομης καθόδου

$$b_i^l = b_i^{l-1} - \eta \frac{\delta F}{\delta b_i} \Big|_{l-1}$$
(3.8)

όπου η ένας θετικός αριθμός που ορίζει το βήμα της καθόδου και l η τρέχουσα επανάληψη. Αν υπάρχουν περιοχές του πλέγματος που δεν παραμετροποιούνται, συνήθως τα εξωτερικά σημεία του πλέγματος ελέγχου παραμένουν ακίνητα, ώστε να μην υπάρξει επικάλυψη παραμετροποιημένων περιοχών και μη.

- Υπολογίζονται οι νέες θέσεις των επιφανειαχών χαι ογχιχών χόμβων του υπολογστιχού πλέγματος, χρησιμοποιώντας τις ήδη υπολογισμένες παραμετριχές τους συντεταγμένες.
- 11. Επιστροφή στο βήμα 4.



(γ') Καμπύλες B-splines που έχουν δημιουργηθεί με τις συναρτήσεις βάσεις των δύο παραπάνω σχημάτων, για τα σημεία ελέγχου που φαίνονται στο σχήμα.

Σχήμα 3.1: Για τα πρώτα δύο σχήματα, για κάθε u, το άθροισμα των συναρτήσεων βάσεις ισούται με τη μονάδα. Στο τρίτο σχήμα, παράγονται δύο καμπύλες B-splines πολλαπλασιάζοντας τις παραπάνω συναρτήσεις βάσεις με τα σημεία ελέγχου που φαίνονται στο σχήμα. Οι καρτεσιανές συντεταγμένες της καμπύλης υπολογίζονται μέσω της εξ. 3.1, για το διάνυσμα των σημείων ελέγχου  $b^i = [b_x^i, b_y^i]^T, 2D$ . όπως είναι εμφανές, η καμπύλη με μικρότερο βαθμό ρ έλκεται πιο έντονα από τα σημεία ελέγχου.

# Κεφάλαιο 4

# Μελέτη και Πειραματική Πιστοποίηση του Πλήρους Μοντέλου–Αγωγός Αποπαγοποίησης & Καμπίνα

Ο κύριος στόχος του εγχειρήματος είναι η βελτίωση της απόδοσης αποπαγοποίησης και αποθάμβωσης ενός οχήματος. Ώστόσο πρίν το βήμα της βελτιστοποίησης, είναι απαραίτητη η επίλυση του πρωτεύοντος προβλήματος για την προσομοίωση της ροής υπό μελέτη. Η μονάδα HVAC του αυτοκινήτου παρέχει θερμό αέρα στον αγωγό αποπαγοποίησης, ο οποίος έπειτα τον διοχετεύει στην περιοχή του ανεμοθώρακα, υπό τη μορφή δεσμών αέρα υψηλής ταχύτητας. Έπειτα, ο αέρας ρέει στην καμπίνα του αυτοκινήτου και εξέρχεται από το πίσω της μέρος. Αυτό λοιπόν, είναι και το υπολογιστικό μοντέλο που πρέπει να κατασκευασθεί και να προσομοιωθεί σε αυτό η ροή.

## 4.1 Διαδικασία της Μέτρησης και Αποτελέσματα

Αρχικά, είναι σημαντική η σύγκριση πειραματικών μετρήσεων με τα αποτελέσματα υπολογιστικής προσομοίωσης για να χτιστεί εμπιστοσύνη στη εφαρμοζόμενη μέθοδο [9]. Το σημείο ενδιαφέροντος είναι η ροή κοντά στο παρμπρίζ, οπότε επιθυμείται η εξασφάλιση υψηλής ακρίβειας υπολογισμού της κατανομής της ταχύτητας σε αυτήν την περιοχή.

Για αυτόν τον λόγο, πραγματοποιείαι μέτρηση με ανεμόμετρο hot-wire, για τον πειραματικό καθορισμό του πεδίου της ταχύτητας στην γειτνίαση με την εσωτερική πλευρά του ανεμοθώρακα [8], [9]. Η χρήση του συγκεκριμένου μετρητικού οργάνου ενδείκνυται για την ποσοτικοποίηση της ταχύτητας της ροής κοντά στο παρμπρίζ και την επικύρωση υπολογιστικών προσομοιώσεων σύμφωνα με τα [9], [5]. Για τη μέτρηση δημιουργείται πλέγμα με διάστημα 100mm στην επιφάνεια του παμπρίζ [8], σχ. 4.1α΄. Η παροχή της μονάδας HVAC ελέγχεται με εξωτερική πηγή τάσης ώστε να παραμένει σταθερή η παροχή στον αγωγό αποπαγοποίησης κατά τη διάρκεια της μέτρησης. Η ταχύτητα μετράται για κάθε σημείο του πλέγματος με το ανεμόμετρο βλ. σχ. 4.1β΄, όχι ακριβώς στην επιφάνεια του ανεμοθώρακα, όπου η ταχύτητα είναι μηδέν λόγω της συνθήκης μη ολίσθησης, αλλά σε κάθετη απόσταση 7mm. Η απόσταση αυτή προκύπτει από το γεγονός ότι το όργανο, κατά τη μέτρηση, κείται στην εσωτερική επιφάνεια του ανεμοθώρακα με τρόπο ώστε η άκρη του να είναι σε απόσταση 7mm από την επιφάνεια. Αυτό είναι και το ενδεδειγμένο βάθος για τέτοιου είδους μετρήσεις σύμφωνα με το [8].

Η μετρηθείσα κατανομή ταχύτητας όπως φαίνεται στο σχ. 4.8β' δεν είναι συμμετρική, καθώς το ταμπλό του αυτοκινήτου δεν είναι συμμετρικό. Στην πλευρά του οδηγού, το ταχύμετρο πίσω από το τιμόνι δημιουργεί αυτήν την ασυμμετρία, η οποία επηρεάζει την ροή που εξέρχεται από τον αγωγό αποπαγοποίησης προς τον ανεμοθώρακα. Επιπροσθέτως, αν και στην προσομοίωση θεωρούμε ότι η μονάδα HVAC παρέχει ομοιόμορφη ροή στην έξοδο, που είναι η ιδανιχή υπόθεση, αυτό δεν συμβαίνει στην πραγματικότητα. Για μεγαλύτερη ακρίβεια, θα έπρεπε να είχε συμπεριληφθεί ολόκληρη η μονάδα ΗVAC στο υπολογιστικό μοντέλο [27] ωστόσο αυτό θα είχε μεγάλο υπολογιστικό κόστος. Επιπλέον, μία ακόμη αιτία που τα δύο συγκρινόμενα μοτίβα είναι ανόμοια είναι εξαιτίας του σφάλματος του μετρητικού οργάνου που χρησιμοποιήθηκε, αλλά και εξαιτίας της διαταραγής στη ροή που προκαλείται από την τοποθέτηση του οργάνου όπως φαίνεται στο σχήμα 4.1β΄. Επίσης, κατά τη μέτρηση, οι πλευρικές έξοδοι του αγωγού αποπαγοποίησης σφραγίστηκαν με κολλητική ταινία, οπότε η στεγανότητα δεν είναι πλήρως εξασφαλισμένη. Τέλος, σε ένα πραγματικό αυτοκίνητο, υπάρχει μικρή διαρροή αέρα (δεν είναι απόλυτα στεγανό) από τις πόρτες και από άλλά τμήματα, οπότε η παροχή αέρα που τελικά διοχετεύεται στον ανεμοθώρακα από τον αγωγό είναι μικρότερη από αυτήν που παρέχει η μονάδα κλιματισμού. Για τους παραπάνω λόγους λοιπόν αναμένεται η κατανομή ταχύτητας που θα προκύψει από την CFD ανάλυση να είναι λίγο διαφορετική από τη μετρηθείσα, δίνοντας μεγαλύτερες τιμές ταχύτητας του αέρα, όντας πιο συμμετρική. Ωστόσο, αναμένεται η εικόνα να είναι ποιοτικά παρόμοια.

## 4.2 Πλεγματοποίηση και Υπολογισμός

Για τον αχριβή υπολογισμό της ροής μέσω CFD η δημιουργία χαλής ποιότητας πλέγματος είναι ζωτιχής σημασίας. Ένα χαλό πλέγμα συνεπάγεται αχριβή περιγραφή των σημαντιχών τουλάχιστον γεωμετριών που εμπεριέχονται. Επίσης θα πρέπει να συνάδει με χάποια ποιοτιχά χριτήρια, τα οποία διαφέρουν ανάλογα με τον επιλύτη της ροής που χρησιμοποιείται.

Στην τρέχουσα περίπτωση, για την επιτάχυνση της διαδικασίας δημιουργίας του υπολογιστικού μοντέλου, χρησιμοποιήθηκαν δεδομένα CAD μόνο για τα τμήματα που απαιτείται υψηλή ακρίβεια (αγωγός αποπαγοποίησης, ανεμοθώρακας, ταμπλό κοντά στην έξοδο του αγωγού, καθρέπτης) σχ. 4.2. Για τα υπόλοιπα τμήματα του εσωτερικού του αυτοκινήτου, χρησιμοποιήθηκαν ήδη διαθέσιμα δεδομένα που προήλθαν από σκανάρισμα με λέιζερ της επιφάνειας του εσωτερικού της καμπίνας. Αυτή η διαδικασία προτιμήθηκε γιατί η συγκέντρωση και η διαχείρηση των δεκάδων τμημάτων CAD που απαρτίζουν το εσωτερικό του αυτοκινήτου είναι μία πολύ χρονοβόρα διαδικασία. Επιπλέον, αν είχαν χρησιμοποιηθεί τα δεδομένα CAD θα έπρεπε πρώτα να απομονωθεί η εσωτερική τους μόνο επιφάνεια πρωτού δημιουργηθεί το πλέγμα, μία διαδικασία επίσης χρονοβόρα. Τέλος, καθώς σύμφωνα με το [4] η εσωτερική επιφάνεια του οχήματος μπορεί να απλοποιηθεί για να μειωθεί ο χρόνος υπολογισμού ενώ παράλληλα διατηρείται η ακρίβεια στα επιθυμητά επίπεδα, η παραπάνω διαδικασία ευσταθεί.

Μετά την εκκαθάριση της γεωμετρίας, τα δεδομένα CAD ενώθηκαν προσεκτικά με τα δεδομένα STL που προήλθαν από το σκανάρισμα με λέιζερ. Καθορίστηκαν ζώνες πύκνωσης του πλέγματος για την επίτευξη υψηλής ακρίβειας υπολογισμών στο έμπροσθεν τμήμα της καμπίνας και παράλληλα εφαρμόσθηκε πιο αραιό πλέγμα στο πίσω μέρος της, ώστε να κρατηθεί το υπολογιστικό κόστος σε λογικά επίπεδα [27].

Στο υπολογιστικό μοντέλο η είσοδος της ροής βρίσκεται στην είσοδο του αγωγού αποπαγοποίησης, και ως έξοδος ορίστηκε μία ορθογωνική μικρή επιφάνεια κοντά στο πορτμπαγκάζ του αυτοκινήτου. Το τελικό πλέγμα έχει 8399341 κελιά (cells) από τα οποία 2435602 είναι πρίσματα, 7958 είναι πυραμίδες και τα υπόλοιπα 5955781 είναι τετράεδρα σχ. 4.3β'. Το επιφανειακό πλέγμα αποτελείται από 624470 κελιά. Το πλέγμα δημιουργήθηκε από την BETA CAE Systems για την TME.

Η οριαχή συνθήχη για την ταχύτητα στην είσοδο υπαγορεύεται από την αντίστοιχη παροχή αέρα που επιβλήθηχε χατά τη διάρχεια της μέτρησης. Ο αριθμός Reynolds της ροής ήταν περίπου 20000 με βάση την υδραυλιχή διάμετρο στην είσοδο. Οι οριαχές συνθήχες στον τοίχο για το k και ε προέχυψαν από εφαρμογή των συναρτήσεων τοίχου που εμπεριέχονται στο περιβάλλον του OpenFOAM.

Η λύση συγκλίνει μετά από 40000 επαναλήψεις όπου έχουν ικανοποιηθεί τα κριτήρια σύγκλισης. Εκτός από την σύγκλιση των υπολοίπων των εξισώσεων, παρακολουθείται και το μέτρο της ταχύτητας σε ένα από τα σημεία του πλέγματος στα οποία έγινε η αντίστοιχη μέτρηση (το πλέγμα φαίνεται στο σχ. 4.1γ΄). Τα αντίστοιχα γραφήματα παρουσιάζονται στο σχ. 4.4.

Τα αποτελέσματα που προέχυψαν υφίστανται κατάλληλη επεξεργασία για οπτικοποίηση της ροής στην καμπίνα κυρίως στην περιοχή ενδιαφέροντος, κοντά στον ανεμοθώρακα. Οι γραμμές ροής κοντά στον ανεμοθώρακα φαίνονται στο σχ.4.5. Τα πεδία ροής σε τομή παρουσιάζονται στο σχήμα 4.6. Οι ψηλότερες τιμές ταχύτητας και πίεσης βρίσκονται μέσα στον αγωγό αποπαγοποίησης και κοντά στον ανεμοθώρακα. Στο υπόλοιπο της καμπίνας δεν εμφανίζονται έντονα φαινόμενα ροής, όπως αναμενόταν.

Οπτικοποιείται επίσης η κατανομή της ταχύτητας κοντά στον ανεμοθώρακα με σκοπό την αξιολόγησή της και την εύρεση κατάλληλης έκφρασης της αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης που θα την βελτιώνει. Όπως είναι εμφανές από το σχ. 4.7, στην τρέχουσα κατανομή, χαμηλή ταχύτητα αέρα φθάνει το άνω τμήμα της, μη ευνοώντας την διαδικασία αποπαγοποίησης.

# 4.3 Σύγκριση των Κατανομών Ταχύτητας μέσω Μέτρησης και CFD

Τα αποτελέσματα της υπολογιστικής προσομοίωσης υπέστησαν κατάλληλη επεξεργασία για να απομονωθεί η τιμή του μέτρου της ταχύτητας για σημεία που αντιστοιχούν στα σημεία του πλέγματος για τα οποία λήφθηκαν οι μετρήσεις [27]. Οι προκύπτουσες διδιάστατες κατανομές παρουσιάζονται στο σχ. 4.8 η σύγκρισή μεταξύ των πειραματικών και των CFD αποτελεσμάτων κρίνεται ως ικανοποιητική, δεδομένων των προαναφερθέντων προβλημάτων ασυμμετρίας, διαρροής, σφαλμάτων κατά τη μέτρηση και διαταραχών στη ροή που πηγάζουν από την στήριξη του μετρητικού οργάνου με το χέρι. Οι κατανομές συγκρινόμενες παρουσιάζουν αρκετές ομοιότητες, δίνοντας την ίδια ποιοτική εικόνα και δημιουργώντας έτσι εμπιστοσύνη στα αποτελέματα, τα οποία μπορούμε και να χρησιμοποιήσουμε πλέον για την επίλυση του συζυγούς προβλήματος.



(α') Πλέγμα της μέτρησης από την εσωτερική πλευρά.



(β') Μέτρηση με ανεμόμετρο hot-wire.





Σχήμα 4.1: Ρύθμιση της μέτρησης κατανομής ταχύτητας.



Σχήμα 4.2: Δεδομένα CAD για τα σημαντικά μέρη του μοντέλου: αγωγός αποπαγοποίησης, ανεμοθώρακας, ταμπλό κοντά στην έξοδο του αγωγού, καθρέπτης.



(β') Το υπολογιστικό πλέγμα του μοντέλου έχει περίπου 9 εκατομμύρια κελιά. Οι πιο σκούρες περιοχές αντιστοιχούν σε περιοχές με πιο πυκνό πλέγμα, καθώς εκεί απαιτείται υψηλή ακρίβεια. Αυτό επιτυγχάνεται με χρήση ζωνών πύκνωσης.





(α') Τα αδιαστατοποιημένα υπόλοιπα των εξισώσεων μειώνονται κατά 5 τάξεις μεγέθους τουλάχιστον. Οι ταλαντώσεις τους οφείλονται στη χρήση επιλύτη μόνιμης ροής (για λόγους μείωσης του υπολογιστικού κόστους), αν και παρουσιάζεται τοπικά μη-μονιμότητα της ροής.



(β') Μέτρο της ταχύτητας σε ένα από τα αντίστοιχα σημεία του πλέγματος κοντά στο παμπρίζ που δημιουγήθηκαν κατά τη μέτρηση. Το γράφημα εστιάζει στις τελευταίες χιλιάδες επαναλήψεων όπου φαίνεται ότι η περιοχή κοντά στο παμπρίζ έχει φτάσει στη μόνιμη λύση. Το μέτρο της ταχύτητας στον y-άξονα είναι αδιαστατοποιημένο, διαιρούμενο με τη μέγιστη τιμή του μεγέθους που παρουσιάζεται κατά το τρέξιμο.

Σχήμα 4.4: Σύγκλιση του πρωτεύοντος προβλήματος. Τα υπόλοιπα των εξισώσεων και η σύγκλιση του μέτρου της ταχύτητας είναι ικανοποιητικά.



(β') Γραμμές ροής κοντά στον ανεμοθώρακα. (γ') Γραμμές ροής στον ανεμοθώρακα.

Σχήμα 4.5: Οι γραμμές ροής που στα παραπάνω σχήματα, αρχίζουν από την είσοδο του αγωγού και υποδεικνύουν την παρουσία μικρών στροβιλισμών χαμηλής ταχύτητας στο κάτω μέρος του ανεμοθώρακα, πρίν το σημείο όπου η δέσμη που εξέρχεται από τον αγωγό προσκολλάται στο τζάμι. Η δέσμη παραμένει προσκολλημένη σχεδόν μέχρι το επίπεδο του καθρέπτη, όπου και αρχίζει πάλι να ανακυκλοφορεί.



(α') Κατανομή της πίεσης στο επίπεδο συμμετρίας. Στο εσωτερικό της καμπίνας, η πίεση είναι σχεδόν ομοιόμορφη ενώ στον αγωγό λαμβάνει μεγάλες αρνητικές τιμές σε κάποιες περιοχές και μεγάλες θετικές τιμές σε κάποιες άλλες.



(β') Κατανομή του μέτρου της ταχύτητας στο επίπεδο συμμετρίας. Εσωτερικά της καμπίνας, το μέτρο της ταχύτητας είναι σχεδόν μηδενικό ενώ στον αγωγό και κοντά στον ανεμοθώρακα λαμβάνει αρκετά μεγάλες τιμές.

Σχήμα 4.6: Κατανομές των πεδίων ροής στο επίπεδο συμμετρίας.



Σχήμα 4.7: Η κατανομή της ταχύτητας κοντά στον ανεμοθώρακα που προέκυψε από την προσομοίωση CFD. Η προβολή της κατανομής γίνεται όχι ακριβώς πάνω στο τζάμι που η ταχύτητα είναι μηδενική, αλλά σε εσωτερική απόσταση 7mm. Είναι εμφανές ότι ο ανεμοθώρακας στο άνω μισό τμήμα του καλύπτεται από αέρα χαμηλής ταχύτητας ενώ στο κατώτερο τμήμα, κοντά στην έξοδο του αγωγού αποπαγοποίησης, η ταχύτητα είναι αρκετά υψηλή.



(α') 2D κατανομή της ταχύτητας από τα αποτελέσματα του CFD, με εξαγωγή του μέτρου της ταχύτητας μόνο στα σημεία που αντιστοιχούν σε αυτά της μέτρησης.



Σχήμα 4.8: Σύγκριση μεταξύ των αποτελεσμάτων του CFD και της μέτρησης για την κατανομή της ταχύτητας κοντά στον ανεμοθώρακα. Οι άξονες υποδηλώνουν τη θέση στο 2-διάστατο πλέγμα που δημιουργήθηκε κατά τη μέτρηση, (βλ. σχ. 4.1). Με βάση τις τιμές που συλλέχθηκαν έχει γίνει παρεμβολή για πιο ρεαλιστική οπτικοποίηση. Τα δύο σχήματα διαφέρουν, ωστόσο ποιοτικά υποδηλώνουν την ίδια κατανομή της ταχύτητας του αέρα.

# Κεφάλαιο 5

# Βελτιστοποίηση του Αγωγού Αποπαγοποίησης

# 5.1 Επίλυση των Συζυγών Εξισώσεων και Χάρτης Ευαισθησίας

Η κατανομή της ταχύτητας κοντά στον ανεμοθώρακα, όπως παρουσιάστηκε στο προηγούμενο κεφάλαιο, αντικατοπτρίζει τις αδυναμίες του τρέχοντος μοτίβου αποπαγοποίησης (του τρόπου με τον οποίο εξαλείφεται το στρώμα πάγου του παρμπρίζ). Όπως είναι λογικό, και όπως προτείνεται και από δημοσιεύσεις όπως [10], ιδανικά η κατανομή της ταχύτητας του αέρα πρέπει να είναι ομοιόμορφη για να ευνοεί την αποπαγοποίηση. Επίσης, η τμηματική αποπαγοποίηση που αφήνει κοιλίδες δεν είναι κάτι το ευχάριστο για τους επιβάτες. Οπότε ως στόχος τίθεται μία σταθερή ταχύτητα σε όλη την επιφάνεια του ανεμοθώρακα για να ευνοηθεί η ομοιομορφία. Επιπλέον, το γεγονός ότι στο άνω τμήμα του ανεμοθώρακα φθάνει αέρας χαμηλής ταχύτητας, αποτελεί μειονέκτημα για την απόδοση αποπαγοποίησης–αποθάμβωσης.

Συνεπώς, για να επιτευχθεί βελτίωση του μοτίβου αρχικά τίθεται ως ταχύτητα στόχος μία σταθερή ταχύτητα  $v_{tar}$  και ως όγκος στόχου, βλ. σχ. 5.1 (όγκος στον οποίο υπολογίζεται η αντικειμενική συνάρτηση) ένας λεπτός όγκος με το σχήμα του ανεμοθώρακα και πάχος 20mm, σε απόσταση 7mm από την εσωτερική επιφάνεια του ανεμοθώρακα.

Μετά τον ορισμό της ταχύτητας στόχου και του όγκου στόχου επιλύονται οι συζυγείς εξισώσεις και προκύπτει ο χάρτης ευαισθησίας. Ο επιλύτης του συζυγούς προβλήματος επιλύει τις εξισώσεις για μερικές χιλιάδες επαναλήψεις, ώσπου τα υπόλοιπα των εξισώσεων είναι ικανοποιητικά μικρά (κάτω από 10<sup>-7</sup>) και τα συζυγή πεδία έχουν σταθεροποιηθεί, βλ. σχ. 5.3. Έπειτα υπολογίζονται οι παράγωγοι ευαισθησίας για τον αγωγό αποπαγοποίησης, την περιοχή που επιθυμείται να μορφοποιηθεί.

Ο προκύπτων χάρτης ευαισθησίας παρουσιάζεται στο σχ. 5.2. Με μπλέ χρώμα σημειώνονται οι περιοχές (κελιά) που πρέπει να τραβηχθούν προς τα έξω, ενώ με κόκ-





(β') Κάτοψη του όγκου στόχου.

**Σχήμα 5.1:** Ο όγκος στόχου είναι όγκος με το σχήμα της επιφάνειας του ανεμοθώρακα, πάχους 20mm, σε απόσταση 7mm από το τζάμι. Περιλαμβάνει 660104 κελιά του υπολογιστικού χωρίου. Η ταχύτητα στόχος  $v_{tar}$  είναι σταθερή σε όλη την έκταση του όγκου αυτού.

κινο οι περιοχές που πρέπει να σπρωχθούν προς τα μέσα, ώστε να επιτευχθεί καλύτερη κατανομή ταχύτητας στον ανεμοθώρακα.

Οι χάρτες ευαισθησίας χρησιμοποιούνται γενικά για να υποδηλώσουν περιοχές όπου η αλλαγή στην γεωμετρία θα επιφέρει βελτίωση στη ροή. Ωστόσο η πληροφορία που παρέχουν δεν χρησιμοποιείται αυτούσια καθώς περιέχει αρκετό θόρυβο. Ακολουθείται η διαδικασία που περιγράφηκε αναλυτικά στο κεφάλαιο 3.

## 5.2 Βελτιστοποίηση-Επιλογή Τελικής Γεωμετρίας

Για την πραγματοποίηση αυτοματοποιημένων διαδικασιών βελτιστοποίησης χρημοποιείται επιλύτης του συζυγούς προβλήματος σε συνεργασία με μορφοποιητή πλέγματος βασισμένο στις ογκικές B-Splines, λογισμικά που αναπτύχθηκαν από τη ΜΠΥΡ&B/ΕΜΠ, σε περιβάλλον OpenFOAM, όπως αναλύθηκε σε προηγούμενα κεφάλαια. Μετά τη ρύθμιση των παραμέτρων βελτιστοποίησης και του επιλύτη, η διαδικασία τρέχει μέχρι την εκπλήρωση του κριτηρίου τερματισμού (πχ. μέχρι τον μέγιστο αριθμό επαναλήψεων) ή μέχρι να παραχθεί ένα μη-αποδεκτό πλέγμα.

Πραγματοποιήθηκαν αρκετά τέτοια τρεξίματα εως ότου επιλέχθηκε κατάλληλο νέο σχήμα αγωγού αποπαγοποίησης. Τα τρεξίματα διαφέρουν ως προς την παραμετροποίησή τους, την παραμετροποιημένη περιοχή και τον όγκο στόχου. Η ανάγκη αυτή για πολλά τρεξίματα αντί για ένα, προκύπτει από το γεγονός ότι κατασκευαστικοί και τοπολογικοί περιορισμοί δεν συμπεριλήφθηκαν στη βελτιστοποίηση. Στο τέλος λοιπόν κάθε αυτοματοποιημένου τρεξίματος, οι περιορισμοί αυτοί λαμβάνονται υπόψη, καθώς ο νέος αγωγός εκτός από το να συμβάλει στην καλύτερη απόδοση αποπαγοποίησης, πρέπει να είναι κατασκευάσιμος και να χωρά και στη διάταξη που απαρτίζουν ο αγωγός με τα γειτονικά του μέρη.

Ο αγωγός που επιλέχθηκε από την παραπάνω διαδικασία παρουσιάζει 43% πτώση της αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης (εξ.2.7), γεγονός που εκφράζει το ότι ο στόχος προ-



(β') Παράγωγοι ευαισθησίας για το οπίσθιο τμήμα του αγωγού.

Σχήμα 5.2: Οι παράγωγοι ευαισθησίας υποδηλώνουν την αλλαγή στην αντικειμενική συνάρτηση F λόγω κάθετης μετατόπισης των κελιών στην επιφάνεια της γεωμετρίας, στην περίπτωση αυτή, των εσωτερικών τοιχωμάτων του αγωγού αποπαγοποίησης  $(\frac{\delta F}{\delta n_i})$ . Με μπλέ χρώμα σημειώνονται οι περιοχές που πρέπει να τραβηχθούν προς τα εξω, ε-νώ με κόκκινο οι περιοχές που πρέπει να σπρωχθούν προς τα μέσα, ώστε να μειωθεί η αντικειμενική συνάρτηση και άρα να προκύψει βελτιωμένη κατανομή της ταχύτητας.

σεγγίσθηκε ικανοποιητικά.

Η περιοχή του αγωγού που παραμετροποιήθηκε σε συνδιασμό με το πλέγμα των σημείων ελέγχου που επιλέχθηκε παρουσιάζονται στο σχ. 5.5. Το πλέγμα ελέγχου αποτελείται από  $3 \times 7 \times 9$  σημεία ελέγχου με βαθμό συναρτήσεων βάσης  $p_u = 2, p_v = 3, p_w = 3$  αντίστοιχα. Το πλέγμα ελέγχου περικλείει 526157 κόμβους του πλέγματος. Η κίνηση των σημείων ελέγχου έχει επιλεχθεί να επιτρέπεται μόνο κατά την Χκατεύθυνση.

Τα σημεία ελέγχου, επίσης, επιτρέπεται να μετακινούνται κατά τον μέσο όρο της μετατόπισης που υποδηλώνει για αυτά η κλίση της αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης ανά ισοεπιφάνεια (iso-plane). Αυτό έχει ως αποτέλεσμα την παραγωγή λείων επιφανειών, πράγμα που ευνοεί την κατασκευαστική διαδικασία. Το παραχθέν σχήμα σε σύγκριση με το αρχικό του αγωγού, αλλά και το πεδί<br/>α $v-v_{tar}$ στον όγκο στόχου παρουσιάζονται στο σχ. 5.6.



(α') Τα αδιαστατοποιημένα υπόλοιπα των εξισώσεων μειώνονται κατά 5 τάξεις μεγέθους τουλάχιστον.



(β') Μέτρο της συζυγούς ταχύτητας σε ένα από τα αντίστοιχα σημεία του πλέγματος κοντά στο παμπρίζ που δημιουγήθηκαν κατά τη μέτρηση. Το γράφημα εστιάζει στις τελευταίες χιλιάδες επαναλήψεων όπου φαίνεται ότι η περιοχή κοντά στο παμπρίζ έχει φτάσει στη μόνιμη λύση. Το μέτρο της ταχύτητας στον y-άξονα είναι αδιαστατοποιημένο, διαιρούμενο με τη μέγιστη τιμή του μεγέθους που παρουσιάζεται κατά το τρέξιμο.

Σχήμα 5.3: Σύγκλιση του συζυγούς προβλήματος. Τα υπόλοιπα των εξισώσεων και η σύγκλιση του μέτρου της συζυγούς ταχύτητας είναι ικανοποιητικά.



(β') Κατανομή του μέτρου της συζυγούς ταχύτητας στο επίπεδο συμμετρίας.

Σχήμα 5.4: Κατανομές των συζυγών πεδίων στο επίπεδο συμμετρίας. Οι συζυγείς μεταβλητές είναι σχεδόν μηδενικές στο εσωτερικό της καμπίνας, αλλά στην περιοχή του αγωγού και του ανεμοθώρακα λαμβάνουν υψηλότερες τιμές, καθώς αυτές οι περιοχές έχουν μεγαλύτερη επιρροή στη ροή στον όγκο στόχου.



Σχήμα 5.5: Ορισμός της περιοχής που παραμετροποιείται και μορφοποιείται. Με κόκκινο σημειώνονται τα ενεργά σημεία ελέγχου ενώ με μπλέ τα ακινητοποιημένα. Τα ακινητοποιημένα σημεία ελέγχου στα όρια του κουτιού φροντίζουν για την αποφυγή επικάλυψης του παραμετροποιημένου με το μη-παραμετροποιημένο πλέγμα.



(ε') Αρχικό μοτίβο.

(τ') Τελικό μοτίβο.

Σχήμα 5.6: Στην πρώτη σειρά, οι κόμβοι του πλέγματος ελέγχου είναι χρωματισμένη με βάση την υ παραμετρική συντεταγμένη ενώ στη δεύτερη με βάση την u. Το τελικό σχήμα είναι πολύ λείο λόγω της μετατόπισης των σημείων ελέγχου κατά των μέσο όρο της υπολογισθείσας ανά ισο-επιφάνεια. Το πεδίο που φαίνεται πάνω στον όγκο στόχου, το  $v - v_{tar}$  υποδηλώνει με πράσινο χρώμα τις περιοχές που ο αέρας έχει ταχύτητα ίση με τον στόχο, με μπλέ τις περιοχές που έχει μικρότερη, και με κόκκινο τις περιοχές που έχει μεγαλύτερη ταχύτητα. Συνεπώς, βλέποντας την τελευταία σειρά, η σύγκριση μεταξύ των δύο μοτίβων δείχνει ότι ο στόχος της κάλυψης του άνω τμήματος του παρμπρίζ με αέρα υψηλότερης ταχύτητας έχει εκπληρωθεί για το μεγαλύτερο τμήμα του.

# Κεφάλαιο 6

# Ανακεφαλαίωση-Συμπεράσματα

Στην παρούσα διπλωματική εργασία εφαρμόστηκε βελτιστοποίηση μορφής με χρήση της συνεχούς συζυγούς μεθόδου, που έχει αναπτυχθεί από τη ΜΠΥΡ&B του ΕΜΠ, στον αγωγό αποπαγοποίησης της μονάδας κλιματισμού, ενός επιβατικού οχήματος Toyota. Το γεγονός ότι η γεωμετρία του αγωγού αυτού διαδραματίζει σημαντικό ρόλο στην απόδοση αποπαγοποίησης και αποθάμβωσης του ανεμοθώρακα, οδήγησε στη διερεύνηση της προοπτικής βελτιστοποίησής του, ώστε να επιτευχθεί βελτίωση αυτής της ζωτικής λειτουργίας για το όχημα.

Αρχικά, οι απαιτήσεις απόδοσης του συστήματος κλιματισμού όσον αφορά στη διάλυση του συμπυκνώματος και του πάγου στον ανεμοθώρακα, μέσα σε λογικό χρονικό πλαίσιο και με ομοιόμορφο τρόπο σε όλη του την επιφάνεια, εκφράστηκαν κατάλληλα υπό τη μορφή αντικειμενικής συνάρτησης προς ελαχιστοποίηση. Αυτή η αντικειμενική συνάρτηση είναι το ολοκλήρωμα της διαφοράς της ταχύτητας του αέρα από μία ταχύτητα στόχο, σε έναν λεπτό όγκο κοντά στον ανεμοθώρακα, στην εσωτερική μεριά της καμπίνας. Έπειτα, παρουσιάστηκε μαθηματικά η συνεχής συζυγής μέθοδος για ασυμπίεστη μόνιμη ροή και το εργαλείο παραμετροποίησης και μορφοποίησης (που αναπτύχθηκε από τη ΜΠΥΡ&B/ΕΜΠ) που βασίζεται στις ογκικές B-Splines.

Ο κύριος στόχος αυτής της διπλωματικής εργασίας, η βελτιστοποίηση μορφής του αγωγού αποπαγοποίησης, απαιτεί την προσομοίωση της ροής του αέρα που διαρρέει τον αγωγό προς την καμπίνα του αυτοκινήτου και εξέρχεται από το πίσω του μέρος. Για αυτόν τον λόγο, δημιουργήθηκε το υπολογιστικό μοντέλο που παρουσιάστηκε, με 8.4 εκατομμύρια κελιά. Η ανάλυση της ροής μέσω CFD έδωσε τα πεδία της ροής που απαιτούνται για την επίλυση του συζυγούς προβλήματος, αλλά και ακριβή εικόνα της τρέχουσας κατανομής ταχύτητας κοντά στον ανεμοθώρακα. Αυτή η κατανομή ταχύτητας συγκρίθηκε με την αντίστοιχη πειραματική, που αποκτήθηκε από μέτρηση με ανεμόμετρο hot-wire σε σημεία πλέγματος με απόσταση 10cm, στα 7mm από τον ανεμοθώρακα. Τα αποτελέσματα αυτά έδειξαν καλή συμφωνία μεταξύ πειράματος και προσομοίωσης, προσδίδοντας αξιοπιστία στην υπολογισθείσα ροή.

Τέλος, επιλύθηκαν οι συζυγείς εξισώσεις και εκτελέσθηκαν αυτοματοποιημένες

διαδικασίες βελτιστοποίησης για να παραχθούν νέες υποψήφιες γεωμετρίες του αγωγού αποπαγοποίησης. Ο επιλύτης της συζυγούς ροής έδωσε τον χάρτη ευαισθησίας που υποδεικνύει το πως πρέπει να παραμορφωθούν οι περιοχές του αγωγού (για να ελαχιστοποιηθεί η αντικειμενική συνάρτηση). Έπειτα, εκτελέσθηκαν μερικά τρεξίματα αυτοματοποιημένης βελτιστοποιήσης από τα οποία επιλέχθηκε η νέα υποψήφια γεωμετρία που προσφέρει βελτίωση στην απόδοση αποπαγοποίησης του ανεμοθώρακα, αλλά ταυτόχρονα είναι κατασκευάσιμη και χωρά να τοποθετηθεί στο αυτοκίνητο, στη θέση του αρχικού αγωγού.

Πρωτότυπο της νέας αυτής γεωμετρίας του αγωγού κατασκευάσθηκε με χρήση 3D εκτυπωτή και υποβλήθηκε σε πειραματικές δοκιμές που πιστοποίησαν την βελτίωση της απόδοσης αποπαγοποίησης που προέκυψε. Στο πλήρες κείμενο της διπλωματικής εργασίας, ο αναγνώστης μπορεί να βρει λεπτομέρειες της πειραματικής αυτής πιστοποίησης.
## Βιβλιογραφία

- M. B. Giles, N. A. Pierce, An Introduction to the Adjoint Approach to Design., 1999.
- [2] T. Kohnotou, Y. Iwamoto, K. Hoshiawa, M. Nagataki, Optimum Design of Defroster Nozzle., SAE Technical Paper, 1992.
- [3] C. Othmer, CFD Topology and Shape Optimization with Adjoint Methods., 2006.
- [4] A. F. Skea, R. D. Harrison, A. J. Baxendale, D. Fletcher, Comparison of CFD Simulation Methods and Thermal Imaging with Windscreen Defrost Pattern. Fluids Group, MIRA, SAE Technical Paper, 2001-01-1720, 2001.
- [5] K. J. Nasr, B. S. AbdulNour, G. C. Wiklund, State of Knowledge and Current Challenges in Defrosting Automotive Windshields. SAE Technical Paper, 980293, 1998.
- [6] E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, Adjoint Methods for Turbulent Flows, Applied to Shape or Topology Optimization and Robust Design. PhD Thesis, NTUA, 2013.
- [7] J. A. Samareh, Aerodynamic Shape Optimization Based on Free-Form Deformation. Multidisciplinary Optimization Branch, NASA Langley Research Center, Hampton, VA, 2004.
- [8] B. S. AbdulNour, Hot-Wire Velocity Measurements of Defroster and Windshield Flow. Ford Motor Company, SAE Technical Paper, 970109, 1997.
- B. S. AbdulNour, CFD Prediction of Automotive Windshield Defrost Pattern. Ford Motor Company, SAE Technical Paper, 1999-01-1203, 1999.
- [10] W. Yang, W. Shi, F. Guo, W. Yang, Flow Field Simulation and Performance Analysis of HVAC Defrosting Duct. 2nd International Conference on Electronic & Mechanical Engineering and Information Technology (EMEIT-2012), China, 2012.
- [11] J. Park and C. Kim, Parametric Study on Automotive Windshield Defrost Pattern using CFD. Hyundai MOBIS, SAE Technical Paper, 2003-01-1078, 2003.

- [12] M. Samuelčík Bézier and B-spline volumes Project of Dissertation. Comenius University, Bratislava, 2005.
- [13] K.C. Giannakoglou, D.I. Papadimitriou, E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, C. Othmer, Adjoint methods in CFD-based optimization - Gradient computation & beyond. ECCOMAS 2012–European Congress on Computational Methods in Applied Sciences and Engineering, pp. 8523-8539, 2012.
- [14] E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, K.C. Giannakoglou, C. Othmer, Adjoint wall functions: Validation and application to vehicle aerodynamics Authors of Document.. 11th World Congress on Computational Mechanics, WCCM 2014, 5th European Conference on Computational Mechanics, ECCM 2014 and 6th European Conference on Computational Fluid Dynamics, ECFD 2014, pp. 7593-7604, 2014.
- [15] Giannakoglou, K.C., Papadimitriou, D.I., Papoutsis-Kiachagias, E.M., Kavvadias, I.S., Adjoint methods for shape optimization and robust design in fluid mechanics. OPT-i 2014–1st International Conference on Engineering and Applied Sciences Optimization, Proceedings, pp. 2252-2265, 2014.
- [16] E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, K.C. Giannakoglou, Continuous Adjoint Methods for Turbulent Flows, Applied to Shape and Topology Optimization: Industrial Applications. Archives of Computational Methods in Engineering, 2014.
- [17] E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, A.S. Zymaris, I.S. Kavvadias, D.I. Papadimitriou, , K.C. Giannakoglou The continuous adjoint approach to the k-ε Turbulence model for shape optimization and optimal active control of turbulent flows. Engineering Optimization, 47 (3), pp. 370-389, 2015.
- [18] I.S. Kavvadias, E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, G. Dimitrakopoulos, K.C. Giannakoglou, The continuous adjoint approach to the k-ω SST turbulence model with applications in shape optimization. Engineering Optimization, 47 (11), pp. 1523-1542, 2015.
- [19] E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, N. Magoulas, J. Mueller, C. Othmer, K.C. Giannakoglou, Noise reduction in car aerodynamics using a surrogate objective function and the continuous adjoint method with wall functions. Computers and Fluids, 122, pp. 223-232, 2015.
- [20] E.M. Papoutsis-Kiachagias, K.C. Giannakoglou, A parameterization and mesh movement strategy based on volumetric B=-splines. Applications to shape optimization. NTUA/PCOpt/2015/01 REPORT, Athens, Greece, 2015.
- [21] J. R. Bull, Turbulence Models with Adaptive Meshing for Industrial CFD. PhD Thesis, Imperial College London, 2013.

- [22] L. Piegl, W. Tiller, The NURBS book. Springer, 1997.
- [23] B.E. Launder, D.B. Spalding, The numerical computation of turbulent flows. Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering 3 (2): 269-289, 1974.
- [24] S.G. Nash, J. Nocedal, A Numerical Study of the Limited Memory BFGS Method and the truncated-Newton Method for Large Scale Optimization. SIAM Journal on Optimization, 1(3):358–372, 1991.
- [25] J. H. Ferziger, M. Peric, Computational Methods for Fluid Dynamics. 3rd Edition. Springer, 2001.
- [26] Giles, MB., MC. Duta, JD. Muller, and NA. Pierce, Algorithm developments for discrete adjoint methods. AIAA Journal, 41(2), 2003.
- [27] I. Goldasteh, S. Chang, S. Maaita, G. Mathur, Numerical Simulation of Airflow Distribution on the Automobile Windshield in Defrost Mode. SAE Technical Paper 2015-01-0330, doi:10.4271/2015-01-0330, 2015.
- [28] H. K. Versteeg, W. Malalasekera, An introduction to computational fluid dynamics. The finite volume method. 1995.
- [29] J. Nocedal, S. J. Wright, Numerical Optimization., Springer, 1999.
- [30] N. Marco, S. Lanteri, A two-level parallelization strategy for Genetic Algorithms applied to optimum shape design. Parallel Computing 26 377-397, 2000.
- [31] K.C. Giannakoglou, Design of optimal aerodynamic shapes using stochastic optimization methods and computational intelligence. Progress in Aerospace Sciences 38 43–76, 2002.
- [32] K.C. Giannakoglou, D.I. Papadimitriou, I.C. Kampolis, Aerodynamic shape design using evolutionary algorithms and new gradient-assisted metamodels. Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg. 195 6312–6329, 2006.
- [33] B. Mohammadi, O. Pironneau, Applied Shape Optimization for Fluids., Oxford University Press, 2001.
- [34] O. Pironneau, Optimal Shape Design for Elliptic Systems., Springer-Verlag, New York, 1984.
- [35] A. Jameson, Aerodynamic design via control theory., J. Scientific Computing 3 233–260, 1988.
- [36] G. Burgreen, O. Baysal, Three-dimensional aerodynamic shape optimization using discrete sensitivity analysis., AIAA J. 34 (9) 1761–1770, 1996.

- [37] J. Elliot, J. Peraire, Aerodynamic design using unstructured meshes., AIAA Paper 19 (41), 1996.
- [38] M. Giles, N. Pierce, Adjoint equations in CFD: duality, boundary conditions and solution behaviour., AIAA Paper 18 (50), 1997.
- [39] W. Anderson, V. Venkatakrishnan, Aerodynamic design optimization on unstructured grids with a continuous adjoint formulation., AIAA Paper 06 (43), 1997.
- [40] S.Patankar, D.Spalding, Calculation procedure for heat, mass and momentum transfer in three-dimensional parabolic flows., Int.J.Heat Mass Transfer 15 1787–1806, 1972.